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Should Canada arise and ask herself

Who gave her unity, peace, wealth, and strength,
What fearless warrior or statesmen wise
Moulded her destiny, with pious hand,

For noble purpose and for lofty aim?
Methinks I find her answer here

On this broad brow and on these features firm
That fourscore and ten years have left unscathed,
Fit temple of a mind to honour given.



Preface

THAT this book, written amidst the distractions
of war, in the shadow of the armoury, to the sound
of marching men, as my country drills and sends
forth her sons to the greatest conflict in history,
should relate the long life of one whose concern
was wholly and markedly with peace, may seem an
irony of circumstance. But in truth its appearance
is far from inopportune. Had his particular genius
and his efforts tended otherwise, Canada had not
been opulent and strong and heartened for the fray
which is to decide the fate of the British Empire.
To him, more than to any single other, is due her
material prosperity and much of her political tem-
per. The way was prepared and he died on the very
eve of the ordeal.

My narrative will, I trust, dispel a little of that
web of mystery which has so long enveloped Lord
Strathcona’s personal antecedents and many of
his most notable actions. For something of this
mystery he himself, it must be admitted, was,
whether involuntarily or by design, responsible.
Years ago Lord Aberdeen remarked that ‘“he has
always shown a reticence regarding his personal
experiences and a dislike to recording his own per-
formances.” His was not a nature to shun the
light when it was honest daylight: but when the
vulgar bull’s-eye of publicity sought out his private
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Preface

life, he withdrew into deeper obscurity. Self-revela-
tion was not one of his talents: he did not wear his
heart upon his sleeve. If he permitted legends to
accumulate which a timely disavowal would have
shattered, it may be that their currency appealed
to his sense of humour.

In undertaking the present task, it fell to me,
at an early stage, to examine certain historical
episodes, in which Lord Strathcona took a part,
a little more closely than I had done previously.
Many letters and documents in the material be-
fore me set familiar events in a different aspect.
The result was to bring about a considerable re-
vision of judgment. Now that all the principals
in the Red River insurrection of 1869 have
passed away, it is possible to relate the story a
little more ingenuously than have my predeces-
sors. Sir John Macdonald, Joseph Howe, William
McDougall, William Mactavish, and Louis Riel
have passed into history. I trust there are no lin-
gering susceptibilities to wound or prejudices to
exasperate. In other directions, I have taken, as
will be seen, full advantage of the privilege con-
ferred by time.

There used to be much heated discussion as to
the “complicity” of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s
officers in the outbreak led by Riel, at the time
of the transfer to Canada of Rupert’s Land. As my
narrative shows, if the part of the officers was pas-
sive, it was in consequence of the very unjust be-
haviour toward them by the London Board. They
were asked to extinguish a conflagration in a house
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Preface

from which they had been ejected, and the proposal
did not fill them with enthusiasm. Lord Strathcona
came eventually to be fully aware of all the facts,
but circumstances made it, in his opinion, impolitic
for him to speak.

I feel, too, that the time has come for me to speak
quite plainly about the Hudson’s Bay Company’s
relations with the ‘“wintering partners.” Here
again is a matter which Lord Strathcona’s loyalty
to tradition made him disinclined to discuss or even
to contemplate, although he was under no delusion
as to facts or tendencies. The copious testimony
I present hardly exhibits in a favourable light the
conduct of the London Board and shareholders
toward the vested interests of the ‘‘ wintering part-
ners’’ who had coalesced with them as equals in
1821, but who, as the narrative makes clear, were
slowly and craftily deprived of their heritage. As
Donald A. Smith used to remind his fellow-officers,
the North-West Company, which was one of the
two parties to the famous coalition, and of which
all the great fur-trading pioneers were members,
was Canadian in origin, its personnel being chiefly
Scottish and French-Canadian.

That one who has been described as a panegyrist
of the Hudson’s Bay Company should now attack
it, may appear invidious. But apart from what
I conceive to be my simple duty, a distinction must
be drawn. The Company founded in 1667 and
amalgamated with the North-West Company in
1821 ceased in the strict historical sense to exist
when it surrendered its charter in 1870. The con-
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Preface

tinuity was already interrupted when it was sold
to the International Financial Society in 1863. This
latter transaction was carried out by a Governor
and Committee without the privity of the “ winter-
ing partners,” who unanimously expressed their
disapproval when it was too late. The Governor
and Committee had disappeared; Sir George Simp-
son was dead; his successor, A. G. Dallas, refusing
to incur any further odium, resigned; the officers
were widely sundered, and their only spokesman
at this critical juncture, William Mactavish, was
stricken by a mortal illness. Such were the cir-
cumstances when Donald Smith emerged from
obscurity, when the revamped London Corporation
hastened to sell to Canada its territorial rights
over lands not wholly its own. It is a melancholy
tale, this triumph of the London shareholders over
the ‘wintering partners’’: more than once there-
after did Lord Strathcona intervene to temper
their rapacity, and when he eventually secured
a controlling interest in the concern, he saw that
any scheme of reconsideration and restitution must
be personal with himself — a quixotic project, in-
deed, and involving besides an aspersion upon the
memory of his former superiors; he contented him-
self at last with giving each of the old surviving
factors a pension in his will.

The sources of my information are far too nu-
merous for me here to specify in full; but it were
ungrateful not to return public acknowledgment
to some who have given me generous and most
valuable assistance. His daughter, Baroness Strath-

X



Preface

cona and Mount Royal, has from the first taken a
deep interest in the work, as have the co-execu-
tors, Mr. John W. Sterling and Mr. James Garson,
W.S. I acknowledge also the courteous help of his
two nieces, Mrs. Grant, of Forres, and Miss Mar-
garet Smith, of Edinburgh; his cousins, Mrs. Cant-
lie, of Montreal, and Mrs. Lewis, of Belfast; his
stepson, Mr. James Hardisty Smith, and Mrs. Ross
Robertson, of Montreal.

For the chapters relating to Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany affairs, I am specially indebted to Messrs.
Roderick MacFarlane, Colin Rankin, W. D. B.
Ross, and to Mr. William Armit, formerly Secre-
tary of the Company. For copies of the official cor-
respondence in Lime Street, I am beholden to my
friend, Sir Thomas Skinner, the present Governor
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who, I hasten to
add, is in no sense a party to the misdeeds of the
original body corporate. Dr. Arthur Doughty,
C.M.G., the Dominion Archivist, has also helped
me ungrudgingly, as have many other public ofh-
cials at Ottawa. My particular thanks are due to
Sir Wilfrid Laurier for entrusting to me unreservedly
the whole of his copious private and official corre-
spondence with the late High Commissioner; to his
predecessor, Sir Charles Tupper, Bart., and to Sir
Robert Borden, who treated me with a like generos-
ity. Of published sources I must mention here but
two, Sir Joseph Pope’s very able but still incom-
plete Memoirs of Sir John A. Macdonald and
Messrs. Shortt and Doughty’s valuable compila-
tion, Canada and its Provinces.
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To the last I leave the name of my chief in-
spirer and counsellor, Sir William Cornelius Van
Horne, K.C.M.G., whose zeal for the memory of
his friend, and partiality to myself, combined,
with rare knowledge, to smooth many of the rough, .
and illumine several of the obscure, stages in the
journey.

CLiFroN GROVE,

WINDSOR, NOVA SCOTIA,
August 0, 1915.
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The Life of

Lord Strathcona and
Mount Royal

CHAPTER 1
BIRTH AND PARENTAGE
1820-1838

Ir ancient Morayshire is one of the most inter-
esting districts of the Scottish Highlands, the little
town of Forres is the most interesting spot in the
shire. The neighbouring heaths, all wild and barren
as they are, boast an abiding renown in the pages of
Shakespeare. Here are laid some of the principal
scenes in the tragedy of Macbeth; on one sterile and
desolate tract known as the ‘‘ Hard Muir’’ — still
a ‘‘blasted heath,” as described in the play — Mac-
beth had his first meeting with the ‘' weird sisters,”’
who with their salutation, * All hail, Macbeth, that
shalt be King hereafter!” stirred in his soul the
fearful ambition that led him to wade through
slaughter to a throne: —

“How far is’t call'd to Forres? What are these
So wither'd, and so wild in their attire,
That look not like the inhabitants o’ the earth
And yet are on’t?"”’

In the town the visitor is still shown the site of
the royal palace where Macbeth, at his Coronation,
1



Lord Strathcona

drank to the health of the absent Banquo, and saw
seated in a chair, invisible to the rest of the as-
sembly, the ghost of the comrade he had caused to
be slain.

It is as the county of Elgin that Morayshire now
figures on the map. It is bounded on the north by
Moray Firth and on the south by the picturesque
mountain scenery of Inverness. Through the
county flow three streams, — the Spey, the Lossie,
and the Findhorn, — all prolific in salmon, and all
distinguished by the romantic charm of their val-
leys; while, in the beautiful little lochs dotted over
the pleasant region and forming the source of sev-
eral streams, tributary to the main rivers, the
angler for trout finds an abundant reward.

Forres is very proud of being a royal burgh, but
when it became so history does not record, all the
old charters having vanished; but according to an
oft-quoted verse of one of the local minstrels —

“Forres, in the days of yore,
A name 'mang Scotia’s cities bore,
And there her judges o’er and o'er
Did Scotland’s laws dispense;
And there the monarchs of the land
In former days held high command,
And ancient architects had planned,

By rule of art in order grand
‘The royal residence.”

At the time of Lord Strathcona’s birth, Forres!

1 The word “Forres” is derived from two Gaelic vocables — far
%4s : near water; a name singularly appropriate to its position. The
little village of Findhorn was the port of Forres, as Leith is the port
of Edinburgh. The importance of both the one and the other is now
unhappily a thing of the past.

2



His Affection for Forres

contained about 3500 souls; but it had anciently
been far more populous, and of greater consequence
than the county town of Elgin.!

My affection [once said the town’s most distinguished
son, nearly three quarters of a century after he had
quitted it] has always gone forth to this town of
Forres and its beautiful surroundings. Is there an-
other town or city which has anything more inter-
esting or more beautiful? Let us take the Cluny Hill;
let us take the banks of the Findhorn, the Sluie, and
Randolph’s Leap; or that interesting memorial to the
great naval hero, Nelson; the * blasted heath,’”’ or the
Culbin sands. While recalling Forres it has often

1 The turnpike road from Aberdeen to Inverness passes through
Forres, and the district roads and bridges are good. The town is
situated on a dry and beautifully terraced bank, sloping gently to-
wards the south and north, having one main street, lit with gas, with
numerous lines of houses diverging from its sides, which are sepa-
rated from one another by old and productive gardens. There is
a new jail and court-house, decorated cross, handsome assembly
rooms, and two excellent inns. The Forres Gasette is published fort-
nightly. None of the buildings in the town require particular no-
tice; but the traveller will not fail to perceive strong indications of
the Flemish origin of the people in their fair features, broad dialect,
and in the old-fashioned style of having their houses generally
erected with their gables toward the street, and in the low Saxon
archways conducting to their inner courts and small dark shops.
Branches of the British Linen, National and Caledonian Banks.
Markets twice a week, and several annual fairs. Six schools, four of
which are associated in an Academy. The teachers of three of these
being the parochial schoolmasters, receive salaries from the funds of
the burgh; the fourth, a charity school, for educating poor children
of the parishes of Forres, Rafford, and Kinloss, is endowed by funds
left by the late Jonathan Anderson, of Glasgow. The other two
schools are supported by the fees and contributions of the scholars.
There are two boarding-schools for young ladies, having four teachers,
neither of which is endowed; and there are two other females who
teach a few children, and receive small salaries from the burgh funds,
besides fees. (Dawson, Statsstical History of Scotland, 1843.)
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Lord Strathcona

struck me that certainly there is a resemblance be-
tween this and another town with which I have been
intimately connected. Here you have as the back-
ground, Cluny Hill, and in the face of you Findhorn
and the placid Mosset; and in that town of which I
speak — in Montreal — you also have the background
of a beautiful mountain, and before it the broad,
flowing St. Lawrence.!

Curious certainly is the comparison: it loses no-
thing in its suggestiveness when we are further
reminded that the patron saint of Forres was none
other than St. Lawrence!

Other interesting antiquities which he often re-
called, as being familiar with in childhood, are the
Forres Pillar and the Witches’ Stone. The formeris
about half a mile from Forres. It is a remark-
able obelisk, an enormous slab of free stone, about
twenty feet high, the figures being wonderfully dis-
tinct, and is supposed to have been erected in
memory of a victory over the Danes. The figures
represent warriors, together with very beautiful
Runic knots and circles, cut in alto relievo. Since
the days of Pennant, it has given rise to many
puzzling questions among archzologists. The
““Witches’ Stone” is that on which those unfortu-
nate beings were wont to suffer torture and death.

Yet [according to the historian of Moray] not-
withstanding all these marks of distinctiveness, Forres
neither has, nor has ever had, any history. There are,

1 Lord Strathcona; speech on receiving the Freedom of the Town
of Forres, 1910.
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Alexander Smith

indeed, a few noteworthy incidents connected with
it, but they had never any real vivifying influence on
the affairs of the district, and their chief importance
lies in their own picturesqueness, or in the indirect
light they throw upon the inclination of local senti-
ment and opinion.?

In the second decade of the last century there
had come to dwell in Forres a couple from the
neighboring district of Strathspey. The husband,
Alexander Smith, of Archiestown, was a man not
without parts but offering in his character a strong
contrast to both his sons; local tradition speaks of
him as volatile, fond of song and a convivial glass,
a cheerful companion, but somewhat lacking in
those stable qualities which were needed to make
his way in the world. His forbears, the Gows or
Smiths, were long settled in the parish of Knock-
ando and there is frequent mention of them in the
old Morayshire records. One George Smith — be-
lieved to have been Alexander’s grandfather — was
out in ’45, and was famous for his strength and
courage. He afterwards served with Clive in India.
Alexander's mother was a Grant, a fact of great
significance and importance in the career of his
descendants.

It was in 1810, and when in his twenty-ninth
year that Alexander Smith, after several tentative
efforts at soldiering and farming, set up as a mer-
chant in Grantown, and soon afterwards met and
won Barbara, the daughter of Donald Stuart, of the
Manor of Leth-na-Coyle (Lainchoil), in the neigh-

! C. Rampini, LL.B., Moray and Nasrn. '
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Lord Strathcona

boring parish of Abernethy.! The young lady’s
mother was also a Grant — Janet, the daughter of
Robert Grant, of Cromdale.

All this wild district of Strathspey had been peo-
pled exclusively by the Grant clan for so long a
period that few landowners held possession there
who did not bear the name of Grant. When, about
the middle of the eighteenth century, Baron Grant
of Elchies proposed to sell his estates in Strathspey,
Sir Ludovick Grant was anxious to secure them,
either for himself or for one of the clan. In a letter,
still extant, to his law agent, he wrote that he
wished to preserve ‘‘all the lands between the two
Craigellachies in the name of Grant.” Conspicuous
throughout Strathspey are these two rocky emi-
nences. The upper or western Craigellachie forms
the dividing boundary between Badenoch and
Strathspey and was the rendezvous of the Clan
Grant in time of war. The lower height stands at
the confluence of the Fiddich with the Spey, and
forms the point of contact of the parishes of Aber-
lour, Knockando, Bothes, and Boharm. The upper
Craigellachie is commonly believed to have fur-
nished the crest of the Grant family, which is a

1 Donald Stuart, of Lainchoil, had four sons, John, Peter, Robert,
and William. Peter joined the army, retired with the rank of
lieutenant and became Fort Major of Belfast. He had a large family.
William went to London and in course of time entered, writes his
grand-niece, Mrs. Lewis, “a very select and small woollen business
in the West Country. The firm was called Bevan and Stuart. He
had no sons, but two daughters, who were lost sight of in the course
of time. Of the several daughters of Donald Stuart, the youngest
was Margaret, who, when about twenty or twenty-two, left on a
voyage to some distant connections in the Orkneys. The ship was
lost and all on board were drowned.”
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Barbara Stuart

mountain in flames. When the chief wished the
clan to assemble, fires were kindled on both Craigel-
lachies, hence the name, ‘Rock of Alarm.” The
war-cry of the clan was, ‘' Stand fast, Craigellachie,”
and this was the legend on their armorial motto.
We shall have occasion hereafter to note a pleasant
dramatic touch, worthy of one of the old minstrels,
in the recurrence of this Grant slogan in the epic
of one of their descendants.

The Stuarts (or Stewarts) also were considerable
folk in the countryside; so that this match might
be considered a most advantageous one for Alexan-
der Smith. Two of Barbara Stuart’s brothers had
gone in the service of one of the great fur-trading
companies then striving for ascendancy in North
America. Another brother was in the army, and two
cousins were in the East Indies. The case of the
Stuarts, for fifty years or more, was typical of
the emigration which had been going on in Strath-

spey.

Our parish [writes the Reverend Dr. Forsyth, min-
ister of Abernethy] has continued to give some of its
best blood toother lands. Wehave sent bankers to Eng-
land, farmers to Ireland, and parsons to every county
in the Highlands. We have sent settlers to Canada and
the United States, shepherds to Fiji, stock-keepers to
New Zealand, gold-diggers to Australia, diamond mer-
chants to Africa, doctors to the army and navy, and
soldiers to fight our cause in all parts of the world.

What is thus said of Strathspey was true of the
whole shire.

7



Lord Strathcona

Men from Moray [testified Lord Strathcona early
in the next century] were to be found in all parts of
the world. In Canada there were many of them doing
their part nobly in extending, in building up, and in
consolidating that great Empire of which they were
all so proud — and he believed if there was one thing
more than another that had helped the people of Scot-
land, in days gone by, it was that they had had a better
system of education than existed in any other part of
the world.?

But Alexander, for one, had no intention of leav-
ing his native land. The betrothal between him-
self and Barbara Stuart proved to be a long one;
they were not married until 1813.

After the birth of a daughter, Margaret, and a son
christened John Stuart, after a famous uncle, of
whom I shall shortly have occasion to speak, the
Smiths removed to the town of Forres. Here, on the
6th of August, 1820, another son, the subject of this
memoir and destined to become the future financial
statesman and philanthropist, first saw the light.
Upon this second son were bestowed the maternal
and paternal family names of Donald Alexander.?
The house, demolished a few years ago to make
room for local improvements, closely adjoined the
two-arched bridge spanning the swiftly flowing
stream or burn of the Mosset, which, mingling with

1 Speech at eighty-first anniversary of the Edinburgh Moray-
shire Club, January 20, 1905.

3 He never forgot the significance of his baptismal names. *If,”
he wrote to Miss Mactavish, after receiving his knighthood in 1886,

“Donald is ‘a proud chieftain,’ I shall not lose sight of Alexander
who is, you know, ‘a helper of men.'"”

8



His Birthplace

the broader waters of the Findhorn, empties into
the estuary of Moray Firth. It was a simple but
solid structure, tenanted latterly by lowly folk,

but considered a century since as suitable for the
home of a middle-class family.!

The cottage [said a local writer at Lord Strathcona’s
death] from the architectural point of view was un-
pretentious, but by virtue of the great career of the
man it had cradled, it found a warm place in the affec-
tions of Forresians, and four or five years ago, when
a fairly extensive scheme of town-planning was being
carried out in the vicinity, it was decided to let the old
housestand. Forsome time itdid. Other old cottages,
and more modern buildings, not to mention a bridge
close on a hundred years of age, fell before the demol-
ishing contractors, and when the new buildings went
up, Strathcona’s ‘‘theeckit’ cottage remained in the
centre of a modernized corner of the town. But it also
had ultimately to go; commercial necessity in the
shape of a widened street overruled sentiment, and
Forres lost a familiar landmark.

Two at least of Mrs. Smith’s relatives were al-
ready at Forres; James Stuart, who was studying
law in the office of Mr. Webster, the town clerk,?

1 “People,” Lord Strathcona said in his old age, “speak of that
stone cottage on the Moeset as if it were a very lowly dwelling, in-
deed; but compared to any house I dwelt in until I came to Montreal
in my forty-eighth year it was almost a palace. It was of stone, and
substantially built, with very thick walls.”’

3 “My grandfather Stuart had been apprenticed as a lawyer in
Forres, and his fellow apprentice, Webster, sat as member for the
town of Aberdeen in the same Parliament as that in which I first sat.
1 have heard my grandfather relate that he learned to write in the
soft peat ashes in his father’s house. His father lived in the neigh-
borhood of Forres at Broom Hill. My grandfather rode from Forres

9



Lord Strathcona

and Mr. Cumming, of Logie, who dwelt in a pic-
turesquely situated place near Forres, on the banks
of the Findhorn. The surrounding scenery is very
attractive, and even in Donald Smith’s childhood
there were said to be more country gentlemen’s
seats in the immediate neighbourhood than in any
other part of the country.

Barbara Stuart — for, according to the Scottish
practice, there were many who spoke of her thus,
long after her marriage —was a comely woman, of
strong, quiet character, and simple piety. In his
old age, her son often reverted to the lessons she
had taught him — lessons of gentleness and pa-
tience and conduct.

Her voice was low, and she disliked loud noises. She
was not nervous, but if a door slammed or a heavy ob-
ject fell, she closed her eyes with a smile as of sup-
pressed pain. She set great store by courtesy and good
manners and our bonnets were always off in her pres-
ence. She insisted on a scrupulous cleanliness in house,
person and apparel, and herself set an example of per-
fect neatness in dress.?

Mrs. Smith was a constant reader of the Bible,
and of the Scottish divines, and it was at her knee

to Edinburgh on a Highland pony, and sold it when he got to Edin-
burgh and began housekeeping on the proceeds. He was articled to
a Mr. Gordon, who soon after had a paralytic stroke, after which
Mrs. Gordon and my grandfather carried on his business. Many
years later, when I was an undergraduate at Cambridge, I visited
her at Shelford, when she spoke of my grandfather as ‘Little Sandy
Stuart.' My grandfather remembered when all the judges and bar-
risters rode on horseback to the Circuit Court of Inveraray.” (James
Stuart, M.P., Reminiscences.) -~
1 Donald A. Smith to Robert Hamilton, 1874.
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His Mother’s Influence

that Donald learned at a very early age many of
those metrical versions of the Psalms so dear to the
North, one of which he repeated ‘' without error,
pause, or confusion”’ on his death-bed nearly ninety
years later.

The memory of these paraphrases, learned in
childhood, was often with him. Once, in middle life,
while ill in Newfoundland, he told the friend who
nursed him ! that he had spent the whole of one
night recalling dozens of stanzas, and another night
in repeating passagesof Livy’s history, and found
that while more recent acquirements had faded
away, these he could recall with ease.

To one of his guests at Glencoe,? when the con-
versation turned on the question of public speak-
ing, Lord Strathcona remarked that on one occa-
sion, when unexpectedly called upon to respond to
the toast of himself, there came into his head the
following paraphrase, which he straightway re-
peated and which was received by the audience
when they had recovered from their surprise, with
marked appreciation:—

“O happy is the man who hears
Instruction’s warning voice,
And who celestial wisdom makes
His earthly only choice.

“For she has treasures greater far
Than east or west unfold,
And her rewards more precious are
Than all their stores of gold.

1 Captain Nathan Norman.
? The Honourable Thomas McKenzie, High Commissioner for
New Zealand.
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“‘In her right hand she holds to view
A length of happy days;
Riches, with splendid honors join'd
Are what her left displays.

‘She guides the young with innocence
In pleasure’s path to tread;
A crown of glory she bestows
Upon the hoary head.

‘ According as her labors rise,
So other rewards increase;
Her ways are ways of pleasantness
And all her paths are peace.”

Poverty is a relative term and the Smiths were
no poorer than many thousands of their intelligent
countrymen at that period who led regular, con-
tented and respectable lives on a fraction of what
English folk of the same class thought indispens-
able. Education for their sons at a private school
would probably have been beyond their means.
Happily, a resource had lately been established in
Forres. One Jonathan Anderson, a native of the
town, who, like many of his neighbours, had wan-
dered afar and acquired asmall fortune, bequeathed,
some years before Donald’s birth, the lands of
Cowlairs, now forming part of the city of Glasgow,
for the purpose of creating a school and paying
a teacher at Forres. His design was that the chil-
dren of necessitous parents in his native parish and
those of Rafford and Kinloss should be *instructed
in reading, writing, arithmetic, and such branches
of education as the Provost, Magistrates, and
Town Council should deem proper.” The Anderson
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Institution, a building in the Grecian style, was
erected in 1824, and both John and Donald were
amongst the earliest pupils. The latter’s youth-
ful traits at that time were those appropriate to
his later character. A fellow pupil describes him
as of a shy and proud dispesition, not without a
fund of sturdy resolution and even hardihood when
occasion demanded it. When Donald was nine
years old, the rivers Findhorn and Spey broke their
boundaries and flooded the country. Many of the
peasant folk with their families came into Forres to
seek relief, and among them the parents of one of
Donald’s childish playmates, who was drowned.
After school Donald called on the bereaved family,
and “‘ with a gravity far beyond his years, condoled
with them, and on leaving begged that they would
accept a slight token in memory of his friend. He
handed them over all of his pocket-money, amount-
ing to a shilling and some odd coppers.” Thus was
the child father to the man.

The Master of this institution of learning pro-
fessed to be a great Shakespearean scholar, and
was especially fond of quoting from Macbeth.! His

1 “He was very severe,”” Lord Strathcona once recalled, “on
Southern ignorance in pronouncing ‘ Dunsinane’ with the accent on
the lasteyllable, and always quoted the famous passage as *

** Till Bimam forest to Dunsinnan come.’ ”

In his Reminiscences, Mr. James Stuart relates the following anec-
dote, told by his grandfather and namesake, of Forres: —

“Mrs. Siddons was brought to play in Edinburgh, principally by
the intervention of a certain Lord of Session, called Lord Dunsinane.
She played Lady Macbeth. At the point where Macbeth refers to
the old prophecy, ‘Till Birnam forest come to Dunsinane,’ the words
were markedly altered, ‘Till Birnam forest to Dunsinane come’ —
with the accent on the second syllable, Shakespeare's pronunciation
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father had met Dr. Johnson on his Scottish itiner-
ary, and naturally cherished a large number of anec-
dotes of that illustrious man, which he bequeathed
to his descendants. As these were retailed to the
school on all possible occasions, the pupils might
have been forgiven for sometimes confusing the
itinerant lexicographer with the royal murderer, as
was actually done on one occasion by a boy named
Robertson.

The pupils of the school were allowed as a great
treat to ascend the Nelson Tower, and Robertson,
one of the biggest boys at Anderson’s, who did so
for the first time, was greatly struck by the view.

“Look!” he cried, ‘“‘yon is where auld Dr. John-
son poisoned puir Banquo.”

Such an exhibition of crass ignorance was re-
ceived by the group in silence, prompted by a whole-
some dread of Robertson's temper. But it was more
than Donald could stand; he laughed Robertson
to scorn, who became incensed, and threatened a
thrashing. Donald stood his ground manfully, as
he afterwards did in fur-trading camp and legis-
lature, the ignoramus found himself unsupported,
and the threatened chastisement did not take place.

Certain holidays were spent at Findhorn and
Abernethy, and upon these vacations Donald and
his brother looked back with pleasure. But it was
in the society of his elder sister, Margaret, that
Donald’s happiest moments were spent. She ap-

of the word being wrong. It was generally recognized that the change
was at the instigation of Mrs. Siddons. Lord Dunsinane was present
and the incident pleased the Scottish people very much, and brought
down the house in prolonged applause.”

14



His Sister Margaret

pears to have been a most attractive girl, with
rare qualities of both head and heart. In one of his
letters her uncle, John Stuart, with whom she is
said to have been a great favourite, asks if *‘ Mag-
gie's golden curls are as lustrous and her face as
bonny as ever.”

"To intelligence and considerable mental ac-
quirements she joined an ambition to excel in
study, an ambition probably foiled by the scant
opportunities then existing for female education as
compared with those open to her brothers. Nearly
half a century after her death, we find her elder
brother John suggesting that it was a thought of
their sister Margaret which had inspired Donald to
found a great college for women in his adopted city.! -

For many years Mrs. Smith had continued to
receive long and interesting letters from her only
surviving brother, the daring and successful fur-
trader, formerly of the North-West Fur Company
of Montreal.

In the cottage at Forres, we are told, hung a
water-colour drawing of Stuart Lake. This great
body of water, fifty miles long, and dotted with
islands, situated amidst the wild and majestic
mountain scenery of New Caledonia, had been
named, with the stream flowing out of and to-
gether with it, in John Stuart’s honour. Forin 1808
he had been the intrepid companion of Simon
Fraser in that series of explorations which revealed

1 To this suggestion he replied (September 19, 1889): “ You are
right in thinking that in the matter of this college, the memory of

our sister Margaret was present to my mind. You well remember
her gifts and her ambition to become a scholar.”
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to the world the long-hidden marvels of the vast
fertile country on the Pacific side of the continent,
which is to-day known as British Columbia.!

After the discovery of a noble stream, called by
them the Fraser, draining a country nearly as large
as Italy and containing some of the finest forests
in the world, the two friends followed its course
onward to the Pacific Ocean.?

The exploits of John Stuart (who is frequently
mentioned in Washington Irving's Astoria), his
travels, his opinions, and his friends, were natu-
rally a chief topic in the family circle. What wonder

1 “Entering this region of Titanic irregularities, where scarped
and hoary mountains, rising bald-headed into the clouds, play fan-
tastic tricks with worried rivers, and whose blue lakes, lapped by
pine-clad steeps flinging huge boulders from craggy fronts into the
valleys below, call to mind the lochs and bens of their boyhood,
naturally enough they call this far north-west mountain land New
Caledonia, and love to compare these heights with their own Scotch
Highlands, and so fancy themselves not so very far from home after
all.” (Bancroft, History of the North-West Coast.)

2 “In comparing these two persons I should call Stuart the nobler,
the more dignified man, but one whose broad, calm intellect had re-
ceived no more culture than Fraser's. Stuart’s courage and powers
of endurance were equal in every respect to those of his colleague,
and while in temper, tongue, ideas, and bodily motion he was less
hasty, within a given time he would accomplish as much or more
than Fraser, and do it better. Both were exceedingly eccentric, one
quietly so, the other in a more demonstrative way; but it happened
that the angularities of one so dovetailed with those of the other that
coBperation, harmony, and good-fellowship characterized all their
intercourse. Stuart was one of the senior partners of the North-West
Company, and for a time was in charge of the Athabasca Depart-
ment. As his territory on the west was boundless he deemed it his
duty to extend the limits of his operations. Twice he traversed the
continent, besides multitudes of minor excursions. In fact he was al-
most always on the move. On retiring from the service he settled at
Forres, Scotland, where he died in 1846.” (Anderson’s North-West
Coast, MS., quoted by Bancroft.)

16




John Stuart

if that sketch of the remote Stuart Lake, “‘ gemmed
with islands and girt with mountain masses and
primeval forests,” told of an enchanted region to
his small nephew, Donald Smith? Since Stuart’s
participation in the Astoria events of 1813, he had
frequently changed his station and was now, since
the famous Coalition with the Hudson's Bay
Company in 1821, Chief Factor at Lesser Slave
Lake. In the Indian country he had married a
half-breed girl who had soon died, leaving him an
only son, whom he placed first at the Edinburgh
Academy and afterwards with a tutor in London.

Years before Mrs. Smith had mourned the loss of
another brother, Robert Stuart, also in the service
of the North-West Company, and also famous
for his courage and ability. His death was tragic.
Sailing one day down the Columbia River, his
canoe was upset, and he and his three companions
were flung into the water. A temporary refuge was
furnished by a rock, but Stuart was the only swim-
mer of the four, and he was, therefore, the only one
to whom they could turn for assistance.

He bade them be of good cheer — that, if God per-
mitted, he would save them. Then, taking one of them
on his back, he struck out for the shore. His enter-
prise was successful, so far as the first and second were
concerned; but his further efforts to save the third
man cost him his life. His strength had ebbed, and he
and the companion he bore sank in the mighty rush of
 waters and were never heard of again.!

In those days, when the rivalry between the
1 Letter of John Stuart to William MacGillivray.
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Hudson’s Bay Company and the North-West Com-
pany was at red heat, others of Donald’s relations
played important and stirring parts. There was one
famous fur-trader, Cuthbert Grant, and another,
Cuthbert Cumming, who were both cousins of his
mother.! It will be seen, therefore, that Rupert’s
Land and New Caledonia, though by oceans divided
and a world of seas, formed no terra incognita to
at least one household in Forres.

When Donald Smith was in his sixteenth year,
there came home on furlough the adventurous
uncle whose career as a famous pioneer in the Far -
West shone like a guiding star in the firmament of
young Donald’s most ardent desires. Being taken
into the family councils he promptly decided that
his nephew’s desire to leave school and earn his
own livelihood was a most reasonable one, and
ought to be encouraged. But he appeared by no
means enthusiastic about his entering the service of
the Hudson’s Bay Company. ‘‘A rough life,” he
explained, ‘‘and miserably slow of promotion and
uncertain of proper reward.” He thought Donald
had rather the makings of a lawyer in him. How-
ever, he advised waiting a year or so and if his
nephew was still of the same mind he would, on his
return, take him with him to London and introduce

1“If they had the good fortune to get off with their lives, it was
owing to the humane feelings of Mr. Cuthbert Grant, a native of the
soil, who, placing himself, at the risk of his own life, between the
North-West party and the settlers, kept the former at bay by his
daring and determined conduct, and saved the latter; for which
meritorious and timely interference the settlement owes him a debt
of gratitude which it can never repay.” (Ross, Fur-Hunters of the

Far West.)
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him to one or the other of the Directors. Mean-
while, after a brief sojourn in Forres, where the old
gentleman charmed every one by hisagreeable man-
ners, Stuart departed for London. His son Donald,
destined for the military profession, was then in the
handsofatutor. Leaving him,Stuartwenton an ex-
tensive continental tour of which we shall hear anon.

Following the counsels of his uncle, Donald Smith
left school, where he had distinguished himself
both in Latin and mathematics, and entered the
office of Mr. Robert Watson, the town clerk of
Forres. Thereafter the Burgh Registers of Sasines
and Town’s Chartularies (as they are called) con-
tained many pages of his handiwork, each entry, in
Latin or English, being followed by the statement,
“Written by Donald Smith.” He studied law,
too, to some purpose, as many passages in an old
notebook, drawn from Erskine’s Law of Scotland,
attest. One of these written in a neat, almost
precise character, dated February 2, 1838, is not
without an ulterior significance to students of Lord
Strathcona's life: —

Under the sanction of the law may be also included
that part of it which proposes rewards, as encourage-
ments to obedience. Cumberland, c. 5, De leg. nat. &
40, maintains, that is the chief and most proper sanc-
tion of a law. But his reasoning appears too subtle,
and it is certain that this species of sanction is but
little in the power of earthly law givers. No state can
possibly furnish out a stock sufficient for rewarding all
who may live in due observance of the laws; it is God
alone who can only inflict the severest pains upon
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transgressors, but also from the inexhaustible treasures
of his power and goodness, animate his creatures to
obedience by the highest rewards.

Voluntary servants are those who enter into service
without compulsion, by an agreement or covenant, for
a determinate time; either simply, for bed, board and
clothing, or also for wages. Under voluntary servants
may be included apprentices, who engage to serve
under a merchant, artificer, or manufacturer for a de-
terminate number of years, on condition, that the
master shall in that time, instruct them in the knowl-
edge of his particular art or profession.

All masters have a power of moderate chastisement
over their servants whether voluntary or necessary;
and the masters of public work-houses are allowed to
go all lengths in correction, life and torture excepted.

It soon became manifest that the slow processes
of the law were an ill road to fortune for Donald
Smith. As the months passed it was felt that he
ought to be turning his talent for industry, his
penmanship and knowledge of bookkeeping to bet-
ter, or at least more immediate account. A pair
of wealthy and highly esteemed merchants named
Grant, cousins of the Smith family, had settled in
the town of Manchester. To them Mrs. Smith
wrote for advice in settling this question of her
son'’s future career. ~

These Grants of Manchester were high-minded,
generous, and warm-hearted, and they have a very
interesting association with literature. Charles
Dickens, in the early flush of his success, chanced
to meet them during a visit to Manchester, and in-
troduced them into his novel of Nicholas Nickleby
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The Cheeryble Brothers

under the name of the ‘‘ Cheeryble Brothers.” Lord
Strathcona’s paternal grandmother was the sister
of Mrs. Grant, the mother of these par nobile frat-
rum; and what the mother was to the sons is set
forth, as readers of the novel will remember, in the
description of the dinner given by the Cheerybles
in honor of the birthday of Tim Linkinwater, their
confidential clerk.

‘‘ Brother Charles,”” said one Cheeryble to the other,
“my dear fellow, my dear fellow, there is another as-
sociation connected with this day which must never
be forgotten by you and me. This day, which brought
into the world a most faithful and excellent and ex-
emplary fellow, took from it the kindest and very best
parent to us both. I wish that she could have seen
us both in our prosperity and shared it, and had the
happiness of knowing how dearly we loved her in it,
as we did when we were poor boys. My dear brother
— The Memory of our Mother!"”’

To Mrs. Smith's application the reply came that
there was a vacancy in the office of the Grants
which the young man might fill, and that though
the position was humble, there would be a prosper-
ous course open to him if heshowed capacity and in-
dustry. Such an opening promised a wider outlook
and greater opportunities than could be afforded
by settling down in the narrow groove of a town
clerk’s office,even in the hopes of some day becom-
ing a Writer to the Signet. But even this chance
was not all. Another relative, named M’Grigor,
in the East India Company'’s service, wrote offer-
ing to befriend his cousin Donald, and obtain for

ax



Lord Strathcona

him, if he wished it, a junior writership in the Com-
pany. While the youth hesitated, there came from
the Continent a letter from his uncle John Stuart
announcing that he had resolved on retirement from
the Hudson’s Bay Company, that he was then en
route to London, and that if his nephew still con-
templated a career in Canada, he would do his best
to obtain for him a junior clerkship in the service of
the Hudson's Bay Company, or some other advan-
tageous opening in Canada, through one or the
other of his many friends there. In a few weeks’
time he would be in London and invited his nephew
to visit him at his Clerkenwell lodgings and again
discuss the situation.

Promptly the die was cast, and Donald Smith re-
solved forthwith to turn his steps towards the Eng-
lish capital. Meanwhile, Donald’s elder brother,
John, had already embarked on a medical career.
He soon afterwards obtained an appointment in
the East India Company’s service, and through-
out a long life as an army surgeon was accounted
an able and painstaking officer. Thereafter the
career of the two brothers lay half a world apart
and they corresponded but rarely. Many Anglo-
Indians still alive recall Dr. Smith, whom they
describe as a handsome man and very fastidious
as to his personal appearance.! In their old age

1 For example, under date of 30th November, 1878, Field Marshal.
Sir Donald Stewart, writing of the hardships of an Indian campaign,
obeerves: “I have begun to grow a beard; every one in camp has
given up razors except myself and Dr. Smith, my chief medical
officer, a great swell in his way and very good-looking. He and I are
the only two in camp who have white collars.” (G. R. Elmslie Life
of Field Marshal Sir Donald Stewart).
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the physical likeness between the two brothers be-
came far greater than it had been in their youth.

It may conveniently be mentioned here that
after the terrible scourge of smallpox had, in 1841,
carried off two of their daughters, Margaret and
Marianne, the Smith family, after so long a resi-
dence in Forres, returned to Strathspey. In his
native parish of Knockando, Alexander Smith died
in 1847. Many years afterward Donald’s mother
and another sister, Jane, returned to Forres and
lived there from 1865 until Mrs. Smith’s death in
1874. On the latter occasion he was present at the
funeral and carried through the executry.!

1 On a tombstone in Forres Churchyard, erected to the memory of
Lord Strathcona’s parents and a brother and sisters, there is carved
the following inscription: —

This stone with enclosure is erected

by
John Stuart Smith
and

Donald Alexander Smith
To mark the place where lie interred their
father,
Alexander Smith,
who died at Archieston, Knockando, on 3rd
March, 1847, aged 66 years;
And their mother,
Barbara Stuart,
who died at Forres on the 18th of April, 1874,
in her goth year; -
Also their brother and sisters, who all died at Forres
or neighbourhood,
James M'Gregor on the 29th October, 1826

aged 3
Margaret, on the 12th January, 1841, aged 27;
And

Marianne, on the 14th December, 1841, aged
16 years.
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NOTE TO CHAPTER I

The story of the Grants of Manchester is a roman-
tic one. William Grant, the elder, occupied the farm
of ‘“The Haugh” at Elchies, in Knockando, adjoin-
ing that of his first cousin, Alexander Smith, Lord
Strathcona’s father. Grant was engaged in the pre-
carious trade of ‘“‘droving,” that is, buying cattle in
the country and taking them south for sale. The years
1782-83 were notably bad seasons: he had gone south
with a drove, but failed to sell at Falkirk. Pressing on
across the border into Lancashire, he still found no
market, and footsore and weary, passed the night with
his son William on the summit of a high hill. In the
morning he sprang up, and overlooking the fair valley
of the Irwell, bathed in sunshine, cried out, * Ah, this
is paradise! Here I would like to have my home.”
““Vain,” comments Dr. Forsyth, ‘‘as the wish seemed to
this poor Highlander, a stranger in a strange yet beau-
tiful land, yet it was to prove true. In this very spot
he and his family settled, and by honest industry built
up a huge business that ranked them amongst the
merchant princes of Manchester.”

“My father,” wrote his son, William Grant, junior,
‘““was a dealer in cattle and lost his property in the
year 1783. He got a letter of introduction to Mr. Ark-
wright (afterwards Sir Richard and owner of one of
the only two mills in Manchester), and came by way of
Skipton to Manchester, accompanied by me. ... We
called upon Mr. Arkwright, but he had so many ap-
plications at the time he could not employ him. My
father then applied to a Mr. Dinwiddie, a Scotch
gentleman, who knew him in his prosperity, and who
was a printer and manufacturer near Bury. He agreed

24



The Manchester Grants

to give my father employment, and placed my brother
James and me in situations where we had an oppor-
tunity of acquiring a knowledge both of manufactur-
ing and printing [cotton]; and offered me a partnership
when I had completed my apprenticeship. I declined
this offer, and commenced business for myself on a
small scale, assisted by my brothers, John, Daniel, and
Charles.

‘““In 1818 we purchased Springside, and in 1827 we
purchased the Park estate and erected a monument to
commemorate my father's visit to this valley;.and on
the very spot where he and I stood admiring the beau-
tiful scenery below.”

Mr. Grant adds, ‘“We attribute much of our pros-
perity, under Divine Providence, to the good example
and good counsel of our worthy parents.”

In truth, their mother, Mrs. Grant, née MacKenzie,
appears to have been a woman of rare character and
piety, as was her sister, Lord Strathcona’s grandmother.
The description given by Dickens of the birthday
festival of the ‘“Brothers” to their confidential clerk,
“Tim Linkinwater,” has already been referred to in
the text.



CHAPTER II
DEPARTURE FOR CANADA
1838

To-pDAY, amidst the drab wilderness of Clerken-
well, in its grimy tenements, shops and warehouses,
we should as soon expect to find lodgings suitable for
the portly and humorous old fur-trader, John Stu-
art, as for his dapper and benevolent contemporary
in that quarter of the town, Mr. Samuel Pickwick.
The polite areas of London have been readjusted
and a modern chronicler, bestowing any regard
upon the fitness of locality, would hesitate ere he
lodged either hero farther east than Bloomsbury.

In estimating the marvellous race of Scotsmen
produced early in the last century, English social
tests and prejudices are manifestly absurd. Many
whose sires had been simple farmers or artisans
were in manners, education and pride comparable
to Englishmen of the upper middle class. John
Stuart was essentially a gentleman. He was more—
he was even a courtier: for he once composed an
ode in praise of the princely virtues of His Majesty
George the Fourth. Dignified, pleasant-mannered,
fond of conversation, he could scarcely fail to be
esteemed in any company. There was the agreeable
excitement of paradox to learn that this affable
Highland laird — as he appeared to be — had been
for forty years trading peltries with Red Indians in
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His Fur-Trading Uncle

the icy solitudes of Rupert’s Land.! Yet such as he
was, Stuart might easily have been matched by
many of his fur-trading associates of the Old Ré-
gime. The type has to-day all but vanished, never
to return. Into Stuart’s epistolary style, as well as
his private life, on his return to his native land, a
glimpse is afforded by the following lengthy letter,
addressed to his kinsman, Alexander Stewart, also
a Chief Factor in the Hudson’s Bay Company: —

John Stuart to Alexander Stewart

LoNDoN, 15th February, 1836.

ALEXANDER STEWART, EsQ.

MY DEAR SIR, — It was a disappointment to me not
to have heard from you by any of the arrivals from
Canada. I had, however, much satisfaction in being
informed by our friend Simon MacGillivray,* whom I
see daily, that you continue in the enjoyment of good
health; and I sincerely hope you may long continue to
enjoy that greatest of earthly blessings — the only
thing that is much worth caring for. I think with the
exception of fifteen days (eight of which I was confined
to my bed) at Edinburgh, I scarcely ever enjoyed
better health in my life. Old friends both here and in
Scotland tell me that I look better and not older than
when I was here before in 1819.

I have been on the go since my first arrival here, 27th

1 Washington Irving, who in Astoric has spoken of his brother
Robert Stuart so handsomely, once referred to John Stuart as the
“Chesterfield of the Wilderness.”

8 Brother of William MacGillivray, chief partner of the old North
West Company and its agent in London, before the coalition with
the Hudson's Bay Company in 1821.
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October, having travelled over great part of England,
most of Scotland and no small part of Ireland; but my
plan was in some measure deranged by my sickness and
my time being limited I could not protract my stay so
as to have called on your friends, a circumstance that
I regret much; but if I live ever to see Scotland again
you may rest assured that they will be among the first
I will visit there. In my excursion I saw our friend
Haldane, and I am certain that he looks far better and
younger than when I saw him in the Columbia in 1821.
He is quite comfortable, lives like a nobleman, and you
can’t imagine how kind and attentive he was to me.
Without any knowledge of mine he mentioned my
being returned to the country to Mr. Leith, a brother
of James Leith, who had the kindness to call on me and
I had the satisfaction to dine with him yesterday. He
is of the house of Sir Charles Forbes, and one of the
most gentlemanly men I ever saw and so excessively
obliging that I cannot express the half of his kindness
tome. He has a maiden and a widow sister living with
him at present; but they pass the summer in the vicin-
ity of Elgin and are acquainted with several of my
friends there. They are fine women, equally kind with
their brother, and pressed me that when I go to Scotland
and remain in the vicinity of Elgin I will make their
residence my home. This, together with the intimacy
I have the honour to have with one or two other fami-
lies of respectability here, ensures me an advantage
that is not common at the Hudson’s Bay House, and
although I have not intruded on their kindness or been
present at any Committee meeting, I have so far no
cause to complain. Every request of mine has been
complied with, and really I could not if I was to at-
tempt it earn the kind attention I experience from Mr.
28
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Simpson ! whom I see daily perhaps half a dozen times,
mostly at my own lodgings, and if we were supposed
sometimes to be on good terms and intimate while at
York Factory, I now consider that we are much more
so, and for the simple reason we are here more on an
equality. I think that I know him better than most
people, and am satisfied that when left to himself, un-
biassed, to follow the dictates of his good heart, there
cannot be a more kind or better man; but he is alike
easily influenced by the flattery and prejudice of others,
and when once aroused, excitable and without much
reflection, will go any lengths.

I had almost forgot that at Belfast ? I had the very
great satisfaction of seeing our old friend Mr. Mc-
Leod and it is wonderful how well he stands it out.
His hair is a little grey, but in other respects there is
scarcely any alteration — and although not in that
affluence in which he once was, he appears to be com-
fortable and gives good dinners. He has two fine
daughters, but has had the misfortune lately to have
lost the eldest. Her poor mother, who is still an in-
valid, was near perishing in going to see her, and ar-
rived only at Mull, which she did in sufficient time to

1 Later Sir George Simpeon, Governor-in-Chief of Rupert's
Land.

2 Where his brother Peter Stuart had long been Fort Major.

My grandfather,” writes his granddaughter, Mrs. Lewis, of Bel-
fast, to me, “was Fort Major of Belfast for a very long period. I
saw him on my first visit to Ireland in 1861, when he had retired
many years, being then in his ninety-third year. He died in 1863.
. . . When I was six years old, in 1846, our grand-uncle, John Stuart,
visited us at Clapham. I have a most distinct remembrance of him,
with his well-shaped head, pink complexion, and snow-white hair.
When I saw his nephew, Lord Strathcona, a dozen years ago, it
struck me he was very like grand-uncle John; both he and his
bm:her, Dr. Stuart Smith, were of the same type as my grand-
uncle.”
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witness the remains of her daughter. What a spectacle
for a poor mother!

I have also seen Simon MacGillivray, and if royalty
no longer visits his house many of the nobility are fre-
quent guests there. He enjoys good health; but the
South American climate appears to have altered his
frame and he also has grey hair. I was near forgetting
that I was much pleased with my excursion, and when
I tell you in the whole extent of my travels I passed
not through any place of note where I had not either
relatives, old acquaintances or good introductions to
persons who were attentive, I need scarcely add that
I was delighted. It is the only time in my life in which
I may be said to have enjoyed myself, and as I have
laid all mercenary trouble aside I converse with equal
freedom with all classes, and if I have not the name of
having the fon, the bluntness of my manners do not
seem to displease either male or female.

I now find that I have written nearly a sheet with-
out having entered on any of the topics I intended to
make the subject of this letter. In the first place, you
have been advising me not to resign, nor have I, yet
I would consider it a great favour from you were you
to acquaint me on what terms Mr. Clark (who I un-
derstand is doing very well and not misspending his
means) has resigned. The knowledge of it may be of
use to me when the proper time comes. At present I
have got a leave of absence until the summer of 1837.
and am preparing to go to the Continent and try what
effect the fine climate of Nice, of Piedmont, and of
Savoy may have in recruiting my shattered frame. If
I find the climate congenial I will likely remain a
twelve-month, and may extend the excursion to Genoa,
Corfu, the Ionian Islands, and Malta where I have
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His Cousin Donald

some friends or a good introduction — and if I had a
travelling companion I have little doubt but I could
pass the time agreeably, but such a thing is not easily
to be had. There is, however, a practicability that
either James Leith or James Keith or perhaps both
may go. At least I hold that the state of Mr. Keith’s
health will not admit of his returning to Canada and
that Sieveright! is to remain in charge at Le Chat.

Mr. Leith lives in Devonshire, about two hundred
miles from there. His friends wish him to accompany
me, and I am to pay him a visit and try my own in-
fluence. Mr. McTavish I think is not so great a fav-
ourite as in America — like some others now that mat-
ters are placed in order. He is not to have the Chats,
but will have either Fort Coulonge or leave of absence
as he may prefer.

Captain Back,? like a man of honour, has acted
nobly to Roderick McLeod, has been in conference
with the Committee and extorted the promise of a
Factorship which is to be made out in March. I have
not seen Captain Back since, but I mean to call to-
morrow and thank him. In November I saw him fre-
quently. He introduced me to his sister and was im-
mensely kind. He has been promoted by order of
council, I believe the third instance of the kind that ever
occurred, and stands very high in public estimation.

My cousin enjoys good health and desires to be
kindly remembered to you. Donald also I am happy
to say is well and a fine-looking boy. I am not com-
petent to judge myself, but he is said also to be a good
scholar, is now reading Sallust and Virgil in Latin, and
has made some progress in both Greek and French

1 Frequently mentioned in Irving's 4storia.
2 The Arctic explorer.
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besides doing drilling, etc. I had some thought of tak-
ing him along with me to the continent and placing
him in the seminary where Napoleon received his edu-
cation, but his tutor strongly recommended that he
should be kept for one year more under him, and as my
cousin also, who has the rearing of him, is of the same
opinion, I have consented to allow him to remain and
I have not seen him since I came last to town, but will
in the course of a few days.

I am going this evening to the House of Commons
to witness the defence of O’Connell and if I am backin
time will give my opinion of that celebrated agitator;
but that is neither worth your while nor mine.

There was a sale in December and beaver sold toler-
ably, but rats miserably, averaging not a sixpence
each. I do not write Robertson because a letter from
me will not to him be worth the postage. Remember
me kindly both to him and his amiable wife, my dear
Nancy. When you write me address under cover to
Sir James McGrigor, of Campden Hill, Bart., Army
Medical Department, and let the packet to him be
unopened, not sealed, and addressed to the care of the
Right Hon’ble the Secretary-at-War, which will save
postage.

I will now bid you farewell in the fond hopes that
your health may improve and in the assurance that
whether I will return to the Indian country or not, I
will, if God spares me, keep my promise and go out
to Canada to see my friends. Remember me kindly
to every individual comprising your fine family and
rest assured that I am unalterably,

My dear sir,
Yours most truly and sincerely,
JoHN STUART.
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His Uncle’s Return

Agreeably to the designs expressed in the fore-
going letter, Stuart left for the Continent, in com-
pany with his friend and former fur-trading as-
sociate, James Leith.! During the ensuing year
and a half at many a lonely station in Rupert’s
Land there came letters from Stuart descriptive of
his travels. He informs Chief Factor Peter Ogden
that while in Rome he had read a chapter of Gibbon
amidst the ruins of the Coliseum. He was at Malta
when news of the death of King William arrived
and the accession of the young Princess Victoria.
““The new system of four years of absence has be-
come quite fashionable,”” observes Ogden, in a letter
from Western Caledonia, dated February 27, 1837.
“Our old friend, John Stuart, is dashing away on
the Continent after his long sojourn in the Indian
country. I fear he will yet die a poor man. He was
always most extravagant.’ 3

! Chief Factor James Leith was originally appointed a clerk
from Aberdeen. On hisdeath in 1849, Mr. Leith bequeathed the sum
of £10,000 “for the purpose of establishing, propagating, and ex-
tending the Christian Protestant religion in and amongst the native
aboriginal Indians of Rupert'sland.” The executors were the Bishop
of London, the Dean of Westminster, the Governor and Deputy of
the Hudson’s Bay Company and the testator’s brother Mr. William
Leith. The money became lodged in Chancery and was committed
to the Bishop of Rupert’s Land by the Court of Chancery upon the
understanding that the Company would add to the Bishop’s income
asalary of £300 per annum and provide him with a residence. In
1857 Sir George Simpson stated that the fund with accumulations of
interest amounted to £13,345.

2 Robertson MSS. * Mr. Peter Ogden was nearly related toa high
judicial functionary and in early life was destined for the same pro-
fession. The study of provincial jurisprudence and the signorial sub-
divisions of Canadian property had no charms for the mercurial

temperament of Mr. Ogden, and contrary to the wishes of hisfriends,
he preferred the wild and untrammelled life of an Indian trader to
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When at length, early in 1838, Stuart returned to
England and to his lodgings in Clerkenwell, he had
finally resolved upon retirement. Amongst the let-
ters awaiting his arrival was one from his sister
Barbara Smith, of Forres, expressing the pleasure
she felt at his decision to pass the remainder of his
days in dignified ease. ‘‘Springfield,” ! she wrote,
““‘was untenanted and there was no prescription
better to be recommended than that of breathing
his native air again.”” Her younger son Donald had
finally resolved to abandon the law, and was con-
sidering the proposal to enter the establishment
of their Grant cousins, at Manchester, when his
uncle’s letter came. He was now fixed upon trying
his fortunes in Canada, either with the Hudson’s

the ‘law’s delay’ and the wholesome restraints which are provided
for the correction of over-exuberant spirits in civilized society. His
acoounts of his various remcontres with Orkney men and Indians
would fill a moderate-sized octavo, and if reduced to writing would
undoubtedly stagger the credulity of any person unacquainted with
the Indian country: and although some of his statements were
slightly tinctured with the prevalent failing of La Guinne, there
was a vraisemblance enough throughout to command our belief in
their general accuracy. In a country, however, in which there is no
legal tribunal to appeal to, and into which the ‘King’s writ does
not run,’ many acts must be committed that would not stand a
strict investigation in Banco Regis. ‘My legal primer,’ said Ogden,
‘says that necessity has no law: and in this place, where the custom
of the country, or as lawyers say, the Lex non scripia is our only
guide, we must, in our acts of summary legislation, sometimes per-
form the parts of judge, jury, sheriff, hangman, gallows, and all!’"
And again: “Sunday, June 29. At half past eleven A.M. This day
we bid adieu to the humorous, honest, eccentric, law-defying Peter
Ogden, the terror of the Indians and the delight of all gay fellows.”
(Cox, Adventures on the Columbia.)

1 A pleasant little estate near Forres, afterwards purchased by
John Stuart and where he passed his declining years. He died in
1847, after losing his beloved only son.
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He departs for London

Bay Company or in some other capacity. Desiring
his uncle’s advice,he intended almost immediately
setting out from Forres.

It was on the 14th of April, 1838, that Donald
Alexander Smith bade farewell to his parents, his
sisters and boyhood’s friends in Forres. He did not
again see his native town for more than a quarter
of a century.

Howbeit, that ‘““noblest prospect a Scotchman
ever sees — the highroad to London’ — was not
for him. His trunk went forward by carrier and on
foot he set out. to Aberdeen, embarking in a coast-
ing schooner thence to the English capital. Apropos
of this spring-time trudge to Aberdeen an anecdote
may be narrated here.

One moming, in the early years of the present
century, an elderly individual, not very prepos-
sessing as to appearance, called at the office of the
High Commissioner for Canada in London and .
asked to see Lord Strathcona. He was told that his
lordship was far too busy to see any but those who
had appointments with him.

“Well,” was the confident reply, “he’ll see me
if you tell him that my father drove him to Aber-
deen when he sailed for Canada.”

The message was taken in to Lord Strathcona
the result being to gain immediate admittance for
the visitor. Five minutes later, he emerged with a
five-pound note crackling in his palm.

Three weeks later the same man reappeared.
Again he was told how busy the High Commis-
sioner was, five or six persons then occupying the

35



Lord Strathcona

waiting-room. His answer was the same: ‘‘ Tell him
my father drove him to Aberdeen when he sailed
for Canada.” The result was a summons to enter.
After a brief interval once more he emerged rust-
ling another five-pound note.

A few weeks later, he presented himself a third
time. The secretary felt that the limits of benev-
olence must surely have been reached.

‘““Here is this broken-down Aberdonian, my lord,
come to see you again — the man who says his
father drove you to Aberdeen when you went to
Canada. He has had two five-pound notes from
your lordship already.”

“Indeed!” said Lord Strathcona, in his quiet
way. ‘I cannot possibly see him today. Give him
another five-pound note and tell him he need not
come again. You may add that his father did not
drive me to Aberdeen when I went to Canada. As
a matter of fact, I walked.”

Donald Smith to Mrs. Alexander Smith

LonpoN, April 3oth, 1838.

MY DEAR MOTHER, — I arrived in London early
yesterday morning in the best of health and none the
worse for my journey. I thought it would be prudent
not to call upon Uncle at his lodgings in Clerkenwell
until after ten o’clock, so that I had plenty of time to
deliver Mrs. Grant's parcel to be called for at the coach
office in Ludgate Hill. Uncle Stuart received me cor-
dially and is looking well. He was obliged to fulfil an
important business engagement, but I accompanied him
in a stage as far as Hanover Square, and I afterwards
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Letter to his Mother

dined with him and Mr. James Murdoch in Clerk-
enwell. He quite approved my plans for leaving at
once for Canada in case he is unable to arrange for a
clerkship here, in which case I should sail in the Cam-
den. 1 am to go and see Mr. Smith ! in Fenchurch
Street to-morrow. Mr. Stuart strongly advises my
not accepting anything but from Governor Simpson
himself; who could effect much more favourable ar-
rangements if he were to be disposed to do so. Open-
ings in the Indian Country are much more difficult and
less profitable than formerly. The prospects of a great
decrease in the price of beaver is everywhere spoken of.
My uncle assured me that if he had to begin his career
afresh, he would have nothing to do with the Honour-
able Company or with the Indian country, but would
settle in Upper Canada, where land is cheap and quite
large towns are springing up in all parts.
Unfortunately, both Upper and Lower Canada are
now .deeply involved in political difficulties and trade
and commerce may be at a standstill when I arrive.
But my uncle confides that if Governor S. can do no-
thing in the Bay or in the North-West, there are in
contemplation new posts in the East for which I may
be found suitable. Should this fail, Mr. Stuart’s old
friend in Boucherville will instruct me best how to
proceed. Governor Simpson is, he says, surrounded
by many satellites who naturally desire to advance
their own relatives.
. London is a very gay place at this season of the year.
I have already visited the West End of town, walking
all the way from the Mansion House, where the Lord
Mayor resides, to Hyde Park, where the aristocracy

1 William Gregory Smith, secretary of the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany.
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are to be seen riding and driving. You have heard of
Rotten Row: it is a fine place. Here the trees and
flowers are a good month in advance of ours in Scot-
land or at least in Forres. Had I been in the Park an
hour later or earlier, I should have been rewarded by
the spectacle of Her Majesty. The Queen and the
Duchess of Kent, her mother, drive every day,.I am
told; so I shall hope to enjoy the privilege.

To-morrow, after my return from Fenchurch Street,
I am accompanying my uncle to Ealing. I do not
know yet whether I shall meet my cousin, Donald
Stuart, or not. I will write you fully before I sail.
Give my love to Margaret and to Marianne. Also to
Jane when you write.

I am, my dear mother,

Your affectionate son,
DONALD SMITH.

To ‘“be rewarded by the spectacle of Her Ma-
jesty” would probably evoke derision nowadays
amongst clerks of eighteen; but both the aspiration
and the expression were then, and ever, character-
istic of Donald Smith. He had his ideals in thought,
action, and deportment and was, like most High-
landers of his class, extremely conservative, and
reverent of constituted authority. Although the
great-grandson of a Jacobite who had been out in
the 45, he fully shared his uncle’s loyalty to the
sovereign, and neither then nor afterwards had any
sympathy for radicals, republicans, or rebels. The
action of Papineau, Mackenzie, and the rest who
had just then been plunging Upper and Lower
Canada into confusion and bloodshed excited his
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A Visitor to Parliament

resentment. With these events overseas he neg-
lected no means of acquainting himself.
He recalled long afterwards:—

As I was going out to Canada, I made it my business
to inform myself as thoroughlyas I could of the political
situation there. I read every newspaper and pamphlet
I could come at, and afterwards went to the Morning
Herald office and looked up the Canadian articles and
the debates in Parliament of Canadian affairs.

But this sojourn in London was brief —so brief in-
deed that he was not even ‘‘rewarded by the spec-
tacle of Her Majesty,” although his magnificent
uncle took him to hear a debate in the gallery of the
House of Commons, where he saw Lords Melbourne
and Brougham, and a number of youthful legislators
who were afterwards to fill all Europe with their re-
nown. He noted particularly the Reporters’ Gal-
lery and remembered that he had once cherished
thoughts in that direction. Fifteen months before,
his eye would have lighted on the eager, boyish
figure of Charles Dickens, whom he was afterwards
to see and hear, amongst the occupants of that same
gallery. The famous novelist’s father, John Dick-
ens, and his father-in-law, George Hogarth, were
still there. The visitors tried to get into the House
of Lords, but for some reason failed. The time for
this adventure was not yet. Sixty years later this
young Scottish emigrant was to enter the gilded
chamber in the robes and wearing the coronet
of a peer. Such reflections are trite only so far
as all repeated magic is trite. We may multiply
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romances and sunsets; but the wonder remains
eternal.

It was high time to depart to the chosen land of
his destiny and Donald writes thus to his mother:

Donald Smith to Mrs. Alexander Smith, Forres

LoNDoN, May gth, 1838.

My DEAR MOTHER, — All is now arranged and I am
to sail for Quebec in the Royal William at short no-
tice, perhaps to-night or to-morrow morning, accord-
ing to tide and cargo. You will therefore not hear from
me again until my next letter reaches you from Canada,
supposing that I am spared by Providence.

It is still doubtful whether I shall enter the service
of the Hudson’s Bay Company in any capacity. At
present my own view favours Upper Canada. I have
letters to Governor Simpson, Mr. Stewart, and Mr.
Lewis Grant. My uncle strongly advises me, on arrival
at Montreal, to push on westward. Canada is at pres-
ent in a most troubled state and trade is in consequence
suffering. Lord Durham sailed for Quebec in the Hast-
ings a fortnight ago with royal powers to effect a set-
tlement of the troubles and administer punishment to
the rebels.

I shall hardly arrive before the middle of June, but
this will depend upon the weather, especially in the
Gulf and River of St. Lawrence where fogs and ice
prevail until very late in the spring.

My love to you and to all. Rest assured I shall write
fully. My uncle leaves next week for the North.

I remain, my dear mother,
Your affectionate son,
DONALD.
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Introduced by his Uncle

In his pocket Donald Smith carried at least three
letters of introduction written by his uncle.

That to the fur-trade autocrat, the *“Emperor
of the Plains,” the redoubtable Governor Simpson,
will be read with interest:—

John Stuart to George Simpson

LonpoN, May 8th, 1838.
MY DEAR SIR, — The bearer of this, my nephew,
Mr. D. A. Smith, entertains at present thoughts of fol-
lowing in the footsteps of his uncle and many of our old
friends in the fur-trade and for this reason desires the
honour of an interview with you, which perhaps for my
sake you will grant. He is of good character, studious,
painstaking, and enterprising. He has recently been
devoting his attention to the law, but has decided to
leave this for a more active life. If you know of any
way in which he may be of service to the Hudson'’s
Bay Company, the exercise of your interest will only
add one more obligation to the debt at present borne

by,
My dear Sir,
Yours ever most sincerely and respectfully,
JOHN STUART.

The other letters were to Mr. Edward Ellice and
Mr. Alexander Stewart. We must not take present
leave of the old fur-trader without presenting in
full his letter to the last-named kinsman, partly for
its intrinsic interest, but more especially because of
its direct reference to the subject of this work who
was going out to Canada a I'aventure.
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'Johﬁ Stuart to Alexander Stewart

LonDoN, 1oth May, 1838.

MY DEAR, RESPECTED OLD FRIEND, — It is now a
long time since I have had the pleasure of receiving a
letter from you, only but once since my return to this
country. Still, I had the happiness of being informed
by Governor Simpson, that you continue in the enjoy-
ment of that, the greatest of earthly blessings, health;
and next to the pleasure of hearing from yourself per-
sonally, nothing could afford me equal satisfaction.
I have written you frequently, but as I did not like to
trouble the Hudson’s Bay Company with the carriage
and sent the letters by vessels sailing direct to Quebec,
which I am told is not the most sure conveyance, it is
possible you did not secure them and I shall in future
be more careful and send them either in the Hudson’s
Bay packet or by post.

My health, thank God, is wonderfully good con-
sidering my age, and the change of climate and of liv-
ing. I scarcely was ever better in my life and most
earnestly do hope and pray that you may long con-
tinue to enjoy the same blessing. You are the oldest
and most valued of my North-West friends; how can
I ever forget the happiness I enjoyed in your com-
pany? Our minds ever congenial, nor do I know that
we ever differed seriously even in opinion. From this
circumstance alone is now derived more than half my
present happiness, and I think I enjoy more than a
common share for an Indian trader. If I am not a guest
at Fenchurch Street, I have friends of my own both
here and in every part of the Kingdom who are
equally respectable and who are always pleased to
see me,
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«A Fine Lad”

I do not know what you will think of my retirement,
but of all that I asked nothing was refused. Whether
I could obtain better terms is immaterial. I did not
ask it and my resignation is accepted for i1st June,
1839. Though retaining my two full two eighty-fifths
for that outfit and my retired one eighty-fifth for the
succeeding six years 1840, '41, '42, '43, '44 and 1845.
If these are better terms than commonly granted, I in
a great measure owe it to Governor Simpson. I have
heard that you have met with a great loss through
the mismanagement, or something worse, of Felix La
Rocque, but I have not heard the particulars and hope
it is not material. I hope you will write me particulars
regarding your affairs, and if there is any in which I
can be of use to you, I hope you will command me as
a brother.

My nephew, Mr. D. A. Smith, the bearer of this,
has this moment (9 P.M.) a summons to be on board
by 10 P.M. which compels me to cut short. You will
probably see my nephew and will not like him the
worse for being the son of my sister. He is, I believe,
a fine lad, acknowledged by all to be of an excellent
character. He goes d/'aventure; and if it is possible that
through your friends you could procure any situation
for him better than that of entering the service of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, I know that for my sake you
will do it.

Remember me kindly to every individual compris-
ing your family and with every kind wish for you all,
believe me unalterably,

My dear respected old friend,
Yours ever most sincerely,
JoBN StUART.
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There was a delay of some days and it was after
midnight on the 16th before the Royal Williamswung
down the Thames on her voyage to Quebec. By this
time Donald had almost abandoned the notion of
entering the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company
on his arrival in the New World. His thoughts
were wrapped up in Upper Canada and the vast
and wonderful opportunities which were set forth in
the prospectus of the Canada Company and the
pages of the two Emigrants’ Guides whose pages he
continued to pore over even in the throes of sea-
sickness.

There were only two other cabin passengers on
the ship, and luckily from one of these, a Mr. Ross,
who had formerly taken up land in Upper Canada
and was familiar with the country and the condi-
tions of life there, he obtained a great deal of addi-
tional information of a character not set down in
the books. Mr. Ross had disposed of his land and
‘had embarked in the lumber business in Quebec,
for which industry he predicted a great future. The
one black cloud he saw on the horizon was the
danger of Parliament’s repealing the Navigation
Laws, which would enable Great Britain to procure
her supply of timber from the Baltic ports without
payment of duty, which in his opinion would deal a
deadly blow both at the British trade in timber and
also at colonial shipping. At present ships were
able to make a profit even if the outward voyage
were under ballast, as was the case with the Royal
William. Mr. Smith learnt a great deal of the char-
acter and sufferings of the immigrants from Upper
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He sails for Canada

Canada, who were pouring by shiploads into a coun-
try whose cultivated parts, strange as it may seem,
were already congested with labour.

Addressing an Oxford audience at the close of
the century, Lord Strathcona recalled the Canada
of his youth: — v

My first voyage [he said] took between forty and
fifty days, and the clipper ship in which I sailed, of
about five hundred tons or thereabouts, was a con-

siderable vessel in those days — the largest boat of the |

kind known at that time being about one thousand
tons. A few weeks ago I crossed the Atlantic, spent a
week in Canada, and was back again in London in
three weeks from the day I started!

In 1838 there was no Dominion of Canada. British
North America consisted of what are now the Provinces
of Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, New Bruns-
wick, Quebec, Ontario, and Newfoundland. The coun-
try west of Ontario, now the Provinces of Manitoba,
the North-West Territories, and British Columbia,
and the territory adjoining Hudson’s Bay, was under
the control of the great Company of that name, which
received its charter in 1670. The only inhabitants of
this western country were the officers of the Company,
the trappers, and the Indians. All the Provinces were
separate and distinct, and they had treated each other
as independent communities. The population of Brit-
ish North America numbered about 1,200,000.

No one travelling through Ontario and the other
Provinces to-day could imagine the state of things that
existed sixty years ago. It seems almost incredible.
Everything is made so easy for emigrants now — the
travelling is comfortable, the voyage is short, the food
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is much better than many of them get at home, and
free grants of prairie land can be obtained unencum-
bered with trees and quite ready for the plough.

In 1838 the only incorporated city in Canada was
Toronto, which at that time had a population of from
13,000 to 14,000 people. In Lower Canada, Quebec at
that time was a more important town in many ways
than Montreal. It was at the head of navigation, as
the shallows in Lake St. Peter, on the St. Lawrence,
had not then been dredged, and it was the entrepdt of a
greater share of the St. Lawrence trade than it is now.
A few ocean vessels of light draught went up to Mon-
treal, but much of the merchandise for that city was
trans-shipped at Quebec into other vessels.

He went on to say:—

The social condition of the people was naturally not
of a high standard. Their work was hard, their mode
of living simple, their houses largely log huts; and they
had to go long distances to sell their produce and to buy
new supplies. This, of course, refers largely to the
country districts, or *‘ backwoods” as they were called
in those days. In the towns and villages there was
plenty of intercourse; and, judging from my own early
experiences, life in the centres of population was pleas-
ant and attractive, and the Canadians were as gener-
ous in their hospitality as they are known to be to-day.

Lord Strathcona’s great services in the peopling
of the Canadian Dominion at a later day warrant
us in pausing for a moment further to glance at the
economic conditions prevalent on his arrival in
1838.
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Infamous Immigration Conditions

With the close of the Napoleonic wars a cease-
less stream of immigrants from the British Isles be-
gan pouring into Canada. It was obviously in the
interests of the great private landowners, the ma-
jority of whom were absentees, and the great land
companies, such as the Canada Company and the
British American Land Company, as well as the
Government of the country, to induce as many
British families and labourers as possible to estab-
lish homesteads in Upper Canada, the eastern town-
ships of Quebec and in Prince Edward Island. It
deserves to be remembered that in the decade and a
half between 1815 and 1830, no fewer than 168,615
mmmigrants arrived at the port of Quebec. Lord
Durham, in his famous Report of 1839, states that
in the previous nine years 263,089 immigrants had
landed at Quebec, adding that, if certain facts
had been known, this inrush of the poorer classes
would have ceased. The true story of that period of
Canadian immigration has yet to be told. It is in-
contestable that the bulk of these immigrants were
herded in foul ships, making the voyage to Can-
ada under distressing and infamous conditions. Dr.
John Skey, Deputy Inspector-General of Hospitals,
and President of the Quebec Emigrants’ Society,
testified that the emigrants with families from the
south of Ireland in particular, as well as the pauper
emigrants sent by parishes from England, arrived
in large proportions in a state of abject poverty, al-
though the voluntary emigrants from England had
a little money.

Another local authority testified that
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the poorer classes of Irish and the English paupers
sent by parishes were, on arrival of vessels, in many
instances, entirely without provisions, so much so that
it was necessary immediately to supply them with
food from shore; some of these ships had already re-
ceived food and water from other vessels with which
they had fallen in. . . . This destitution or shortness of
provisions, combined with dirt and bad ventilation,
had invariably produced fevers of a contagious char-
acter, and occasioned some deaths on the passage, and
from such vessels numbers, varying from twenty to
ninety each vessel, had been admitted to hospital with
contagious fevers immediately upon arrival. For lack
of proper food, the immigrants fall into a state of de-
bility and low spirits by which they are incapacitated
from the exertions required for cleanliness and exer-
cise and also indisposed to solid food, more particularly
the women and children; and on their arrival here I
find many cases of typhus fever among them.

It was said that the condition of many of the
ships was so abominable that the pestiferous odours
could easily be distinguished (in a favourable wind
or in a dead calm) when an emigrant ship arrived.

I have known as many as from thirty to forty deaths
to have taken place in the course of a voyage from
typhus fever on board of a ship containing from five
to six hundred passengers; and within six weeks after
the arrival of some vessels and the landing of the pas-
sengers at Quebec, the hospital has received upwards of
one hundred patients at different times from among
them.!

! Imperial Blue Books on affasrs relating to Canada. Appendix to
Lord Durham’s Report.
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Children of sick or dead parents were left without
protection and wholly dependent on the casual char-
ity of the inhabitants.

Even those immigrants who had escaped sick-
ness, having sailed with but little money, were often
destitute on landing. The extortions of the ship
captains on the passage had robbed them of their
last shillings.

The captain usually told the emigrants that they
need not lay in provisions for more than three weeks or
a month, well knowing that the average passage was
six weeks, and often eight or nine weeks. Laying by
his own stock of provisions, the captain, after the emi-
grants’ supplies had run out, obliged them to pay as
much as four hundred per cent on the cost price for
food, and of nauseating quality at that.

Of these particular immigrants, Dr. Morrin reported
that they were generally forcibly landed by the
masters of vessels, and without a shilling in their
pockets to get a night’s lodging.

They commonly established themselves along the
wharves and at the different landing-places crowding
into any place of shelter they could obtain, where they
subsisted principally upon the charity of the inhabit-
ants.

For six weeks at a time, [stated the last-named wit-
ness,] from the commencement of the emigrant ship
season, I have known the shores of the river along Que-
bec, for about a mile and a half, crowded with these
unfortunate people, the places of those who might
have moved off constantly supplied by fresh arrivals
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and there being daily drafts of from ten to thirty taken
to the hospital with infectious disease. The conse-
quence was its spread among the inhabitants of the
city, especially in the districts in which these unfortu-
nate creatures had established themselves. Those who
were not absolutely without money got into low taverns
and boarding-houses and cellars, where they congre-
gated in immense numbers and where their state was
not any better than it had been on shipboard. This
state of things existed within my knowledge from 1826
to 1832 and probably for some years previously.

Sir James Kempt reported of one particular ship-
load of immigrants, arriving at Quebec in 1830,
that those immigrants were described in a letter
from the magistrates of a parish in England as in-
dustrious people who had been trained to some
branch of woollen manufacture, but who would
“cheerfully accept any employment that might be
offered.” Kempt remonstrated in the strongest
terms on the cruelty of attempting to relieve the
English and Irish parishes by sending such hordes
of paupers to a distant colony where they arrived
destitute among strangers.

Few of these people had agricultural knowledge.
Numbers who took to the bush found that they
could not make a living and thronged the cities.
In Lord Durham'’s Report it was stated that many
resorted to the larger towns in the Provinces, with
their starving families, to eke out, by day labour and
begging, a wretched existence, while such others as
could go, tempted by a more genial climate and
higher wages, went to the United States. Many,
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forced by stern necessity, remained in Canada. The
Toronto Mirror, in an editorial of May 20, 1842,
and in numerous other articles, complained that
Toronto was crowded with labourers and mechanics
who had completed the railroads and canals in Great
Britain, and that large numbers of these impover-
ished workers were seeking employment.

. A decade later famine in Europe was to drive
greater numbers of emigrants, many of whom were
agriculturalists, to Canada and the United States;
and of these great numbers perished during the
passage. The Report of the Commissioners of Im-
migration for the year 1847 showed that in that
year of famine and disease, 17,445 British subjects
died on the voyage to Canada and New Brunswick,
in quarantine or in the hospitals. This mortality
did not include those perishing from contagion dis-
seminated in the principal Canadian cities and
settlements.

Nevertheless, there was a vast and continuing
influx of workers which, added to the proletariat
already in Canada, formed a dependent body of
surplus labour required in lumbering, building roads,
canals, and railroads, and in agricultural pursuits.

Such, briefly, was one aspect of the Canadian
scene, long forgotten or overlooked by our compla-
cent historians, in the first year of the Victorian era.

It was into this Canada, the receptacle of hordes
of dispirited immigrants, where, besides, amongst
the old colonists * two races warred in the bosom
of a single state,” that Donald Alexander Smith
was to be received.
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- As to the political conditions, which had caused
the despatch of Lord Durham by the British gov-
ernment of the day, are they not known to even
the most elementary student of Canadian history?

After a long and dreary voyage, meeting with
much fog and many icebergs, the ship entered the
Gulf in the latter half of June. On the 27th she an-
chored for a day at Fraserville (Riviere du Loup),
where the captain went ashore, taking Mr. Smith
with him. The seigneur, Mr. Malcolm Fraser, was
a grandson of one of Wolfe’s captains. He received
the young Highlander cordially, telling him that it
was a good omen that he should first have stepped
foot in Canada upon the domain of a Highland
Fraser. Donald observed that Fraser's English was
extremely faulty, both he and his family commonly
using the French tongue, but he had enough Gaelic
for a fervent Slainté, in toasting his guests.!

On June 30 they reached Quebec, the morning
sun shedding a glory over the citadel, ramparts,
and spires of the famous fortress city of the New
World. Four short weeks before Lord Durham,
the new Governor and pacificator of British North
America, had landed with his suite. Two days
before — the day of the youthful Queen's corona-
tion —he had issued that *‘historic Proclamation
and Ordinance which was to terminate the rebel-
lion, at the expense of his own career and happi-
ness.” And on that very day (June 3oth) from the
citadel, a few yards away from where the young

! It was at Rividre du Loup that old John McLoughlin, the
doughty Pacific fur-trading pioneer, was born.
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Scot stood gazing at the walls, Durham was writ-
ing the Prime Minister, Lord Melbourne: —

“You will not believe it, perhaps, but it is a fact
that all here are charmed at being relieved from
self-government and being for the time under a
pure despotism. That is all very well for the mo-
ment, but cannot last.”

Donald was deeply impressed by Quebec and
would well have liked to pass several days there,
especially as his new friend, Mr. Ross, procured
him an introduction to the influential Mr. William
Price,! who, he opined, might advance his fortune.
But he resolved to hasten on to Montreal. He
dined, however, with his friends at the newly
opened Victoria Hotel, where amongst the com-
mercial folk and lumber merchants assembled he
found the reigning topic was Lord Durham’s “far-
reaching, though not a universal amnesty.” Wol-
fred Nelson and seven other political prisoners were
to be sent to Bermuda, while Papineau and his
fellow fugitives were forbidden to return to Canada
under pain of death.

He encloses in a letter to his mother a music-
master’'s advertisement with the comment; “You
will gather from Signor Mazocchi's advertisement
that besides the military bands and the Highland
pipers Quebec is a centre of musical culture.!’?

1 Mr. Price came to Canada in 1810 and established in course of
time extensive lumber mills at Tadousac and Chicoutimi and other
points on the Saguenay River. He became famous as ‘' Le Pére du
Saguenay’ and the founder of a family still of commercial power
in that part of the country.

3 “Signor Vincent Mazocchi, Professor of Music from Italy, has
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In the boat on the way to Montreal they passed
the steamer Canada. On board this ship, the sight
of which occasioned no small excitement, were the
convigted rebels, Wolfred Nelson, Robert Milnes,
Bouchette, Viger, Marchessault, Gauvin, Goddu,
Des Riviéres, and Luc Masson, guarded by a de-
tachment of the 71st Regiment. These men, on
reaching Quebec, were transferred immediately to
H.M.S. Vestal under sailing orders for Bermuda.
Three weeks before, the Upper Canada rebels had
been similarly deported. Durham’s action was
generally approved in Canada. He had exceeded
his authority in the confident expectation that the
ministry at home would support him. They dis-
avowed him as we all know: he returned to Eng-
land and died two years later a broken-hearted
man.

On the 2d of July, Donald Alexander Smith
arrived in the city which was afterwards to be
eternally associated with his activities and munifi-
cence, and beheld for the first time the steep and
rugged eminence from which this unknown Scottish
lad was destined one day to borrow a part of his
title in the British peerage.

Montreal at this time was about equal to Quebec
in size, but superior in commercial importance.

the Honour to inform the Nobility and Gentry of Quebec and its
vicinity that being desirous of opening an Academy of Music, both
vocal and instrumental, he has just made the necessary arrange-
ments in the house in Palace Street, opposite to Mr. Balzaretti's,
where musical amateurs will find a prospectus of his Conditions.
He flatters himself that his long acquired experience and his unre-
mitted attention may entitle him to a share of the valuable patronage
of the Nobility and Gentry of Quebec.”_
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Its greatness [wrote a visitor in 1838] is likely to in-
crease from its favourable situation and the growth of
Upper Canada, of which,as being the highest point of
the St. Lawrence to which larger vessels can ascend, it
always will be the emporium.

Another visitor, Nathaniel Parker Willis, thus.
expressed himself : —

Although the island possesses in general that level
surface that fits it for a thorough cultivation, yet about
a mile and a half northeast rises a hill, 550 feet high,
commanding a noble view over a fertile country, which
is watered by the several branches and tributaries of
the St. Lawrence. Its face is covered with agreeable
villas and its wooded heights form a frequent resort
for pleasure parties of the city. But the intention now
understood to be entertained of erecting fortifications
on its summit will, if put into execution, banish in a
great measure, its rural character.!

The city built on the southern border of this fine
island was, we are told, not crowded, like Quebec,
into a limited space which could alone be cov-
ered with streets and habitations. It had a wide,
level surface to extend over, so that even the older
streets were of tolerable breadth and several of
them occupied its entire breadth. The principal
one, Rue Notre Dame, considerably exceeded half
a mile in extent and contained many of the chief
public buildings.

There is an Upper and Lower Town, though the
difference of elevation is very slight, but the former is
1 N. P. Willis, Canadian Scenery.
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much the more handsome. The seven suburbs are not,
as in the older capital, detached and extraneous, but
on the same level and immediately adjacent. Their
streets continued in the direction of those in the body
of the place are regular and display many handsome
houses. The vicinity is adorned by many beautiful
villas.

Of the public buildings of Montreal, the new Roman
Catholic Cathedral of Notre Dame, completed in 1829,
is undoubtedly the most splendid . . . superior in fact
to any other in British North America.

The English establishments for religion and educa-
tion are also very respectable. The Episcopal Church is
a very handsome specimen ; the Scotch Church is plain,
but attended by a highly respectable congregation.

In 1814 an important donation had been made by
a wealthy citizen, the Honourable James McGill,
to found a college for the principal branches of edu-
cation. The endowments consisted of a valuable
estate on the Mountain, with £10,000 in money.
It had not, however, yet come into operation, in
consequence of a lawsuit which had dragged along
until 1835, when the available funds in the hands
of the institution amounted to £22,000. A pro-
spectus announced of this college: ‘It is to be con-
ducted on the most liberal system, individuals of
every religious persuasion being admitted as stu-
dents and even as teachers.”

The harbour of Montreal had not then received the
attention its importance merited. It had no wharf-
age, though close to the bank and in front of the
town was a depth of fifteen feet, sufficient for the
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largest vessels which ascend to this point. Its chief
disadvantage consisted of two shoals and of the
rapids of St. Mary's about a mile below, which
vessels often found it difficult to stem. Important
improvements were contemplated and a grant for
the purpose was voted by the Legislature. The
communication with the opposite side of the river
was carried on by means of ten ferries, on several
of which plied a number of steam vessels. A wooden
bridge was once constructed from Repentigny on
the northern shore, but in the spring after its com-
pletion it was carried down by the masses of ice.
Sanguine spirits thought that one of larger span
might be constructed free from that danger.
Before evening Donald Smith had left a letter of
introduction from his uncle to Mr. Edward Ellice
at that gentleman’s Montreal residence. As Ellice
was absent, he had walked out to Lachine, where
he found Mr. Lewis Grant, a native of Forres and
a connection of his mother’s. Grant was unable to
suggest any favourable opening for the new arrival.
He recommended him, however, to lose no time in
consulting with Mr. Alexander Stewart, who was a
man of no little consequence at Boucherville, an-
other suburb of the city. By this gentleman, whose
appearance and manners strikingly recalled his
uncle, Donald was confirmed in all his fears con-
cerning the prospects of success in Upper Canada.
He remained in Boucherville for a couple of days
considering the situation. His host and his friends
having all avowed their complete inability to * pro-
cure any situation better than that of entering the
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service of the Hudson’s Bay Company,” Donald

Smith resolved to take the now apparently inevit- |

able plunge. One July morning, therefore, he duly
presented himself and his letter of introduction to
Governor Simpson at the latter’s official quarters
at the Montreal suburb of Lachine.!

1 Lachine is about eight miles above Montreal, where the naviga-
tion is interrupted by the Fall of St. Louis, to obviate which a fine
canal bearing its name not long before had been erected at an ex-
pense of £137,000. This village, which originally received its ap-
pellation from the chimerical idea that it would afford a route to
China, formed in 1838 an important point in the navigation, both
of the St. Lawrence and the Ottawa, near the junction of which rivers
it is situated. :




CHAPTER 111
ENLISTMENT IN THE COMPANY
1838-1848

GEORGE SIMPSON, the “King of the Fur-Trade”
and the “Emperor of the Plains” (to quote but a
pair of the titles he demurely admitted in the circle
of his flatterers), merits a somewhat more promin-
ent place in Canadian history than Canadian his-
torians commonly accord him.

For forty years Simpson (not yet Sir George) was
easily the one outstanding figure in a territory larger
than Europe, whose simple word was law amongst
a legion of brave and hardy white traders and
hunters and amongst twenty tribes of savages from
the Esquimaux of Ungava, the Crees of Assini-
boine, and the Chinooks of New Caledonia. He
was born in 1796 in Loch Broom, Ross Shire, Scot-
land. From 1809 to 1820, he was employed as a
clerk in the West India trade. Lord Selkirk, hear-
ing of his ability, appointed him, just before the
coalition of the two rival fur-trading companies,
Superintendent of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s
affairs, and after one year of successful service,
he was chosen Governor of Rupert’s Land.!

1 This was the official designation. There was a Governor of
Assiniboia, Red River Settlement, which office, however, was
ostensibly confined to the administration of government — such as
it was — in the Settlement, but had nothing to do with the trade
proper. This designation of attribute and duty, however, does not

apply in all strictness to the earlier Governors of Assiniboia, who
were generally, if not invariably so for a time, Chief Factors in the
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Simpson had been set on this pinnacle of power
without having given any proofs of special fitness
and knowing less about the fur-trade than many a
raw youth who had served the first week of his in-
denture at a third-rate outpost in the Indian coun-
try. To those who can picture what the fur-trade
was in the days of the old régime, the stern and rug-
ged characters it evolved, the scenes of violence and
bloodshed it witnessed; who recall the giant forms
of Alexander Mackenzie, William MacGillivray,
John George McTavish, John McLaughlin, and
the rest; to such as have read the epic of Astoria,
there is something ludicrous in the despatch of
the youthful Simpson to quell a storm which had
been raging for two decades and to allay the fierce
passions of men who knew no law save their own
strength and cunning. Yet Simpson, one of those
men “whom the blind goddess delighteth to hon-
our,” did not fail, but succeeded in the task. It
happens sometimes that a small pin of sound metal,
artfully introduced, becomes a pivot around which
an unwieldy engine, otherwise threatened by dislo-
cation and disintegration, performs its functions.

But one must do justice to Simpson. He had val-

service of the Company. The supreme Governor was he of the Lon-
don Board; but for the regulation of the trade, and the working of
its machinery, a Governor was appointed by the Governor and
Committee of Directors in London, for their territories, who with
a Council of Commissioned Officers, meeting at a central point, such
as Norway House, at the head of Lake Winnipeg, were the only
constituted body for conducting the business in the territory. It
was only as the head of this body, and with certain special power
$n eundo, that Mr. Simpeon (afterwards Sir George) was at this time
Governor-in-Chief.
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uable qualities of his own. In the language of a con-
temporary trader who had many opportunities of
knowing him well, he “combined with the prepos-
sessing manners of a gentleman all the craft and
subtlety of an intriguing courtier; while his cold
and callous heart was incapable of sympathizing
with the woes and pains of his fellow-men. On his
first arrival he carefully concealed from those whom
he was about to supersede the powers with which
he was invested; he studied the characters of indi-
viduals, scrutinized in secret their mode of manag-
ing affairs, and when he had made himself fully
acquainted with every particular he desired to
know, he produced his commission; —a circum-
stance that proved as unexpected as it was un-
satisfactory to those whose interests it affected.” !

The jealousies and resentments engendered by
the long strife made his position at first difficult.
He lavished ‘‘bows and smiles and honied words”
alternately upon the North-Westers and the gentle-
men of the Hudson’s Bay Company, each in turn
thinking him their partisan.

Having thus completely gained the confidence
of the North-West partners, his policy began grad-
ually to unfold itself. One recalcitrant North-
Wester was despatched with a compliment to the
Columbia; another to the Montreal department;
another to Rupert’s River; until in the course of a
few seasons following this happy precept, divide et
smpera, he had rid himself of all the annoyance and
danger of opposition, and his rule, as was truly said,

1 Chief Trader John McLean, 1849.
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became more absolute than that of any Governor
under the British Crown.

Amongst Mr. Simpson’s gifts, natural or acquired,
was the useful one of instilling awe into the breasts
of junior clerks, and all applicants for office or pro-
motion. He was of small, almost diminutive stat-
ure. Though naturally good-tempered, it came to
be said of him that ‘‘he took delight in the out-
ward show of tyranny.” If he was pompous, it was
by no means an empty and unprofitable pompos-
ity. Thrust early into a position of great power
over numerous subordinates, many of whom only
saw him at long intervals in the flesh, he imag-
ined it highly advantageous to cultivate the glance,
speech, and bearing of no less a personage than the
Emperor Napoleon.

Simpson’s admiration for the mighty Corsican
was unbounded. It was one of the passions of his
life. To-day we have lived to see the Napoleonic
cult become sufficiently vulgar; in this quarter of
the globe Simpson was one of the pioneers. He col-
lected every scrap of writing relating to his hero,
and the walls of his successive dwellings at Fort
Garry, Norway House, and Lachine were adorned
with Napoleonic prints. He did more: he infected
many of the old factors and traders with his pas-
sion. No one writing of the Company officers of the
period of the Simpson régime could give an ade-
quate notion of their lives and characters without
mentioning the hold which the story of Bonaparte
and his battles had upon their imaginations. A
Chief Trader wrote in 1834 from Isle & la Crosse:
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“For God's sake, send me Scott’s next volume
the moment you can. I want to see how he deals
with Ney. . . . Can’t you see Nap retreating from
Churchill to Cumberland House?"”

Such fancies, it must be admitted, threw an agree-
able glamour over the steppes of Athabasca.!

I have permitted myself this excursus upon Simp-
son because of the influence the great little man
had upon the fortunes of Donald Alexander Smith.

From the fact of his having the recommenda-
tion of Mr. Ellice, whose father was one of the
directors, Donald Smith was in a somewhat more
favourable position foremployment in the Company
than other applicants in Canada. The custom was
that these should receive their appointment by the
London Board. Some twenty years afterwards Mr.
Ellice, Senior (“ Old Bear” Ellice), stated to a Par-
liamentary Committee:—

I took great care in former times to send out the best
men we could find, principally from the north of Scot-
land, sons of country gentlemen and of farmers who had
been educated in the schools and colleges of Scotland.
They went out first as apprentices, then were made
clerks, and then became gradually advanced to the
higher positions in the service; some of these men have
lived to become great benefactors to the country. . ..
Governor Simpson has taken very great interest in the
matter for many years, but I think that lately it has

1 An ingenious paraphrase of Bishop Whately’s Historic Doubs,
relative to Napoleon, was circulated about 1830 by a young clerk,
Mr. Sieveright. It is entitled Historic Doubts relating to George
Simpson and Historic Certainties respecting the Fur-Trade of the
Northern Department.

63



Lord Strathcona

been too much the habit to endeavour to supply the
places of men who have retired by persons connected
with the country, some of them half-breeds; and I
doubt very much, when we look at the future security
of the country, whether that will be found to be good

policy.

Whether it was good policy for the London
Board or not is an open question; but many of the
native-born so appointed became the best-known,
the best-liked, and most competent officers amongst
the commissioned gentlemen of the fur-trade. El-
lice went on to explain that the conduct of the young
men in its service came * perpetually under the
view first of the North-West Council and the Gov-
ernor and then under the view of the Government
at home; and it is so much for the interest of all
parties to have good, zealous, active men, in the
management of affairs at such a distance from all
human society, that that is the best security for
good selections.” He laid stress upon the qualifi-
cations of ‘‘moral conduct and good sense’’ as quite
indispensable, and pointed out, moreover, that it
‘“is very essential to have men who can obtain in-
fluence over the Indians; if it is found that any man
at a particular post gets indolent, inattentive, or
has too intimate relations with particular Indians,
or if his habits are supposed in any way to interfere
with his good administration of the post, he is in-
stantly changed.”

Briefly, then, the surveillance of the Company
over the youths entering its service was very exact,
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the qualifications demanded were high, and the con-
ditions stringent.

A decade later, a Chief Factor of the Company
could pen these words: —

The history of my career may serve as a warning to
those who may be disposed to enter the Hudson's Bay
Company’s service. They may learn that from the
moment they embark in the Company’s canoes at
Lachine, or in their ships at Gravesend, they bid adieu
to all that civilized man most values on earth. They
bid adieu to their family and friends, probably for ever;
for if they should remain long enough to obtain the
promotion that allows them the privilege of revisiting
their native land — a period of from twenty to twenty-
five years — what changes does not this life exhibit in
a much shorter time? They bid adieu to all the com-
forts and conveniences of civilized life, to vegetate at
some desolate, solitary post, hundreds of miles, per-
haps, from any other human habitation save the wig-
wam of the savage; without any other society than
that of their own thoughts, or of the twoor three humble
individuals who share their exile. They bid adieu to all
the refinements and cultivation of civilized life, not
infrequently becoming semi-barbarous — so altered
in habits and sentiments that they not only become
attached to savage life, but eventually lose all relish
for any other.!

In less than a quarter of an hour Donald Smith'’s
fate was decided. For the upshot of this interview,
in which the youthful applicant was duly made to

! John McLean, Twenty-five Years’ Service in the Hudson's Bay
Company.
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feel his own insignificance and the other’s greatness
and condescension, was that Donald was appointed
forthwith an apprentice-clerk in the Company’s
service at Lachine at the munificent salary of £20
per annum, ‘‘and all found,” as he used to recall
grimly in his old age.

“You will begin at once, sir,” concluded the Gov-
ernor, ‘“‘to familiarize yourself with your future
duties. Call Mr. Mactavish.”

A clerk of this name was summoned and entered
the room bowing and scraping in the prescribed
manner.

“Mr. Mactavish, have the goodness to take Mr.
Donald Smith to the fur-room and instruct him in
the art of counting rat-skins.”

Whereupon, with a curt nod, Governor Simpson
resumed the inspection of his correspondence.
More than two generations later his official suc-
cessor was wont to relate his experience on that
first and many subsequent days in the Lachine
fur-room; how, disdaining to wear gloves, the skin
of his hands peeled off and became raw and
painful from contact with the rough hides of the
muskrats or musquashes;! how after being im-
mured for days in solitude in the odoriferous cham-
ber, counting thousands upon thousands of skins,
a fellow-clerk visited him, and, bursting with laugh-
ter, summoned the others to enjoy the spectacle of
the gloveless greenhorn. After that he wore the

1 ¢ Muskrat or musquash: a North American aquatic, arvicoline,
rat-like rodent, yielding a valuable fur and secreting in its gland a
substance with a musky smell.” (Chambers.)
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gloves prescribed. From rats, he proceeded to the
peltries of beaver, marten, fox, mink, and otter,
learning to distinguish the quality and value of the
fur, the district from whence it came, and many
other particulars which are essential to fur-trad-
ing lore.

Varying and succeeding this occupation were the
examination, checking, and copying of the accounts
prepared by the officers of the various posts in the
entire Montreal Department, of the Southern De-
partment, and even of other departments as well;
for Simpson was a man of merciless method, un-
sparing of detail when it conduced to clarity and
order, no matter what pains it cost his clerks or
what time it involved. There was the listing of the
stores and perpetual inventories, down to a paper
of needles or a fraction of a pound of sugar. His
aim was, as he himself boasted, to be able to ascer-
tain in a moment exactly what was or should be,
not only in the cash box and fur-room, but in the
larder of every one of the one hundred and seventy
posts of the Company from Ungava to Vancouver
Island and from the Arctic Circle to Red River.
He carried the practice of economy to great lengths,
but, as was frequently alleged by his subordinates,
not a little of his economy was of the * penny-wise,
pound-foolish” order.

The clerks at Lachine all boarded and lodged at
an establishment on the south side of the canal,
kept by one Norton. Leave of absence, even on
Sundays, was difficult if not impossible to obtain;
for the Governor or his deputy, Chief Factor Keith,
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exercised a watchful oversight of the staff, standing
toward them in a quasi-paternal relation.

During the summer the Governor-General paid
Lachine a visit with his suite. As the cavalcade
drew nigh, all the clerks hastened to obtain a
glimpse of the Earl, amongst them young Smith,
who afterwards related that, ‘“‘surprised by such
splendor,” he neglected to doff his cap, for which
Mr. Keith rebuked him. “If,”” writes Durham’s
biographer, “Lord Durham could have foreseen
Lord Strathcona’s services to Canada, he would
have clasped hands there and then with the sturdy
young Scot.”

At Lachine some forty to fifty canoes set forth
annually with supplies of merchandise and as-
cended the Ottawa for about three hundred miles,
when they were portaged across to French River
and thus reached Lake Huron, where the coureurs de
bois met them with their return cargoes of furs from
the Indian country. All but one of the Company’s
buildings have vanished and Governor Simpson's
house has long since given way to a convent.

Before that autumn was very far advanced, La-
chine and the Hudson’s Bay Company employees
were plunged into a state of great excitement. No
sooner had one rebellion been disposed of than an-
other one burst into flame. What many shrewd ob-
servers had predicted now happened. Writing to
his mother on the 8th of November, Donald relates:

The Canadians have once again risen in rebellion
and on Sunday last martial law was proclaimed by Sir
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John Colborne for the second time in one year. It be-
gan in Acadie County, where hundreds of loyalists
were set upon and several murdered. In Laprairie the
loyalists were granted a quarter of an hour to leave
the village and the steamship Princess Victoria which
was at the wharf was set afire by the rebels. At an-
other place called Beauharnois a body of four hundred
attacked a house where our Mr. Ellice and many other
ladies and gentlemen were. They were summoned to
surrender, which they did after half an hour’s fight-
ing. Mrs. Ellice, Mrs. Balfour, and other ladies who
had taken refuge in the cellar were shamefully treated,
and Mr. Ellice and his host, Mr. Brown, were carried
off prisoners to Napierville. In Montreal there is great
excitement and there are guards before the Montreal
Bank and the principal buildings. The Company’s
storehouses are also guarded, and the clerks and la-
bourers enrolled as constables. You remember my writ-
ing of Mr. Lewis Grant, son of Mr. Grant, of Forres,
who has a business establishment at Lachine. He was
on a visit to Mr. McDonald of Chateauguay, formerly
one of the Company’s men. Mr. McDonald's store,
I hear, has been pillaged and both he and Mr. Grant
taken prisoners and carried off.

Montreal is a scene of great martial enthusiasm and
the people put every reliance in the troops who have
been and are daily being despatched to the scene of the
outbreak. Yesterday, the 71st Regiment, part of the
93d, and the Grenadier Guards departed by steamer,
and some of us went down to see them off, their bands

playing Highland airs. It is said General Colborne

and General McDonell will leave in person to-day and
this time it is certain the rebels will be shown no mercy.
If it is not crushed soon, the civil and loyal population
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will enlist en masse and you may expect to hear of my
going as a soldier. I write this in haste to catch the
last packet this season.

But although the rebellion was speedily crushed,
and the Hudson’s Bay Company’s property not
attacked, there continued plenty of excitement for
several months. The state trial of the prisoners came
off, and was a reigning topic. Donald’s friend and
relative, Grant, was called upon to give evidence.

On one occasion, at least, Donald mingled with
some of the leading persons of Montreal. Mr. El-
lice invited him to dinner out of friendship to his
Uncle Stuart, and at the board he saw the cele-
brated Mr. Dease and another of the old explor-
ers, Mr. Finlayson, besides the Mayor, Mr. Peter
McGill.

Before the winter had really begun came a letter
from his uncle.

John Stuart to Donald Smith

Forrgs, October 2nd, 1838.
I My pEAR NEPHEW:—And so you have finally
elected to take service with the old Company! I duly
received your letter of 29th July from Lachine and I
confess I was at first filled with surprise, because I had
made up my mind that Upper Canada would claim
you and that you would procure some situation with
Mrs. Galt’s interest.

However, I dare say you have, considering the de-
plorable conditions you describe, effected a prudent
choice. The only, or at least the chief, drawback is that
you are dependent upon the good-will and caprice of
one man, who is a little too much addicted to pre-
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judices for speedy advancement; but this is probably
true in many other spheres of commercial endeavour.
I wish it were in my power to assist you in his good
graces; but as you know I am quitting the service and
against his wish, which is by no means a present recom-
mendation to his favour. There is, I may say, no man
who is more appreciative of downright hard work
coupled with intelligence, or one more intolerant of
puppyism, by which I mean carelessness and presump-
tion. Depend upon it, the Governor soon finds means
of driving that sort of youth out of the service. In fact,
I think he will stand idleness sooner than the least
trace of presumption. It is his fosble to exact not only
strict obedience but deference to the point of humility.
As long as you pay him in that coin you will quickly
get on his sunny side and find yourself in a few years
a trader at a congenial post, with promotion in sight.

You do not hint in your letter anything concerning
your destination. -Your sojourn at Lachine can hardly
last beyond the coming winter, and instead of the
West, you may be sent to one of the King's Posts or
to the Ungava, if the Governor still has that bee in
his bonnet.

I have, thank God, got through the summer tol-
erably and have spent one of the pleasantest years of
my life — some reward for four decades of hard service.
Life is all before you, keep a stout heart and lay in a
good stock of that desirable commodity, patience, and
all will be well. If you continue at Lachine, I may see
you next spring. Give my regards to Mr. Stewart, Mr.
Grant, and any of my old friends you happen to meet.
Your mother and sisters continue well. With every
kind wish I am, my dear Donald,

Your affectionate uncle,
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In the course of the ensuing two years Donald
Smith was sent to the Lake of Two Mountains and
to other adjacent posts, where he acquired that
knowledge of French which was indispensable in
the fur-trade and which stood him in such good
stead at Red River thirty years afterwards.

On the south shore of the beautiful Lac des
Chats stood Kinnel Lodge, the residence of a High-
land chief, the Macnab, a pioneer of this portion of
the Upper Ottawa. Of him Lord Strathcona was
fond of telling the following story: —

On one occasion the Macnab entertained Sir
George Simpson and a number of leading fur-
traders of Highland origin. Amongst them was a
Mackenzie, a Mactavish, a MacGillivray, a Mac-
donald and so on. Some surprise was expressed
that Simpson should have occupied the seat at
one end of the board and a Mr. Mackenzie the
other end.

At last some one enquired, ‘‘ Macnab, why are
ye no at the heid o' your ain table?”

The host turned upon his questioner and an-
swered with great dignity, —

*Mr. Macpherson, I'd hae ye ken weel that where
the Macnab sits there 4s the heid o’ the table!” -

Notwithstanding his uncle’s influence, it cannot
be said that Mr. Smith was ever a favourite of Gov-
ernor Simpson. A legend used to be current in the
service concerning the intercourse between the two
men which would account for some of the dislike
and asperity with which the High Priest occasion-
. ally visited the neophyte. Mr. Simpson had mar-
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ried in 1828 an English lady of considerable at-
tractions. Their married life, although happy on
the whole, was not infrequently chequered by fits
of jealousy alternately on the part of the husband
and of the wife.

When Mr. Smith came to Lachine in 1838 [writes
one of his fellow-apprentices], Mrs. Simpson, who al-
ways took a friendly interest in the ‘‘indentured young
gentlemen,” as they were called, was attracted by the
simplicity and gentle address of the newcomer’s man-
ners. She invited him to tea; she occasionally com-
manded his escort on boating excursions. Once, after
the Governor had returned after an absence at Red
River, we heard that there had been a scene and that
in consequence young Smith, although innocent of any
offence but that of obliging a lady, was in disgrace, one
gentleman averring that he had heard the Governor,
in a highly pitched treble, declare that he was not
going to endure any ‘‘quill-driving upstart appren-
tices dangling about a parlour reserved to the no-
bility and gentry.” I am not sure that these last words
were actually uttered by the Governor, but they re-
presented at least the current opinion as to the purposes
for which our autocrat reserved his parlour.

As to Donald Smith’s personal appearance at
the time of his arrival in Montreal, he was a little
above middle height, with a fresh complexion, very
light sandy hair, and grey-blue eyes. His features
generally were cast in a large mould, and his gen-
eral expression that of alertness and resolution
combined with amiability. Afterwards, when he
allowed a chin whisker to grow, its colour was a_
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bright chestnut. Altogether, in his uncle’s words,
he was, in outward person, a *fine lad."”

One day the momentous tidings reached La-
chine that Governor Simpson, then in London, had
been created a Knight of the Bath for his ‘‘eminent
services in the cause of discovery and exploration’’;
and on the heels of this it was rumoured that the
“Emperor of the Plains” (‘' Penny plains and two-
pence coloured,’ wrote Thomas Hood on a delinea-
tion of the Emperor surrounded by his dusky sub-
jects) contemplated making forthwith a journey
round the world.?

It was at the end of March, 1841, that Sir George
arrived at Lachine, with his retinue, which this
time comprised two young English noblemen, Lord
Caledon and Lord Mulgrave, who were bent on a
sporting expedition to the Far West.

One morning Donald Smith, having superin-
tended invoicing the last of the previous season’s
bales in the storeroom at Lachine, was informed
that the Governor wished to see him. He entered
Sir George's presence and a moment later had the
pleasure of hearing him say: “ You are appointed
to Tadousac.” The Governor paused, and then
added, sharply, “It is now Monday; you will leave
by the Quebec stage Wednesday morning.”

With that he gave an abrupt nod and turned to

1 Simpeon's two octavo volumes chronicling this tour were by
a former generation cynically and perhaps unjustly credited to
Mr. (afterwards Judge) Adam Thom, assisted by E. M. Hopkins, the
Governor's secretary and companion, a gentleman well known in
Montreal and Donald Alexander Smith’s immediate predecessor as
the head of the Montreal office of the Company.
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his secretary and a waiting pile of papers on his
desk. Smith, thus dismissed, with a half-articu-
lated “Good-day, sir,” returned to the company
of his fellow-clerks who were eagerly awaiting the
result of the interview. They condoled with him:
he was informed that promotion in the King's
Posts District was slow; that he would probably re-
main at Tadousac and contiguous posts for many
years; that the officer in charge there was a mar-
tinet; that the posts were badly provisioned; that
furs were scarce; that competition abounded; that,
in short, the only advantage of Gulf service lay in
a supply of Gulf seals and of salmon. Worst of all,
he was told that these King's Posts, of which Ta-
dousac was the chief, were henceforward to be re-
garded as preliminary to Labrador and Ungava,
where it was perpetual winter and where the hard-
ships were such that no constitution but an Es-
quimaux’s could endure it: and even they died off
like plague-stricken sheep.!

“We rallied Mr. Smith a good deal on his ap-
pointment,” wrote Edward Miles to his father.
“His uncle having been the great Chief Factor
Stuart, he thought he would have been sent to the
neighbourhood of the Columbia.”

Shortly before Mr. Smith’s entry on the scene,
it had become a part of Governor Simpson's policy
to galvanize the trade of the Gulf of St. Lawrence
into a semblance of its ancient activity. In the
early days of the French settlement of Canada,
large tracts of wilderness were farmed or leased to

1 Memorandum by Chief Factor Barnston.
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various individuals or companies, who in conse-
quence enjoyed a monopoly of the fur-trade and
fisheries within the specified boundaries. One tract
was termed the King’s Domain, within which were
established a series of King’s Posts. These ex-
tended from Port Neuf to Cape Cormorant, a dis-
tance of 270 miles, and inland to the dividing ridge
between the St. Lawrence and Hudson's Bay.

Some of these trading-posts were over a century
old, and there the early French traders had met
the tribes of Montagnais and Nascopi Indians com-
ing down at the close of the hunting season from
the North. Subsequently, many of these posts be-
longed to the King’s Posts Company. In 1832 they
were under lease to a private person at a rental of
£1200 a year, who afterwards leased them to the
Hudson’s Bay Company.!

In 1841 the whole of what is called to-day the
“North Shore” was virtually a preserve of the
Company. Hardly a white man was to be found
‘between Tadousac and Belle Isle who was not an
employee. Even in the summer time the coast was
unvisited by those fishermen and their families,
who now, from Newfoundland, Gaspesia, the Mag-
dalen Islands, and the South Shore, flock to seek
their livelihood in the depths of the adjacent

1 At this time the trading posts were nine in number, — Ta-
dousac, Chicoutimi, Lake St. John, Necobau, Mistassini, Papina-
chois, Muskapis, Moisie, and Seven Islands; besides Saguenay, As-
suapmoussin, and Metabetshuan on Lake St. John. When the Com-
pany took over the King's Posts and fisheries four hundred and fifty
men were employed and five hundred in the Indian trade. Shortly
afterwards several other posts were built and considerable money
expended.
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waters. The four chief posts, after Tadousac,
whither the Montagnais came on their return from
the chase, were Godbout, Seven Islands, Mingan,
and Musquarro. _

Tadousac, on the River St. Lawrence at its con-
fluence with the Saguenay, is only some three hun-
dred miles from Montreal; but the exceeding bad-
ness of the roads eastward of Quebec, the solitude
and desolation of the scenery, made it, in the first
half of the nineteenth century, seem of far greater
remoteness.

The young clerk set out by stage-sleigh to Que-
bec, and on the second day after his departure
arrived there. At Baie St. Paul he delivered a mes-
sage with which he had been provided to an occa-
sional employee of the Company, who was in-
structed to accompany him and his effects, which
consisted of a small hair trunk, and a bag filled
with provisions, as far as Tadousac. Here he
donned snowshoes. He passed the night at a wood-
man’s cabin, probably the same one that a few
years later Robert Michael Ballantyne occupied on
his exactly similar journey, and duly arrived at the
marvellous and mystic stream of the Saguenay
which, owing to its immense depth, never freezes.
After some delay, a boat was procured and they
crossed to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s trading-
post.

* Unlike the posts of the north, it is merely a group
of houses, scattered about in a hollow of the moun-
tains, without any attempt at arrangement and with-
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out a stockade. The post, when viewed from one of the
hills in the neighbourhood, is rather picturesque; it is
seen embedded in the mountains and its white-topped
houses contrast prettily with the few pines around it.
A little to the right rolls the deep unfathomable Sag-
uenay, at the base of precipitous rocks and abrupt
mountains covered in some places with stunted pines,
but for the most part bald-fronted. Up the river the
view is interrupted by a large rock, nearly round, which
juts out into the stream and is named “ The Bull.”
To the right lies the Bay of St. Catherine with a new
settlement at its head; and above this flows the ma-
jestic St. Lawrence compared to which the broad
Saguenay is but a thread.!

The next seven years of Donald Smith’s life were
spent on the banks or in the neighbourhood of the
St. Lawrence. He served at Isle Jérémie, Godbout,
Bersimits, Seven Islands, and Mingan.

It was in this epoch of hard work and loneliness
that his native character became subdued to his
surroundings. I have heard him say that those
years in the neighbourhood of the Saguenay made
the deepest impression on his mind. Indeed, it is
not too much to assert that the Saguenay left a
lasting mark on his character.

Fifty years later in a London gallery he was shown -
Bockling’s powerful ‘ The Island of Death.” “Ah,
yes,” he said seriously, ‘‘that, apart from the trees,
is exactly like the Saguenay! It recalls my young
days as a fur-trader.”

The routine observed at one post in the Com-

1 R. M. Ballantyne, Hudson Bay.
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pany's service was, with certain local modifica-
tions, due to the nature of the trade and the char-
acter of the native tribes, followed by all.

When the trading parties arrived [writes a clerk of
a generation later], I had to take account of the goods
returned and the robes and furs for which the rest of
the outfits had been expended, also the Indian debts
paid and the supplies given to servants there. And
then commenced the lively scene of packing the robes
and furs in the big lever fur-press in the middle of the
square.

To each pack would be attached a wooden stave
on which was branded its consecutive number,
weight, and “41—H. B. M. D. T."” meaning * Out-
fit 1841, (H.B.) “Hudson's Bay,” (M. D.)
Montreal District,” (T) “Tadousac.” But first
of all the furs had to be

hung up on lines like a wash to get rid of the dust in the
wind, and the larger and stronger hides beaten like the
robes. The finer and weaker-skinned furs were par-
celled up in strong-hided and summer bear-skins, and
several bundles of these made up the pack to about
ninety pounds weight. Each of these fur packs was of
assorted skins, and as many packs as possible made
up of a uniform number of assorted skins. This was
done to avoid the risk of all the articles or furs of one
kind being lost in the case of accident. Into each of
these packs was put a slip of paper with an unpriced
list of its contents and the marks and numbers before
mentioned. This slip served to identify the pack or
bale if the branded stave became detached, and also it
enabled the person in charge of a shipment, which had
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got wet on the voyage and required to be opened and
dried, to replace the furs belonging to different packs
in rebaling them after being dried. The priced pack-
ing account of the furs, at the valuation allowed the
post in general accounts, was not for the eyes of the
men on the voyage with them.

Each business year was called the “Outfit” and
ended on May 31, upon which date the inventory of
everything belonging to the Company at the post was
taken. At this we all worked from dawn to dark till
everything was weighed, measured, and counted, both
outside and inside the establishment.

The post accounts had to be made out in trip-
licate for the purpose of sending one copy to
Montreal headquarters, one to London, and of
retaining one at the post.

Once the list of merchandise and articles in use had
been made in pencil it became my task, day and night,
to recapitulate them in alphabetical order under the
various headings, and enter the result duly priced in
the post account book for the ‘Outfit.”” To get that
book complete so as to find the apparent gain or loss
for the year’s trade before the time came for the boat-
men to start for the annual voyage took up all my
time.!

One of Mr. Smith’s successors at Mingan, George
Miles, complained bitterly of the intricacy of Mr.
Smith’s method of keeping accounts. He said that
they were done in accordance with a secret code,
the key of which was locked in Mr. Smith's breast.
Many of the pages had a marginal note marked

1 Chief trader Isaac Cowie, The Company of Adventurers.
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“Donald Smith” and sometimes “ Donald S.”
Many years afterwards a visitor, inspecting these
accounts, found an additional memorandum under-
neath these entries, suchas ‘‘Hang Donald S.!”
and more than once ‘‘ D—— Donald Smith! I can-
not make head or tail of this! G. M.”

Up to the time of Donald Smith'’s entry into the
Company’s service beaver was the staple fur of the
country; but the substitution of silk for beaver in
the manufacture of hats dealt a severe blow to the
beaver industry. Yet the term ‘‘castor’’ continued
in use, throughout most of the Hudson'’s Bay Terri-
tory, to denote the unit of value when trading with
the natives. The produce of a winter hunt would
be estimated in *‘castors,” and was usually about a
hundred, often as low as fifty, and occasionally as
high as two hundred and fifty castors. Howbeit,
in the Montreal department actual money or notes
were used.

Of the furs the most valuable was the black fox,
for a single skin of which the hunter would receive
as much as five or ten pounds, but which would
fetch three or four times as much in the London fur-
sales. The silver fox, which only differed from the
black in that its coat was sprinkled with a few white
hairs, then took second place, the cross fox, the red
fox, the white fox, and the blue fox following in order
of value.

Lord Strathcona often recalled his first purchase
of a black fox. One day news came to his bourgeois®
that a trapper named Dugas had several fine skins,

1 The officer in charge of a poet was thus called.
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but that from some fancied grievance or another he
had announced his intention of not selling them to
the Company, but would carry them himself to
Quebec. The man, who was a half-breed, had halted
with his family about twenty miles away, from
whence he intended to proceed alone to civiliza-
tion. Mr. Smith was provided with funds and in-
structed to be sure to acquire the furs if they were
really of superior quality and could be had at a
reasonable price. After a long tramp he reached
Dugas’s encampment. The surly and even insulting
reception he met with would have daunted another
man. But he was resolved not to lose his temper.
Not a word was said about the furs. He assisted
the old squaw, whom he addressed as Madame
Dugas, to boil the pot and cut firewood; he helped
skin a rabbit, gave the trapper tobacco, retailed
news and anecdotes of mutual friends, sympathiz-
ing with Dugas in his grievance against the bour-
geois for whose hasty conduct he apologized. But
what was of even more potent effect was a little
book of décalcomanie pictures and a couple of
packets of barley sugar which he had thoughtfully
slipped into his pocket for the children. These
produced a tremendous sensation, and won the
heart of mother and children. Evening came and
wore on; not a syllable had been mentioned
about furs or trade, save that Mr. Smith was
going on five miles to another trapper’s lodge up
the river. At a late hour, after wishing them all
a cordial good-night, he rolled himself in his blan-
ket and retired to rest. In the morning he was up
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betimes collecting fagots, after which he went
down to the river to catch fish for breakfast. On
the conclusion of the meal he announced his in-
tention of continuing his journey. He said he had
had a most pleasant time and would long remember
the hospitality he had received. *Perhaps,” he
added, “you will still be here on my way back. If
so, we may meet again — who knows?”’ He then
shouldered his pack and was shaking hands, when
Dugas, who had been standing by in a state of
sulky astonishment, cried out, ‘‘ Vous n'achetes pas
mes fourrures ?"’

Whereupon Mr. Smith said: ‘‘ But, Monsieur
Dugas, I did not like to speak to you of business.
The bourgeois is very sorry, very sorry to think
that you and he should have quarrelled. It is a great
pity!n

“Tenez,” said Dugas; and going to the lodge he
brought forth a bundle and opened it, revealing
several fine skins, one of which he selected and
threw over his left arm, stroking it lovingly and
pointing out and commenting upon its glossiness
and texture.

“That is the best fox I ever trapped,” he said.
‘“This other is nearly as good. I said I would not
sell them to the bourgeois and I won’t. You are
a young man, and perhaps you do not know the
value. In Quebec I would get thirty pounds; but
I do not wish to leave my family and go to Quebec.
You may have them, and if your bourgeois says
they are not worth twenty pounds, you may send
them back to me. I will not take the money now.
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Voila!” And he pressed the bundle of skins upon
- the young trader. v

“Wait a bit,” interrupted Smith “If this is to
be business, I must take the responsibility. Let me
examine the furs carefully.”

The upshot was that he paid Dugas the sum
of £23, all the scrip he had upon him, and they
parted the greatest friends in the world. Dugas
even accompanied Mr. Smith to the camp of the
other trapper for whose small catch he insisted in
advancing the funds out of what he had been paid,
to be returned at Mr. Smith’s convenience.!

‘“Nevertheless,” the latter used to say, com-
menting on this episode, ‘I was not without mis-
givings when I returned to my post and the bour-
geois. He made me lay out the skins for inspection
and examined them deliberately in silence, espe-
cially the magnificent black fox. At last he said:
‘And how much did you pay for this?’ I told him,
eight pounds. ‘Eight pounds, eh!” He examined
the skin again. I could not tell from his manner
whether he was pleased or angry. ‘Eh, well,’ he
said at last, — ‘you did n't do so badly —for a
youngster, not so badly. It’s worth about double
that.””

Next season when Dugas came to the post he
sent on in advance to enquire for his friend, Mr.
Donald Smith. And when, a year or two later, his
young friend was transferred to another post in the
Department, Mr. Smith was by no means aston-
ished to receive a visit from Dugas, who informed

1 Memorandum by Chief Factor Hamilton.
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him that he had suffered a terrible bereavement in
the loss of his wife, but that he was shortly to
be married again as soon as the priest came, and
earnestly desired Mr. Smith to assist at the cere-
mony.

From Donald’s letters of this period there are
numerous references to his life and neighbours. For
example, in one he writes to his sister Margaret: —

I think you would have to travel the whole world
over to find a greater contrast to the Scotch than these
same Indians. If civilization consists in frugality and
foresight, then the Montagnais are far worse than dogs,
who at least have sense enough to bury a bone against
an evil day. In some of their lodges even before winter
has properly begun, their rations have come to an end.
Everything about the place has been swallowed that
can be swallowed and starvation stares them in the
face. They stalk in the tracks of a solitary caribou
and in the excitement forget their own hunger, but this
does not make their families forget theirs. The caribou
eludes them. They wander farther afield and at length
bring down a bear. They cut him up and return to
find their families dying or dead, which is what hap-
pened last month near Manwan Lake.

In another letter he observes: —

The Indians hereabouts are careless about every-
thing, but they do pay some attention to the welfare of
the beaver. I have known of their leaving a beaver
lodge only half destroyed when they might have taken
the whole of the occupants.

Pére Leblanc related a curious thing, that Canada
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and Quebec are Montagnais words, the former mean-
ing ‘‘going and coming from some place,” and the
latter, ‘‘land here.” He has often heard an Indian call
out “Quebec’’ when he wanted the canoe to put ashore.
I tried it myself on my guide to-day, and he under-
stood at once. 1 made him repeat it, and to me it
sounded more like ‘‘Ke-buc” or “boc.” But it is an
altogether different derivation from that accepted by
the historians of this country.

There was ever from boyhood a strain of super-
stition in Donald Smith’s character, doubtless in-
herited from Gaelic ancestors. He strongly in-
clined to a belief in ‘‘second sight,’’ in a mysterious
prevision of events, of which his own experience
furnished numerous instances. More than once
he himself had had what are termed ‘‘veridical”
dreams. It was in January, 1841, that he dreamed
that he saw his elder and favourite sister Margaret,
lying stretched on her death-bed. Her arms were
extended as if to take a final adieu of her bro-
ther, while her lips formed mutely a heartrending,
“Donald! O Donald!”

He had not heard of Margaret’s illness; but he
said next morning to a friend, James Anderson,
“My sister Margaret is dead.”

Some months later a letter from his mother ar-
rived. It told him that his sister had passed away
on the 12th of January preceding, the very hour,
allowing for the difference in longitude, on which
he had dreamed of her death.

It is a pleasant coincidence that the William
Jordan, of whom Ballantyne speaks, should have
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been also one of Donald Smith’s friends. “A fine-
looking athletic half-breed, who had been partially
educated, but had spent much more of his life
among Indians than amongst civilized men."”

Mr. Smith's costume, as he mentions, at that
time consisted of a red flannel shirt and étoffe du
pays, or homespun trousers, deerskin moccasins,
and a woollen tuque. When he travelled he took a
sled on which was a box, containing his blanket,
and kettle. He also carried a hunting-knife and a
rifle, and sometimes several traps. It must be con-
fessed that to the end of his days of service in the
Company, Donald Smith remained an indifferent
hand with firearms. Southey, in his Life of Nelson,
relates that the shooting of the great sea-captain
was very dangerous for his companions, ‘‘for he
carried his gun upon the full cock and the moment
a bird rose he let fly without ever putting the fowl-
ing-piece to his shoulder.” It was therefore related
with great pride by his family that he once shot a
‘partridge. Similarly, Donald Smith once shot a
wolf, which unprecedented event was briefly nar-
rated in a letter to his mother.

Nor, although there was a horse at the post at
Tadousac and he himself introduced this noble
animal at a later day into Labrador, was he ever
able to ride or drive expertly.’

All the country to the north-east of here [Tadousac]
is the Montagnais country as far as Swanipie where you
meet the Nascopies and after that the Esquimaux. I
have tried to ascertain how many Montagnais or
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Mountaineers there are. Some say 5000, which is prob-
ably a high figure.

I was astonished to see the Montagnais in the woods
teaching their children to read according to the prin-
ciples they had imbibed from the missionaries. Time
hangs heavily on their handsand they turnin the family
circle for entertainment to the alphabet.

Many of the Roman Catholic missionaries be-
came Mr. Smith’s intimate friends. He came to
know and correspond with PP. Roy and Paquet, as
he did afterwards with PP. Renaud, Babel, and Fer-
land, and a generation later it was a pious and earn-
est missionary priest, the venerable Pére Lacombe,
who became one of his warmest friends in the
Canadian North-West.

You must not be surprised [he wrote as early as
1844] to hear that I am very friendly with the Catholic
missionaries of this country whenever and wherever I
find them. The Company’s policy has always been
well disposed towards these brave men: and I am so on
personal grounds. The priest at L'Anse St. Jean is a
kindly young man, who has suffered many hardships
and is ready to suffer more without complaint. I owe
a good deal of my proficiency in French and many hours
of companionship to him.

Later on, we shall find him making overtures to
the Moravian missionaries of Labrador. There are
several references to Mr. Smith in the Moravian
reports, as in those of Pére Babel and others ad-
dressed to the Société de la Propagation de la Foi.

Godbout, another place where Mr. Smith was
stationed, was called after the captain of the Com-
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pany'’s sloop of that name and was established in
1821. In 1846 he writes: —

I went on a visit to Egg Island to-day, wherein 1711
Admiral Sir Hovenden Walker’s fleet was wrecked and
eleven hundred men perished. I had the story of this
catastrophe from Pére Robert down to the last detail.
The fleet was on its way to capture Quebec when a
storm arose one August night and dashed it to pieces.
The French regarded it as an intervention of Provi-
dence and rechristened their church at Quebec * Notre
Dame des Victoires” after the event. The huge rock
upon which the vessels stranded is to this day called
“Pointe aux Anglais.” Several cannon have been
dragged up here and one is at Mingan. Other articles
have been washed up or found at low tide. The island
is still a very dangerous place for ships and should have
a light.?

From Bersimits he wrote: —

This river Bersimits is about two hundred and fifty
miles long, but extraordinarily narrow at its mouth —
an arpent and a quarter. Fifteen miles up you come
across the first portage. It is full of salmon and trout
and brochet, but owing to the rapids very hard to
catch with the fly. ‘

Some of his observations on Indian customs are
interesting: —

A Montagnais will take a piece of birch bark and
mark down a few characters in his own language and
roll it up and suspend it from a tree somewhat isolated
from the rest in the forest, along a route more or less

1 One was erected there in 1870, largely as a result of his own re-
presentations two years previously.
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frequented by hunters. It may hang there for a week
or a month or two, but some day a Montagnais will
come along and see it and read the address, such as
Bersimits or Mingan or Musquarro and if he is going
that way will carry it along the route and again sus-
pend it until another sees it and by degrees it reaches
its destination.

The great preoccupation of the Indian is not to be
idle or to amuse himself or to hunt or to fish, but to
find food. They would never hunt at all if they were
not forced to do it by fear of hunger. Supply him with
plenty of provisions, enough to last all winter, and
there will be few martens trapped. When I saw a
Mountaineer going off with four or five barrels of flour
in his canoes, I knew he would do little until that was
eaten up. Of economy and frugality they know noth-
ing. They live from hand to mouth and never can
tell of what their dinner to-morrow will consist until
they trap or shoot it. It may be bear or partridge or
caribou or beaver or salmon. The flesh satisfied their
hunger and the skins — a secondary consideration —
they sell to the trader.

The Company had had a post at Mingan since
the middle of the eighteenth century. Owing to
certain difficulties with the Mingan seigneur, they
established a post first of all on Havre Island, the
largest of the islets which close the port; and this
is still the property of the Company. There is a
building a century and a quarter old, yet in use.

We have here [he wrote] the best harbour on the
coast, owing to the islands shielding it from the winds;
these dot the coast as far as Point aux Esquimaux. In
winter the water between these and the mainland
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A Fire at Mingan

freezes, a great boon for travellers, who can thus walk,
skate, or sleigh by river.

It was at Mingan that a great calamity overtook
him in the burning down of his house at the post.
He was away at the time the fire broke out and on
his return found the whole staff had flung them-
selves zealously into the task of saving his personal
belongings, rather than those belonging to the Com-
pany. It shows a curious trait in his character that
he atonce proceeded tofling hisown clothing, books,
and other effects upon the flames, remarking, ‘‘Let
them go, too, if the Company's goods have gone!”’ !
Under his superintendence another house was
erected which the visitor is shown to-day. The
post is little changed. The little Roman Catholic
chapel —one of the first established in Canada—,
still survives.

No account, however summary, of Donald
Smith’s life at this period should omit mention of
his reading, for arduous and occasionally prolonged
as his duties were, they still left abundant leisure
for the perusal of such books and newspapers as
these more or less remote posts could furnish. I
find him referring to, ashaving read, amongst others,
Plutarch’s Lives, Benjamin Franklin's Correspond-
ence, Tomline’s Life of Pitt. and many old volumes
of the Edinburgh Review.

It was through chance copies of the Montreal Ga-
gette and the Quebec Mercury that he kept in touch
with the outside world, and there are many refer-

1 Iam indebted to Mr. W. D. B. Scott afterwards in charge of
Mingan for this anecdote.
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ences in his early letters to contemporary affairs in
Canada and Britain, a knowledge of which he had
derived, many months later, from the well-worn Ga-
gettes which, passing from hand to hand, and from
post to post, were read and re-read by the young
clerk who even at that time was, even in the solitude
and silence of the bush, keeping himself in the cur-
rent of affairs.

Mr. Smith’s eyes, which had suffered from snow-
blindness, began to give him great pain and anxiety.
An old Indian to whom he showed them alarmed
him by assuring him he would soon be totally blind.

In November, 1847, having written thrice to the
Governor on the subject of his eyesight, he made
up his mind that the urgency of the case would
brook no further delay and so took passage in the

"schooner Marten for Montreal. On the evening of
his arrival he thought it prudent to report himself
immediately to Sir George Simpson and explain
why he had broken the rules of the service. Simp-
son was at dinner at his mansion at Lachine ! when
the butler announced the arrival of Mr. Donald
Smith, of Mingan.

“Bid him wait in the library,” said the Gover-
nor. And while the young man waited, he des-
patched a message to his own medical adviser
asking him to step in for a few moments and
give a friend the benefit of his counsel. He then
appeared to his visitor and in his sternest manner

! The walls of this mansion are now incorporated in those of a
convent opposite. Close to the canal is a small stone building, the
last remaining vestige of the Company’s offices at Lachine.
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demanded what right he had to leave his post
without permission.

“] am threatened with blmdn&ss, sir,”” was the
reply. ‘I addressed several letters to you asking
leave at the close of the season to come up to Mon-
treal and consult a surgeon; but was not favoured
with a reply.”

‘“Threatened with blindness? Pooh, pooh!” de-
clared Simpson. *However; we will look into this."”
Turning to the butler, he said: ‘“Serve dinner to
Mr. Donald Smith. Afterwards, we will see what
the doctor has to say in the matter.”

After dinner, which, hungry though he was,
Donald had little relish for, he appeared before
his host, and the doctor, who, having been made
acquainted with all the circumstances of the case,
made a rapid examination, and although providing
a remedy, declared there was nothing serious the
matter with the young man’s visual organs.

“No danger of blindness?’’ asked the Governor.

“Oh, dear, no, Sir George, — none whatever,”
returned the doctor.

“Then,” continued the autocrat, more sternly
than ever, although aware that the doctor had
already suggested the very treatment for which
Smith had made his journey, “this appears to me
a serious case of indiscipline. It is now eight
o'clock” — here he took out his watch. “I will
give you thirty minutes to leave Montreal for your
new post.”

“My new post?’ faltered Smith.

“Yes; you are appointed to the Esquimaux Bay
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District and will report yourself forthwith to Mr.
Nourse at North-West River Post. There will be
no stage available at Quebec for Bersimits. You
will proceed on foot via Seven Islands and Mingan
to St. Augustine and from thence overland. Good-
night, sir.”” And the inflexible and inexorable Gov-
ernor turned on his heel.

For a moment the young man hesitated, the
spirit of rebellion surging within him. In after
years he asked a friend what course he would have
pursued at such a juncture. The friend did not
hesitate. :

“I should have told Sir George Simpson to go
straight to h—1, and to take the Hudson’s Bay
Company with him,” he responded.

Lord Strathocona’s eye twinkled under his shaggy
brows.

“Well,” he said slowly, ‘I too felt like that for a
moment. Then I said to myself, ‘If Governor
Simpson can bring himself to give such an order as
that, I can bring myself to carry it out.” And I
went.” -

The journey was in bitter weather, slow and tedi-
ous, owing to the snowdrifts. At Bersimits, Smith
procured two Montagnais guides, but they were
both quite incompetent, and were only tempted by
the bribe of pork and flour which Mr. Smith prom-
ised them on reaching Seven Islands, for they had
not departed with their fellows on the northern
hunt, had long since run short of provisions, and the
agent at Bersimits had lost patience with them.
Paul, the younger of the pair, was a good-looking
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A Tragic Journey

fellow of eighteen, already married and a father.
On the fourth day they lost their way in a blinding
storm, and after resting two days in the woods be-
side a fire which they kindled with great difficulty,
they pressed on. In some manner they bore to
the north and struggled on without making Seven
Islands, where Mr. Smith had intended a halt. The
situation soon became serious. Usually, the Indian
plan of discovering the cardinal points of the com-
pass — that is, by cutting off a section of the bark
of a tree, the thickest portion indicating the north
—can be relied upon. But where a route is un-
usually tortuous, or where trees are scarce or imma-
ture, or the traveller inexpert, the test fails to help
him, and he may drift slowly but surely to destruc-
tion. Moreover, Mr. Smith began to suffer from
frozen feet, and his sight, in spite of the remedies he
carried, again gave him acute pain.

The greatest danger lay in the exhaustion of the
food supply. Beyond a ptarmigan or two, they
were able to shoot nothing. Gradually the trio
grew weaker, and at the end of ten days, Paul com-
plained of giddiness and exhaustion, and declared
that he could not march another step. That night
they had a little moss for supper boiled with the
skin of a beaver. Mr. Smith and the elder Indian
spent the next day reconnoitring for food. They
returned toward nightfall with the remains of a
marten to find Paul very ill, indeed. That night
was bitterly cold; the fire went out, and he died.
In the morning his companions wrapped him care-
fully in his blanket and suspended the body in a
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tree, according to the Montagnais custom. Six days
later the pair of survivors arrived at Mingan, where
a Mr. Verrall was in charge, in a state little to be
envied. Latterly, although they had not actually
starved, their food was raw and unsavoury.

Verrall and his wife extended a cordial welcome
to their visitor, a warm repast was prepared, and
Mr. Smith attacked it ravenously.

Generous as was the hospitality of the Verralls,
the young clerk’s troubles were not yet over. It was
now the middle of January and he had to push on
somehow to St. Augustine River in order to reach
the trail leading to Esquimaux Bay, hundreds of
miles to the north. Again he set out and reached
Musquarro. The bourgeois there, Mr. Robert Ham-
ilton, saw that the young traveller was utterly
worn out, and, without appearing to disregard Gov-
ernor Simpson’s orders, resolved to keep Mr. Smith
through the winter. Smith could not proceed with-
out guides and one of the post Indians, Joseph Obé,
was despatched in search of them, who, as was to be
expected, were not forthcoming until the approach
of spring.

Meanwhile, having enjoyed necessary rest and
recuperation for a few weeks, at the end of April,
1848, a couple of guides and a canoe were procured,
and he ascended the St. Augustine River. After
three weeks’ travel he struck into the Grand River,
crossed Goose Bay, and duly reported himself to
Chief Trader William Nourse at North-West River,
at that time the chief of the Labrador posts of the
Company.




CHAPTER 1V
HIS PROMOTION AND MARRIAGE
1848-1853

LABRADOR, vast, dreary, and solitary plateau as
it is, is not all dreariness and solitude. Into those
forbidding battlements of ice and rock a great
arterial channel penetrates for one hundred and
twenty miles to receive rivers and rivulets emanat-
ing from the very bosom of the wilderness.

A generation before Donald Smith's day, this
wide estuary was known as Invucktoke (or Sea-
Cow) Bay, from the uncouth animal then occa-
sionally to be seen about its shores. A few years
later, and they had altogether disappeared. These
waters, now known variously as Esquimaux Bay,
Hamilton Inlet, and Gros Water Bay, were forty
miles wide at the entrance, gradually contracting
until the “Narrows’ are reached, fifty miles in-
land, when they expand from the width of a mile
and a half to a veritable inland sea.

It has been compared to an hour-glass, this great
Esquimaux Bay, with its narrow waist, through
which the tide ebbs and flows. Between here and
the shores of Ungava Bay stretches a great dividing
ridge across which barrier the Esquimaux tribes of

"the North and South rarely, if ever, passed. Each
became, therefore, a separate race, and this had
of yore been the meeting-place of the southern
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Esquimaux. The latter, for at least half a century
previously, had not dwelt in ice houses, or dressed
wholly in furs, or carried their children in the hoods
of their kossaks; but had largely adopted European
dress and many of the white man's habits and cus-
toms. They favoured Invucktoke Bay, because it
afforded them in abundance all the things they
coveted, whales, seals, codfish, salmon, trout, her-
ring, and numerous sea-fowl; and now the surviv-
ing remnant of their race resorted thither owing
to the presence of the posts of the Hudson’s Bay
Company.

To the traveller who has been days in the con-
templation of the grim scenery of the Labrador
coast, a sail up Esquimaux Bay must always re-
main a memorable experience. The very atmos-
phere, shaking off the sea fog, takes on an empur-
pled warmth. In the distance scores of islands
emerge vaguely through the haze; others on nearer
view are seen to be overgrown with dwarf spruce
and dark green clumps of alder. Moving westward,
the high wooded bluffs, rocks, hills, and distant
mountains replace the bare, dark, and featureless
shore. On the left is a lofty wooded peak known
as Mount Nat, up whose slopes the deer flee in
summer to escape their insect tormentors. As the
traveller continues his westward course, the scen-
ery shifts constantly, the trees take on large growth
and the country becomes more generally wooded;
Mealy Mountains loom up fifty or sixty miles
away, their snow-clad summits gleaming in the
sun. Close at hand in the water is the frequent
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apparition of a whale, blindly following the tide,
and spouting as he rises; seals emerging from the
waves to stare at the little ship and disappearing;
grampuses frolicking derisively; and in the air
strange sub-Arctic birds hover, an easy prey to the
most inexpert gunner; saddle-back gulls, bottle-
nosed ducks, eiders, hagdon, auks, puffins, gannets,
and sea pigeons. At the entrance to the Narrows
— the neck of the hour-glass — the hills on either
side tower to the height of a thousand feet, forming
a spruce-clad shadowy portal for miles. Through
this channel the waters of the vast inland Melville
Lake sweep with irresistible force. More than one
ship and frail craft, unable to cope with this mad
rush of water, has shared the fate of the Cleopa-
tra man-of-war, and dashed through this foaming
space to destruction. Thus, all shipping must come
and go with the tide, save the small craft that can
take advantage of the eddies and the favourable
breeze. Halfway through this foam-splashed gorge
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s post of Rigolet,
named from the adjoining rivulet by the French-
Canadian traders who built it in 1791, is visible,
with the Company'’s red flag floating from the usual
tall staff fixed in the ground, before the agent’s
house.

There are a number of buildings belonging to the
post, comprising dwellings for the officers and ser-
vants, as well as storehouses for furs, sales-shops,
cooper'’s shop, oil-house, fish-house, packing-house,
and oven-house. Two of the buildings erected by a
couple of eighteenth-century French traders from

99



Lord Strathcona

Montreal still survived, the nucleus of the estab-
lishment, and which became the property of the
MacGillivrays and the North-West Company.
After leaving Rigolet, bold wooded bluffs con-
tinue through the Narrows. At the terminus is a
cluster of islands, abreast of which the eye sweeps
over a broad sea. The huge Mealy Mountains, two
miles away, run parallel with the southern shore of
this sea, curious, bizarre, ugly, upstanding masses,
which have been compared to a succession of co-
lossal thumbs, or gigantic haycocks, half tumbled
over by sportive Titans. One of these, a thousand
feet high, called the Broken Mountain, is shaped
like a huge inverted bowl, rent asunder from top to
bottom. Forty miles from Rigolet is another such
hill or mountain, probably cavernous, for those
dwelling in the vicinity assert that a man walk-
ing upon its top gives forth an echo beneath him
as if he strolled on an empty cask, audible for a
greatdistance. Farther on stands an isolated peak,
to which Mr. Smith himself gave the title of the
“Clerk” from its resemblance to a cloaked figure,
seated in the posture of writing. Opposite this
point Melville Lake is studded with threescore
or more islands, and a few miles farther on, after
rounding the low headland, a small cove unexpect-
edly appears. Here empties the North-West River,
and a mile and a half up is the long line of build-
ings belonging to the Company’s trading post. In
1848 there were only three or four buildings in all.
The surroundings are picturesque. The course of
the river is soon hidden in the recesses of sombre
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forest; in the near distance are green-clad hills of
varying verdure, with blue mountains beyond; in
the foreground sandy soil and patches of turf, al-
ready quickened by the warmth of spring.

Ten miles to the north stands a prominent
mountain peak, known as Makaumé, forming a
conspicuous landmark throughout the region. The
Mountaineers (Montagnais) call it Pootakaboosh-
kow (“That which rises up’’) and invest it with
supernatural attributes, as other tribes do with the
rock at Mistassini. They never, in passing, point
at or refer to it, believing that if they do so they
would invite storms or other misfortunes. Indeed
superstition with reference to striking natural ob-
jects is very rife. As for the mysterious Grand
Falls, the Indians firmly believed it was the haunt
of evil spirits and that death would quickly over-
take the audacious traveller who dared to gaze
upon that mighty descent of waters.

North-West River, at the time of which I write,
was the chief station of the Company on the At-
lantic seaboard. The Grand River flows into the
Bay about twenty-five miles distant.

It was to this post and to such a scene as this
that Donald Alexander Smith was introduced at
the end of his long journey overland from the St.
Lawrence. In the house distinguished by the tall
staff before its door dwelt Chief Trader William
Nourse. This old officer had had a long and varied
experience in the Company’s service and was then
on the point of retirement. Mr. Smith discovered
that he had already departed for Rigolet to meet
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the annual Company's ship from Montreal, which
discharged its cargo and passengers at that post.

When Mr. Smith arrived at North-West River,
the Nascopies had already come down from the
interior with their furs, dwelling in the numerous
skin-covered lodges arranged in a wide circle near
the post. For a long period the Nascopies were the
deadly foes of the Esquimaux, whom they held in
contempt and against whom they waged constant
war. Little was known of their origin or their abid-
ing-place. Travellers had not then penetrated to
their retreat to learn their customs and reveal them
to the world. Up to about eight years previously
(1840) they had held no intercourse with the whites.
They were the simplest of savages. They believed
in a Supreme Being, the author of all good, and also
in a Bad Spirit; to each of whom they offered sac-
rifices. Their women were abject slaves. Polygamy
ruled, the man marrying as many wives as he could
support. The aged were killed, the nearest relative
being appointed executioner.

The establishment of the Company’s trading
posts caused many of the Nascopies to become
partially civilized, and eager for trade. To Fort
Nascopie and North-West River they repaired in
the early summer, in canoes laden with the spoils
of their winter hunt. After spending a week or ten
days in bartering their furs and pelts for the Com-
pany’s goods, they reémbarked in their birchen
fleets and were seen no more until the following
spring.

Altogether this tribe scarce numbered more than
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a thousand souls. Owing to a terrible mortality
which a little later overtook them, their number
in 1860 was reckoned at no more than five hundred.

They spoke a dialect of the Cree language, al-
most identical with that spoken on the North
Pacific coast. In person they were generally tall,
straight, graceful, of light complexion and pleasing
features. By some it was credited that these Labra-
dor Nascopies had a tinge of French blood in their
veins. Even beyond other savages was their pas-
sionate fondness for dress; their native garments
were of softest buckskin, moulded to the figure,
decorated with brilliant pigments, and embroid-
ered in silk, with designs representing birds, flow-
ers, and natural objects. A scarlet sash was worn
over the tunic about the waist, the flowing ends of
which reached to the knees. The squaws were at-
tired in petticoats and trousers of a cut and quality
much inferior to their lords’ and masters’. On their
heads were tall conical caps of bright-hued flannel,
ornamented with beads, and sometimes with bears’
and eagles’ claws. The style of dressing the hair
differed from that of other tribes, the women part-
ing theirs behind, drawing it forward and dressing
it in oval-shaped bunches on either side of the
head, while the men wore theirs in queues, deco-
rated with beads, and terminating in a bead tassel.
An indispensable article of dress was the long fur
gauntlet, which was held in place by a thong passed
over the shoulders. Gradually a number came to
adopt the dress of the whites, but countenanced
only the finest cloth, and that of the gaudiest col-
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ours. Chief Thomas Chimo, who succeeded Chief
Paytabais, was partial to lace. Chimo is described
as a man of fifty years, short in stature, and boast-
ing of but one arm, the other having been shot off
by accident. On that occasion he was, with true
Indian stoicism, his own surgeon, amputating the
mangled limb with his hatchet. :

Nomadic in their habits, the Nascopies rarely
lingered even in mid-winter for more than a week
in one spot. In every direction they traversed
the snow-clad forests, setting their traps wherever
game seemed prevalent, or tracking the caribou in
his mossy feeding-ground. In these quests their
worldly goods were hauled upon sleds, all marching
in single file, the better to make a beaten track,
the post of leader being taken in rotation. The
sleds were fashioned of thin birchen boards, turned
up in front, like a toboggan. At night when they
grew weary and camped, they thrust their legs
into capacious bags lined with eider-down, which
ensured them a warm slumber. The spoils of the
chase were equally divided amongst the party. A
successful hunt was followed by a feast lasting
four or five days, until a disgusting surfeit produced
exhaustion. For small game bows and arrows were
used, but for the larger animals they had adopted
firearms in the use of which they soon became
singularly expert.

As indispensable as were the bison or buffaloes
to the Western tribes or as seals to the Esquimaux
were the native deer or caribou to the Nascopies.
These were very numerous, ranging in herds from
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the coast of Labrador to the interior and back
again, following regular routes of travel at certain
seasons of the year, so that the sagacious hunter
was nearly always able to trace them to their
haunts. As is the case with most of the birds and
animals of the North their colour alters. In summer
they are of a dark grey and in winter white, a pro-
tecting provision of nature against their enemies.
It has been said that, ‘ when man goes forth upon
the snow to hunt, where upon the spotless mantle
the smallest dark object would be readily detected,
then they are robed in white. The white partridge
flies up from his very feet, where he perceived but
lumps of feathery snow. The deer, bear, fox, er-
mine — all clad in white — pass him with impun-
ity. In the summer they are slaty and mouse-
coloured, like the rocks, or wood-coloured, like the
trees; and in many an imaginary rock, stick, or
stub there is animal life, which will take to itself
legs or wings when opportunity of easy escape
offers.”’!

Such were the Nascopies with whom Donald

1 A clerk at Mingan, writing to ex-Chief Trader William Kennedy
in 1855, says: ‘‘Starvation has, I learn, committed.great havoc
among your old friends the Nascopies, numbers of whom met their
death from want last winter; whole camps of them were found dead,
without one survivor to tell the tale of their sufferings; others sus-
tained life in a way most revolting — by using as food the dead bod-
ies of their companions; some even bled their own children to death,
and sustained life with their bodies!” In another letter it was stated,

“At Fort Nascopie, the Indians were dying, dozens by starvation;
and among other, your old friend, Paytabais.” Such incidents,in-
separable from the Indian’s mode of life and his improvidence, could
not be guarded against, for once provisions were exhausted at the
fort, it took weeks to renew them.
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Smith was now destined to become intimately
acquainted, as he had previously become familiar
with the Montagnais or Mountaineers, and amongst
whom he came to number many personal friends.
A report which he wrote upon them in the winter
of 1851-52 has unfortunately been lost.! There are
many passages in his letters and reports concerning
the Nascopies.

After a brief sojourn at North-West River, Mr.
Smith departed to report himself to his superior
officer, in company with a clerk named James
Grant, leaving another clerk, Joseph MacPherson
in charge of the post. He arrived at Rigolet on the
3d of July, 1848. A few days later the Company’s
supply ship had arrived and all was bustle and
confusion.

This [wrote a visitor a dozen years later?] is the
liveliest portion of the year at the Company’s post.
Long days of active labour, and nights of mirth and
gayety, from which brief hours are snatched for re-
pose, fill up the fleeting respite of a rigorous winter.
Esquimaux foupiks dot the shore, swarming with the
swarthy tenants, who have assembled to barter the
season’s catch of salmon, sealskins, and oil. The few
white settlers on the Bay are here for a like purpose.
Trade goes briskly on in the long salesroom of the
shop. The Company’s vessel has carried her annual
freight of “returns” to the dépdt at Cartwright's, and
is now here awaiting a fair wind to convey the yearly

1 ]t was burnt, together with many of Lord Strathcona's early pa-
pers at the Board of Trade Building fire in Montreal some years ago.

* Charles Hallock, now (1915) Dean of the Smithsonian Institu-
tion, Washington. ' '
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supplies to the ‘‘North-West” station and interior
posts. A few Nascopies have straggled down from
above in full panoply of beads and buckskin. There
is Michelet, an old Canadian voyageur, with his Es-
quimaux wife and seven children, each of them, from
the mother to the babe, gifted with an extra pair of
perfectly formed fingers and toes— a six-fingered fam-
ily, and Oliver, an Orkneyman, one of the hardiest
and most trustworthy of the Company’s servants, and
the best dog-driver on the Bay. He has driven from
Rigolet to North-West River and back, one hundred
and twenty miles, in eighteen hours, changing dogs
but once.

Besides the Nascopies, a few Esquimaux frequent
the post at Rigolet, but they are a perishing race
in spite of the efforts of the Moravian missionaries.
They were even then rapidly diminishing — so
rapidly that it was easy to mark, within a genera-
tion, the progress toward extinction of a nation
(the great Innusit, i.e., the people) that once con-
trolled more than five thousand miles of seacoast,
and were wont to consider themselves as numerous
as the waves of the sea. There has always been
much speculation concerning the origin of this
people. The fact that the skins of their infants are
fair and white, which grease, smoke, and filth
eventually darken, proves that they have nothing
in common with the other native races of this con-
tinent. They are probably allied to the Lapps,
whom they resemble in many respects. That a
family of Esquimaux actually crossed to Labrador
from the north shore of Hudson Strait, in 1839, on
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a raft constructed of driftwood, as stated by Chief
Trader McLean, then resident at Ungava Bay,
suggests that these people originally came from
Asia. It is certain that they are a people of supe-
rior intelligence, with a written language, identical
from Labrador to Behring Straits.

In 1848, probably not more than a thousand
were living south of the Ungava district. In 1860
the entire Esquimaux population of Labrador was
estimated by the head of the Moravian Mission
at scarce more than this number. By general con-
sent the influence of the Moravians was beneficial.
Polygamy for instance, once common, had become
rare. An old patriarch of the Bay, known as “Ike
the Mormon,” had in Mr. Smith’s time five wives,
but his case was exceptional, for marriages were
contracted under the Moravian ritual, and Ike's
marital relations must have been assumed without
sanction. Moreover, large numbers were saved by
the Moravians from starvation. They were taught
to be industrious and provident. At each of the
four mission stations the quaint, two-storey, red-
painted chapel arose from a cluster of native huts.
There were gardens where the more hardy vegetables
were raised, a store, and workshops for the native
tradesmen. Whatever provisions the Esquimaux
procured were placed at the missionaries’ disposal,
and by them distributed in the best manner for the
general good. Waste and improvidence were thus
guarded against. In times of scarcity the Brethren
opened their own stores for distribution. The prod-
uct of the winter hunt and summer fisheries were
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disposed of in trade, and shipped in a vessel which
sailed annually to England; but the profits accru-
ing were thrown into the general fund.

Very early was Mr. Smith’s interest excited in
the work of the Moravians, and a visit paid to
their rude farm at Hebron first turned his atten-
tion to the agricultural possibilities of Esquimaux
Bay and ultimately to his own model farm and
dairy at North-West River.

It was at Rigolet that summer that Mr. Smith
made the acquaintance of Mr. Henry Connolly,
the clerk in charge of the post, destined to be a life-
long friend and his own successor as agent in Es-
quimaux Bay.?

Returning to North-West River, a new scene of
energy presented itself. John McLean had estab-
lished for the Company, a decade before, the in-
terior post of Nascopie, at the height of land three
hundred miles to the west. Annually in the late
summer the voyageurs prepared for their arduous
journey to Fort Nascopie. Two batteaux heavily
laden with the supplies were each manned by eight
stalwart men. When all was ready they bade
their companions at North-West River farewell,
and with hearty cheers pulled away. After smooth
water, the portages began, fifty miles of the great
dividing ridge separating the waters that flow north
and west of Hudson’s Bay, and south to the River
and Gulf of St. Lawrence had to be climbed. The

1 Mr. Connolly was the son of Chief Factor William Connolly, one
of the pioneers in New Caledonia. He entered the Company’s ser-
vice in 1837, and left it in 1875 with the rank of Chief Trader. He
died in 1900.

109



Lord Strathcona

face of the country is wholly altered, the rocks are
jagged and precipitous, abounding in rifts and ra-
vines, with lofty waterfalls. The merchandise was
strapped upon the backs of the voyageurs, one hun-
dred and eighty pounds to each man, who, climb-
ing the steep ascent with comparative ease, trans-
ferred their burdens to the canoes previously
carried to the slack water above. No fewer than
twenty falls and rapids were passed in the journey,
each involving a portage. One of these cata-
racts was among the highest in the world, known
as the Grand Fall. Itis two hundred and seventy
miles from the coast, and was discovered by Chief
Trader McLean in 1838. Three miles above the
fall the river suddenly contracts from a width of
six hundred to one hundred yards; then rushing
along its gloomy channel in a continuous, foaming
rapid, again contracts to a width of fifty yards,
leaps through a cloud of ever-rising spray into a
chasm four hundred feet deep, and then roars and
foams through zigzag walls of rock, three hundred
feet high, for a distance of thirty miles. The roar
of the Grand Fall can be heard twelve miles away,
and the spray that rises from the chasm can be
seen that distance in clear weather. At the verge
the precipice vibrates fearfully, and it is almost
impossible to see the basin into which the plunge
is made, for it is concealed from view by an abrupt
angle which the rocks form immediately below. The
mighty gorge itself is not apparent to the visitor un-
til his feet are nearly upon the dizzy brink, so level is
the ground and so precipitous the impending walls.
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A détour of twenty miles through a chain of lakes
and streams was found necessary to circumvent
the Grand Fall. The whole journey occupies a
month. Fort Nascopie is just halfway to Ungava
Bay. The Company formerly had a post called
Fort Chimo, upon a river of that name, near the
Bay, but Sir George Simpson abandoned it as un-
profitable. It was reserved to Chief Factor Donald
Smith to reopen this post and the whole of the
abandoned Ungava district. Northward to Ungava
Bay the character of the country is distinguished
by alternate belts of heavy timber and bare hills,
interspersed with lakes, rivers, and streams of
varied extent. From Fort Nascopie there are trails
leading to the Company's territory in the Far
West, and there were several in Mr. Smith’s day
who had actually traversed the vast distance be-
tween North-West River and the Red River of the
North.

We here inland [he wrote in 1850] have little rea-
son to complain. Although the coast is barren we are
favoured with trees such as spruce and larch, birch
and rowan, fir and willow — not at all scrubby, but
many of a girth sufficient for ship’s timber. Then we
have an abundance of berries and of many varieties —
horts or whortleberries, bilberries, cranberries, rasp-
berries, bake-apples and teaberries. We can, if we
choose, make our tea of the Labrador tea-plant and
our beer by boiling the tips of young spruce foliage
and flavoring it with molasses. . . . For one month in
summer we have salmon, and excellent trout all the
year round, catching the latter in winter by cutting a
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hole in the ice and letting down a hook baited with a
piece of raw meat. Down the Bay come great shoals
of kippling every year, which are pursued by devouring
cod, which latter fish, of course, forms the mainstay of
the Labrador fishery. When what is called the kip-
pling school appears, every fisherman on the coast is
on the gus vive with traps and seines, often going with-
out sleep for days together.

The principal food animals here are the caribou and
the black bear. As to our game birds we have par-
tridges, i.e., willow grouse, the Canada goose, and sev-
eral sorts of duck.

In the summer time the plague of black flies and
mosquitoes rendered life a hardship. Fifty years
later Lord Strathcona described grimly to Lady
Aberdeen the ravages they made. ‘“He told us of
the terrors of the Labrador mosquitoes and how
they have vanquished men who would fly from no
other enemy. He instanced one case in which a
friend of his was so sensitive to their bites that he
had to stop every half-hour on the march to wash
away the blood from his head and face.”

When winter came there were traps to set, and
many long tramps on snowshoes and occasionally
with the dogs to visit them. The very first winter
his fellow clerk, Joseph MacPherson, was sent on a
mission to a distant band of trappers. He lost his
way and eventually came to the Grand Fall, the
second white man, it is believed, to behold that
marvel. MacPherson had a narrow escape from
perishing by hunger, but managed to hold out until
he could gain Fort Nascopie.
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Both at Rigolet and North-West River, there
were officials known as head-packer and storeman.
During the busy season Mr. Smith, superintending
the work, ‘“‘never seemed to find time to sleep.”

What a clerk of a somewhat later day wrote was
true of Donald Smith’s youth: —

I was kept continually on the move attending to
the packing account, telling the men whose provisions
were weighed how much they came to at so many
pence per pound, and then marking down each article
they got in exchange, with frequent pauses to tell the
Indian how much in pounds, shillings, and pence he
had left. The same with furs, merely exchanged for
their value in goods; for our traders and interpreters
found it difficult to calculate in the complicated pound,
shilling, and pence standard which had recently been
introduced, instead of the well and easily understood
‘““Made Beaver” standard. Whoever was the Hud-
son’s Bay official who superseded the simple ‘‘skin
way " for the “‘money way’’ of trading with Indians,
he certainly gave us no end of torment and trouble.
It was alleged that the object of the change was to
meet competition by paying the Indians full value
for their products and do away with the old estab-
lished system of giving them gratuities in the way
of ammunition and other articles, including, I think,
‘““regales” of rum before Swain River was put on the
‘Hudson’s Bay Company's list of teetotal districts.
Now an Indian was never satisfied with a trade which
was a fair and exact change at the fixed prices of the
time, until he had received ‘‘something for nothing”’
on the top of the transaction. It did not matter if a
trader raised the prices of furs and lowered the prices
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of goods to him on the distinct understanding that no
present was to be expected or given, the Indian always
insisted on that ‘‘something for nothing,” so dear to
all man and womankind, at the end of the barter. So
what between the elaborate lecture on the mysteries
of British sterling currency, without the aid of the
never visible actual coin for demonstration purposes,
which I had to deliver on nearly every important
trade in which I took part, and the abeolute failure of
the exposition to enlighten the Indian on it, I had
many a vexing hour, and in explaining too, that it was
" beyond my power to alter the new and odious system,!

It was the custom amongst the traders when furs
were brought in by the Indians to examine them
hastily and pitch them into a corner. Lord Strath-
cona used to recall that when the elder Connolly
was transferred to the Montreal department, where
paper money was in vogue, he found great difficulty
in accustoming himself to its use. On one occasion
a man entered the store and, purchasing articles to
the amount of twenty shillings, tendered a one-
pound note, which Connolly absent-mindedly threw
into a corner along with the peltries, where it was
luckily found next moming. '

Not long was the newly-arrived trader in explor-
ing his surroundings. Just across from the mouth
of the North-West River, on the south side of
Lake Melville, is a small bay into which empties
the Kenamou and Kenamich Rivers. The former
stream is much the larger and drains an extensive
area of the highlands to the south-west. It is so

! Trader Isaac Cowie.
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rapid and full of shoals as to be practically un-
navigable. Above North-West River the inlet has
been silted up by sand brought down and deposited
by the Hamilton River, which flows into the head
of the inlet. Extending from the north shore just
above North-West River is a long, narrow point,
which separates the shallows from the deeper por-

_tion of the inlet, the upper part being called Goose
Bay. This is twenty miles long and at its head it
receives a small river, famous for the large brook
trout that have been taken here in the fall of the-
year. Here Donald Smith was wont to fish, and
many a finny prize rewarded his patience and skill
in the days before the increase of the Company’s
salmon business detained him until the dawn of
winter at Rigolet or Indian Harbour. !

In Lake Melville was situated Gull Island, which
enjoyed much local fame by reason of a native
romance and tragedy which Donald Smith duly re-
lates. It seems that a young and good-looking half-
breed laid siege to the heart of an Esquimaux
maiden. The girl was won, but not so the parents.
In consequence, the lovers took flight, crossed the
bay in a boat, and landed upon Gull Island. Here
they wandered together gathering wild flowers.
While thus engaged, a storm rose and the placid

1 “He told me that he went out once at Rigolet in an Esqui-
maux kyak and had only gone a short distance from the wharf when
he upeet and nearly drowned before he was rescued, a kyak being a
dangerous craft for a novice to navigate. ‘ That,’ said he, ‘was my
first and last attempt to sail the seas in a kyak. I went straight home
and took a glass of wine, the only time, by the way, I ever tasted
liquor by myself.’ " (Memorandum by ex-Factor Duncan Matheson.)
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bay became a foaming sea. Observing this, the
fond pair hurried to the spot where they had moored
their boat. It was gone, wrenched away from its
moorings. The discovery must have filled them with
despair indeed. To attempt to swim the lake, even
if Esquimaux were skilled in that art, would have
been fatal. Death by starvation, therefore, was in-
evitable, and they evidently perished in each other’s
arms. The following winter, the bay was frozen
over; the girl’s father was driving by with his dog
team when the dogs unaccountably refused to pass
the island. In vain the driver used his whip; the
howling beasts turned aside from the track and
soon began pawing in the snow. A shrivelled arm
was exposed and gradually the bodies of the lovers
were disclosed to view. Adjacent was the broken
thong of deer’s hide, which had served as the boat’s
painter fastened to a rock, and lo, the mystery of
their sad fate was revealed!

At the close of his first year Donald Smith writes
home to his mother, then recently widowed: —

MacPherson and I had an adventure to-day in the
woods. We heard piercing yells, and hastening to-
wards the spot found a rather pretty Esquimaux girl
who had sprained her ankle. Her attempt to walk had
only made it worse; it had swollen to about twice its
normal size. There was nothing to do but to carry her
nearly a mile into the Esquimaux camp. You would
hardly believe that this was a very repugnant task:
as a matter of fact, none in my experience was ever
more so. The odour of these people when they are
sufficiently animated is not very pleasant: the effluvia
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of this young lady was really overpowering, and we
were glad when our job was over, and we deposited her
with her parents. Even then we were considerably
delayed, first by explanation, which at first they re-
fused to believe, and afterwards by their gratitude.
There was a good deal of merriment when we returned
to the house, for the others had somehow got wind of
the affair.!

This was not Smith’s only adventure in which
a damsel of the native races was concerned, for in
1852, — the year, by the way, in which he was ap-
pointed Chief Trader, —he was travelling some
miles from North-West River in the wake of a party
of Nascopies who were suspected of carrying off
some merchandise which did not belong to them,
when he came across the recumbent figure of a
young girl asleep, as he supposed, on the ground,
which was lightly covered with snow. On closer ex-
amination his fears were aroused: the poor creature
was in the last stage of exhaustion. He administered
brandy and she revived sufficiently to let him
know that she had been seized by a terrible illness,
accompanied by delirium, in the midst of which she
had been abandoned by her father and the rest of
the party. How long she had been lying thus in
the open, exposed to the elements without care or

! On another occasion he writes: — “Unless you have actually
been a witness of their table performances you would not believe
what an Esquimaux family can consume at a single sitting. They will
eat such a breakfast as a hearty white man will put away, and this
merely as a relish. I have also seen one man drink eleven cups of
coffee, each with several spoonfuls of sugar as an accompaniment to
a meal of bread, pan-cakes, bear's meat, half-raw fish, and other
delicacies.”
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nourishment, was never known. She was brought
to the factory, but after lingering for eight days, she
died and was buried in the adjacent burying-ground.
It furnished a striking example of the callousness
which is sometimes exhibited by these nomadic
tribes. The excuse they offered was their fatalism.
They had left the girl to the mercies of Manitou,
who would do what He thought best. But it is
more than probable that they suspected smallpox
or some almost equally dreaded disease.

Donald Smith, who had not yet completed his
twenty-eighth year, was still in the first weeks of
what was destined to be a long exile in Labrador
when, a thousand miles away, across the plateau,
midway in the long and lonely trail which led to Red
River, an event was shaping which would exert a
permanent influence on his future life and happi-
ness.

v Late on the afternoon of the 19th of June, 1848, a
young clerk at the Hudson’s Bay post at Mattawa,
where the river of that name empties into the
greater flood of the Ottawa, descried a large Indian
canoe sweep round the distant bend of the river.
Throughout a long life the watcher retained a vivid
recollection of the scene — the grateful warmth of
the evening, the sights and sounds of spring, al-
ways tardy in these regions, the sun’s rays redden-
ing the placid waters, the waving of hands and the
sound of girlish laughter from the still distant canoe,
whose occupants were amongst the first to descend
that season from the icy regions of Hudson’s Bay.
In another moment the whole staff had been sum-
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moned to greet the new arrivals and assist them to
disembark. They proved to be Mr. Richard Hard-
isty, late Chief Trader in the Kinogimmise Dis-
trict, and his family on their way to Montreal. The
family consisted of Mrs. Hardisty (née Sutherland),
a dark, petite creature, still of great beauty, their
daughter Isabella, and two sons, Thomas and
Henry. Of these, Isabella was a most agreeable,
vivacious young lady of nineteen or twenty, who
had lately returned from an English boarding-
school, where she had passed five happy years. All
were accorded a hearty welcome by the factor at
Mattawa; the evening was spent pleasantly and the
next day the Hardistys and their Indian guides
and servants resumed their long journey down the
Ottawa.

On their arrival at Lachine, Mr. Hardisty had an
interview with Governor Simpson, the upshot of
which was that he also found himself transferred to
the Esquimaux Bay district of Labrador. The Com-
pany’s steamer was on the point of starting on her
annual voyage down the St. Lawrence and through
the Straits of Belle Isle to Rigolet and other Lab-
rador stations. Mr. Hardisty, his wife, Isabella, and
another daughter, Maria, who had been at school
in Montreal, embarked in the vessel. They met
many icebergs, but otherwise the voyage was un-
eventful. On arrival at Rigolet, they were met
by Chief Trader Nourse, who surrendered his
charge of Esquimaux Bay into Mr. Hardisty’s
hands, and after a few days’ sojourn conducted the
latter and his family upstream to the more com-
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fortable post of North-West River, which was to be
the home of the Hardistys for some four years, and
of Isabella for nearly twenty.

It was then that Donald Smith and Isabella
Hardisty first met. '

There has been some idle talk concerning the
relationship which subsequently grew out of this
meeting, but it is based on a misconception of the
marriage laws and customs then prevailing in
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s territories. The or-
dinance of marriage there, entered into by the
mutual consent of the parties, was as solemnly re-
spected as it is in Scotland, where the simple con-
sent of both contracting parties is as binding as all
the solemn covenants and ritual of the Church.
In this manner a union between Miss Hardisty
and Mr. Grant had been entered into; but after a
brief but unhappy experience, it was duly annulled.
A few months afterwards, on March 9, 1853, she
married Mr. Smith, who had meantime succeeded
Chief Trader Richard Hardisty in charge of the
district. In the following year, the only child of
this union, the present Baroness Strathcona and
Mount Royal, was born.!

1 She was born on the 17th of January, 1854, and was given the -
names of Margaret Charlotte, the former being that borne by Donald
Smith’s favourite sister, who had died on January 12, 1841.



CHAPTER V
LIFE AT ESQUIMAUX BAY
1853—-1860

““THE life of a Hudson’s Bay factor in Labrador,”
writes one! who in these latter days has made that
country his own in a measure and manner compara-
ble only to Donald Smith’s association with the
peninsula, “ does not offer all the joys of civilization;
but it offers a field to develop courage, muscle, re-
sourcefulness, and self-reliance to an eminent de-
gree. It makes men who shoot straight, fear noth-
ing, and live hard. It offers the simple life, with
its many advantages, and it breeds hospitality, a
brotherliness to one’s kind, a readiness to stand
by any one in distress, that, in our complex life in
cities and even villages, we rarely find ourselves
called on to exercise. Never has a visitor travelled
our coast but his heart has gone'out equally to all
the brave men of these two great organizations, the
Moravian Missions and the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany."

The subject of this memoir led this life for twenty
years. If the land thus moulded, toughened, and
fortified his character, if it exerted an influence
upon any of its traits or of his habits, he in turn

! Dr. W. T. Grenfell, C.M.G., in whose beneficent mission Lord
Snt:ihma took a deep and practical interest, as will be duly nar-
ra
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reacted upon the land.! It was once said by an
American orator that if Providence had sent his
hero to the North Pole, he would have ‘“found a
means of generating heat from polar magnetism,
dissolved a canal between the glaciers to carry to
the Esquimaux market cabbages grown in the
fructifying heat of the Awurora borealis.” Donald
Smith was assuredly something of this type of
man. ‘“So diversified had been his reading in his
younger years,” writes Dr. Robert Campbell,
an old and valued friend, *that few topics could be
started in his presence to which he was not able to
make a contribution. Philosophy, history, politi-
cal economy, medicine, and divinity his stalwart
understanding had studied and made its own.
Left alone with his books and his thoughts, he had
pondered much over the great problems besetting
human life. The self-discipline through which he
passed during these solitary winters in Labrador
made him the strong man, independent alike in his
thinking and acting, that he afterwards showed
himself. Among other volumes in the ‘post’s’
library were works on zodlogy and botany, and
these he perused with great care, so as to enable
him to identify the few animals and plants inhabit-
ing the country which he was wont to traverse.”
Although the descriptions and nomenclature of
the books he studied differed not a little from those
now employed, he knew the things and was able to

1 With all that life behind him, he was able long afterwards to say
that he could look back upon it with gratitude. “A man who has
been frozen and roasted by turns every year,” he added, “must be
the tougher for it, if he survive it at all.”
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differentiate them, while confessing that he could
not attach to them their technical specific names.
He knew all about the polar bear, the walrus, the
eider-duck, and the wild goose, as well as about the
fur-bearing animals, in which as a trader he was an
interested expert. In like manner, he recognized
the mosses, the lichens, and stunted shrubs which
were found growing in the crevices of the rocks on
their surface. He also acquired a clear insight into
the peculiarities of the Esquimaux, of the Montag-
nais and other Indian tribes, with whom business
brought him in contact, and of whom he was ever
ready to become a champion. And as he appre-
ciated their finer native qualities, so they recipro-
cated his kind sympathy with them by reposing in
him implicit confidence. He was to them at once
physician and priest, healing their sick, marrying
them, and burying their dead. His dealings with
the natives helped to make him a keen, shrewd
judge of men. His shaggy brows gave to his eyes a
telescopic look significant of his penetrating per-
ception and far-sightedness. The fuller intercourse
he had with mankind developed his instinctive
politeness which rested on consideration for others.
He became affable to a degree and no one had a
finer courtesy. All these qualities he early showed,
and the influence of the culture he acquired in his
many-sided reading in the wilds of Labrador con-
tinued perceptible throughout his long life. *“Two
useful habits he formed at that time which were of
service to him ever afterwards. One was that of
composition. He became master of a terse, incisive
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style of writing. Twice a year, when the semi-
annual mail arrived and departed, he sent long
letters to his mother in Scotland, detailing his ex-
periences and giving an account of how he passed
his time. The other valuable habit which he early
formed was the saving one. There were, of course,
few temptations for the spending of money at
Hamilton Inlet in any case; but he made it one of
his maxims to lay by one half of his earnings, even
when, in the period of his apprenticeship, his salary
was only two shillings a day.”?

Abstemious and parsimonious as regards him-
self, he was ever seeking to raise the standard of
comfort and material prosperity of those about him
and of those interests confided to his charge. One
of his first acts as Chief Trader was to take steps
to provide the Company’s servants in the district
with a source of wholesome vegetable food. To
accomplish this involved the establishment of a
farm and a somewhat more scientific knowledge of
agriculture than any one on the Bay coast pos-
sessed. His keen eye had already marked the natu-
ral advantages of the land about North-West River.
He proceeded, therefore, to lay out a farm, which,
for a while, excited the derision of the trappers,
fishermen, and “ planters”’ of the entire coast, until
this feeling became changed for one of astonish-
ment and admiration. Two worn, calf-bound vol-
umes which lie before me — Maclntosh’s Book of
the Garden, and Lindley’s Theory and Practice of
Horticulture, the fly leaves of both of which are in-

1 Dr. Robert Campbell.
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scribed,’ Don. A. Smith, North-West River, Esqui-
maux Bay, 1855 "—reveal something of his preoc-
cupations at this time. He sent to the Orkneys
for seeds, for poultry, and for hardy cattle, and to
Canada for horses and sheep. Meanwhile, he had
dug and fertilized the land according to the most
enlightened methods. He early put to the test his
belief in the value of fish offal as a soil fertilizer.
To what perfection in a very few years Mr. Smith’s
farm attained, I offer one piece of testimony as
striking as it is unexpected. It is an account of a
visit paid to Labrador in 1860 by a party of Ameri-
cans of scientific tastes and pursuits, primarily to
observe the solar eclipse of the year. The writer of
the article, Mr. Charles Hallock, afterwards Dean
of the Smithsonian Institute at Washington, de-
scribes how he and some of his more adventurous
companions penetrated up the Bay and landed on
the beach at North-West River to be confronted
by the trim and tidy buildings of the Company’s
post. The writer proceeds: —

Then the astonished ear is greeted with the lowing
of cattle and the bleating of sheep on shore; and in the
rear of the agent’s house are veritable barns, from
whose open windows hangs fragrant new-mown hay;
and a noisy cackle within is ominous of fresh-laid eggs!
Surely Nature has been remarkably lavish here, or
some presiding genius, of no ordinary enterprise and
taste, has redeemed the place from its wilderness deso-
lation! Both are true. The climate is much warmer
here than upon the coast, and there is a fair admix-
ture of soil. Donald Alexander Smith, the intelligent
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Agent of the post, is a practical farmer, and, by con-
tinued care and the employment of proper fertilizing
agents, succeeds in forcing to maturity, within the
short summer season, most of the vegetables and grains
produced in warmer latitudes.

He has seven acres under cultivation, of which a
considerable portion is under glass. There are growing
turnips, pease, cucumbers, potatoes, pumpkins, melons,
cauliflowers, barley, oats, etc. Corn will not ripen,
nor even form upon the ear. Before Smith’s house is a
flower-garden. Here, too, is a carriage road two miles
long (strange sight in this roadless country!), upon
which the agent betimes indulges in the luxury of a
drive; for he has two horses which he employs upon the
farm. A bull, twelve cows, half a dozen sheep, goats,
fowls, and dogs comprise his live-stock. There is no
other place like Smith’s in Labrador, in all its area
of 420,000 square miles! !

Of “Smith’s Farm” and its directing spirit an
epic might be made. All the prevalent conditions
being considered, it was an achievement in itself
worthy of the man. It was his first great achieve-
ment, and in Labrador it made him famous. I have
heard him relate the building of his first strip of
roadway — the difficulties encountered, the carry-
ing and breaking of the stone, the disheartening
subsidences, the ‘‘washouts,” the alternate bribes
and threatenings of the labourers in order to finish
a section before the frost set in, and his pride when
the first wheeled cart — the first in all Labrador —
rolled swiftly over its surface. This was the same
man who a generation later drove the last spike of a

1 Harper's Magasine, December, 1861.
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road which connected the Atlantic Ocean with the
Pacific and with the same sort of pride watched the
first locomotive pass over that steel highway!

But, in truth, the farm and what his friend Mr.
Connolly at Rigolet called ‘‘estate improvements”’
occupied only a secondary place in Donald Smith’s
thoughts and scheme of life.

Not long after he became a Chief Trader a
marked change came over the character of the
Company’s operations in Esquimaux Bay. More
and more attention came to be paid to fish, chiefly
salmon, to sealskins and seal-oil.

Long before there was a cod-fishery in Labrador,
there was fishing for salmon and its export to Eng-
land. That old pioneer Cartwright wrote in 1779:
“In Eagle River we are killing 750 salmon a day,
or 35 tierce, and would have killed more had we had
more nets.” Between June 23 and July 20 in the
same stream he killed 12,396 fish, or 300 tierce.
The flavour of the Labrador salmon was and is
highly esteemed, and packed and salted in barrels
it long fetched a good price in the London market.
From an early period the Hudson’s Bay Company
saw the advantages of netting the Labrador rivers,
employing the fur trappers who were idle during
the summer season.

In 1854, a treaty was negotiated with America
by which, in return for allowing the fishermen of
that nation a share in the fisheries, the duties were
taken off the product in the American markets. A
trade in fresh salmon was beginning to be profit-
able here as at the St. Lawrence stations. Packed
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in ice, salmon came to be carried to London, to
Boston, and to other ports, even to New York and
to the Far West.

~Dr. Henry Yule Hind! wrote, a decade later: —

The expectation is far from being visionary that the
salmon of the rivers tributary to the Gulf, securely
packed in ice, will find their way as far south as New
Orleans. When the Intercolonial Railway is completed,
the task will be comparatively easy; the vessels from
the north shore may land their cargoes at Gaspg,
where ice to any extent can be laid up in store. The
ice vessels trading to New Orleans, from Boston, and
other northern ports, will afford an excellent means,
when peace is established, for conveying the salmon
of the cold Gulf of St. Lawrence to the almost tropical
shores of the Gulf of Mexico; or they may find a more
expeditious passage by the railroads in the valley of
the St. Lawrence and the steamiers of the Mississippi.

““The people on the coast of Labrador,” Donald
Smith told the Canadian House of Commons,
many years later, “ were an honest and industrious
but very poor people, living from hand to mouth.
At first they looked upon that treaty with dread,
fearing the competition of the Americans. The
fact was, that when the Americans came the Cana-
dians worked themselves still more, and in a few
years, instead of being so very poor, with very few
of the necessaries of life, and none of the luxuries,
they became a well-to-do people. The number of

! I cannot refrain from paying here a passing tribute to this emi-

nent geologist and traveller, whose works on Labrador and the Red
River country were of great value in their day and are still of interest.
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their fish yearly increased, and they found that,
man to man, they were as good as those rivals they
had so dreaded. They became more manly and
felt they were quite able to compete with the
Americans.” !

Yet this new order of things meant double labour
to the Company’s Chief Agent and his staff, of
which Sir George Simpson and the home authori-
ties seem to have been complacently unaware. “We
are all sadly overworked here,”” wrote Mr. Smith
from Rigolet in 1856. “Our business is increasing
each season, yet we have the same number of la-
bourers and we are not expected to increase our
expenses.’’

Years later a not unworthy successor of Mr.
Smith at Rigolet thus vigorously expressed him-
self: —

I have worked like a slave since I have been here,
and like yourself I am glad to say that my tough la-
bours have been crowned with success.

The collection of salmon at this post alone amounts
to 370 tierces against 95 sent to the London market
last outfit. At Cartwright, in Sandwich Bay, there are
ready for shipment 360 tierces; from these two places
alone we ship 730, against 401 packages sent to London
last year, including Ungava and other northern sec-
tions. If Ungava does its quota, we should ship be-
tween II and 1200 tierces.

. . . I am simply carrying on the business to the best
of my ability, and doing for that thankless old hulk,
[i.e., the Company] as if it were my own personal busi-

1 Debates : Speech on the Washington Treaty, 1872.
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ness and property. What in Heaven’s name can they
know in Winnipeg or Montreal about such a wander-
ing mixed business as we have to deal with here! Itis
enough for them to understand the results and be satis-
fied with the explanations we choose to render them.?

Great was the competition to get first to market,
whether in England, St. John'’s, or Boston, with the
fish, the first cargo always commanding a higher
price. Mr. Smith never spared himself at such
times. Even to this day legends are current of his
feats of continuous labour, personally superintend-
ing the packing of the fish during the day and
spending consecutive nights in checking tallies and
in examining and revising invoices. On the arrival
of the Company’s steamer, he often never removed
his clothes for forty-eight hours.

The efforts of the Company’s servants could not
at first be wholly agreeable to the old established
firms or their agents, and a great deal of corre-
spondence, slightly acrimonious on one side and
with unvarying courtesy on the other, is extant.
Several firms, such as Messrs. Hunt & Henley, are
found complaining of the interference of the Com-
pany’s men with parties of fishermen on the Labra-
dor coast. A few years later (1859) the Company is
complaining of unwarrantable proceedings adopted
by the rival traders. In that year, not long before
Governor Simpson's death, it was decided that the
Esquimaux Bay district should be separated from
the Montreal department, much to Chief Trader

1 Chief Factor P. W. Bell.
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Smith’s satisfaction, for it gave him, what he had
long been striving for, a freer hand within his own
territory. It soon came to be recognized that, as
the price of fresh Labrador salmon in the London
market was too low, it was better to sell the fish to
local merchants or find a market for it in Montreal.
Mr. Smith also called the Company’s attention
to the large profits which might accrue from a new
enterprise — the packing of fresh salmon in tins —
and this was soon inaugurated and lasted at Eagle
River until the competition of the British Columbia
salmon packing came to render it unprofitable.

There were other matters requiring great tact
and prudence in the management, such as the de-
mand of the North-West River Indians for the
ministrations of a Roman Catholic missionary. Sir
George Simpson, whose policy had always been
to favour these missionaries, addressed a letter to
the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Quebec on the
subject, which drew forth a remonstrance from the
Anglican Bishop Field of Newfoundland, and could
hardly be agreeable to the Moravian missionaries of
Labrador. It had to be considered what effect the
Roman chapel proposed would have on the Com-
pany’s relations with two such influential bodies.
For it must be borne in mind that the Moravians
were traders as well as priests and a bitter competi-
tion was to be avoided.

A century and a half ago the Esquimaux of the
coast of Labrador were all heathen, who worshipped
Torngak, an old man, as they supposed, who ruled
the sea and its inhabitants, and Supperuksoak, the
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goddess of the land. The angekoks, or sorcerers,
held the people completely in superstitious bond-
age. Permission was readily granted by the British
Government to the Moravian Brethren, in 1769,
to found a mission among these heathen.! In the
year 1770, Jens Haven came to Labrador, and took
possession of the land which had been granted by
the Crown to the Society for the Furtherance of the
Gospel, for the purposes of the mission. In the
year following, Nain was begun, and Hopedale in
1782. Hebron was begun in 1830.

In 1856, Mr. Smith, deciding upon the policy of
being on the most friendly terms with the Moravian
missionaries, wrote to the Brother Superior, sug-
gesting that facilities would be given them to es-
tablish a mission on the shores of Esquimaux Bay.
In the annual report for the following year, it is
stated: —

In pursuance of the invitation given by Mr. Donald
Smith, Brother Elsner left Hopedale in April, 1857,
and journeyed to North-West River to discuss with
him the advisability of starting a mission either there
or at Rigolet. After a hard journey of five days he
reached Mr. Smith’s comfortable and hospitable dwell-
ing. He was delighted with the country and the ap-
pearance of the settlement. Mr. Smith had four head
of cattle, besides sheep, goats, and fowls; there was
milk in plenty, and for the first time in Labrador, he
tasted fresh roast beef, mutton, and pork.

1 Previous to this date several exploratory journeys had been
made to this coast. A missionary named Ehrhardt was murdered,

together with five sailors, by the savages in a bay to the south of
Hopedale, in 1752.
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Mr. Smith's proposal was an enticing one. Al-
though not fully authorized by the Hudson’s Bay
Company, he suggested that they would build a
church and dwelling-house and pay a missionary
one hundred pounds a year, which would have
been wealth to the Moravians, whose yearly sti-
pend was twenty-two pounds.

There were very few settlers in the neighbour-
hood and the Indians who visited the post pre-
ferred the Roman Catholic religion. Brother Elsner
reported that ‘they were very fond of rum, and
got it only in small quantities as presents, the
sale of spirits being prohibited by law.” On Sun-
day, Mr. Smith read service to his household, which
was attended by about thirty Indians, although
they could not understand a word of what was be-
ing said. For a Hudson’s Bay Company factor has
- to be physician, parson, and judge amongst his
people, as well as fur and fish buyer and shop-
keeper. We have a picture of him reading the serv-
ice on Sunday morning at the agent’s house in a
letter of a young clerk, written in 1859: —

To-day we all assembled for prayers in Mrs, Smith’s
parlour —every mother’s son scrubbed and brushed
up to the nth —even old Sam, who looked positively
saint-like with a far-away expression, although he was
probably only counting the flies which were buzzing
on the window pane. Our Bourgeois read very im-
pressively, Corinthians I, chapters 11 and 12. We

sang three hymns, I coming out particularly strong

in the Doxology.
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The constant prevalence of disease due to ill
diet, indulgence in liquor, and exposure, as well as
accidents which too frequently were the result of
carelessness, made it necessary for a factor to
know the rudiments of medicine and surgery.

Amongst Mr. Smith’s valuable possessions were
two well-marked and well-thumbed volumes, Ed-
wards’s Family Medicine, and a Materia Medica.
Some forty years later, addressing a body of Lon-
don medical students, he related to them some of
his own discoveries in the treatment of surgical
cases in Labrador.

It may interest you to know that what may be
termed a primitive and somewhat rude form of anti-
septic treatment was practised in Canada some years
before Lord Lister introduced his great discovery.
For the treatment of wounds, ulcerated sores, etc., a
pulp was made by boiling the inner bark of the juniper
tree. The liquor which resulted was used for washing
and treating the wounds, and the bark, beaten into
a plastic, pliable mass, was applied after the thorough
cleansing of the wound, forming a soft cushion lending
itself to every inequality of the sore. Scrupulous
cleanliness was observed, and fresh material used for
every application. It will, I think, be admitted that
this is essentially the basis of the antiseptic treatment
which is now so important, and with which the name
of Lord Lister will be ever honourably associated.

Perhaps I may be permitted to relate to you an-
other little interesting experience which came to my
notice. On the Labrador coast thirty or forty years
ago there was a serious outbreak of scarlet fever, ac-
companied by diphtheria. Many of the people died,
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both children and adults, and the survivors were so
alarmed by the spread of the disease and its fatal re-
sults, and were in such an abject state of fear, that
they kept away from the houses in which people were
known to be suffering. There is little doubt in my
mind that many of the persons died from simple dread
of the disease and the fright occasioned by the mor-
tality. An officer of the Hudson’s Bay Company visit-
ing the settlement found this state of things existing.
It was reported to him that a family of a former em-
ployee of the Company — a Scotchman — had taken
the disease at a place some twelve miles distant. The
official went there and found the whole family con-
fined in a small hut. The different members of the
family were scattered over the floor, and, in fact, in
" any place where room could be found. The door was
shut and so were the windows, and the odour that
came when the door was opened can best be left to the
imagination. One of the family, a boy, had died, and
was lying in an outhouse. The first thing he did was to
break the window, and let in the air, and then to ad-
minister some remedies. All the other members of the
family recovered, and the utter helplessness and abject
terror which had previously prevailed among the in-
habitants were at once changed into a feeling of hope.
They saw that death was not inevitable and happily,
although the disease still lingered on for some time, not
a fatal case was subsequently recorded. I merely men-
tion this to show the moral effect, the return of con-
fidence which resulted from the death record having
been temporarily stopped by the exercise of a little
common sense.

Another curious incident comes to my recollec-
tion. A resident in the country returned to England
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in consequence of a severe illness. He consulted the
best medical men, and his case was diagnosed as one
of Bright'’s disease. He was told that he could not last
more than a few months, and made up his mind to re-
turn to Labrador and end his days; but the unexpected
happened and he lived for many years afterwards.
Some of the natives, knowing of his complaint, or, at
any rate, of the symptoms, advised him to prepare a de-
coction from the juniper shrub and to drink nothing else
for several months. In despair he did what was sug-
gested, and after some time appeared to be perfectly
cured. It is not claimed, of course, that the recovery
was due alone to the efficacy of the remedy.!

One of the constant studies of Mr. Smith, both
as Chief Trader and Chief Factor in Labrador, was
how to utilize the neglected resources of the coun-
try and to take full advantage of its available
products. I find him constantly calling attention
in his letters to the neglect of Labrador’s min-
erals and suggesting that a competent mineralo-
gist be sent out to examine into their commercial
character. ‘“The beautiful quartz called Labra-
dorite is abundant and ought easily to find a mar-
ket amongst jewellers in Europe,” he writes. He
refers to the wild sarsaparilla, “of which,” accord-
ing to Mr. Isbister, ‘ England imports from Russia
and Honduras 180,000 pounds annually.” There
are frequent allusions to the commercial possibili-
ties of the Labrador tea-plant, which under the
name of Weesuckapucka had been formerly im-
ported by the Company until the East India Com-

‘ 1 Address at Middlesex Hospital, October 7, 1897.
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pany protested that it was an infringement of their
monopoly. Why were not Labrador cranberries in
demand, when tens of thousands of gallons were
imported from the Tsar’s dominions?

Again, the waste of fish and fish offal on the coast
greatly concerned him; and as early as 1855 he is
discussing plans for the manufacture of fish manure
as a valuable substitute for guano in the British
and American markets. In a report on this subject
he points out that the total annual product of the
North American cod-fisheries was then estimated
to be one and a half million tons of fresh fish. ‘‘ Not
less than one half of this is refuse thrown back into
the sea, or left on the shore to decay, and yet capa-
ble of yielding 150,000 tons of a valuable manure,
almost half that annually produced by Peru. Very
few economists understand the value of the fisher-
ies. They are always thinking in terms of wheat or
cattle. The waste of fish on this coast is enormous
and is only comparable to the waste of buffalo in
the Far West. Every ton of fish is equal to at least
three head of cattle or fifteen sheep, and Labrador
yields millions of quintals [hundredweights] an-
nually. This fishery alone could feed the whole of
the Irish population.”

Mr. Smith was on cordial terms with all the
trappers, traders and “ planters” on the coast, one
of the chief amongst these being Mr. Nathan Nor-
man, who was for many years in charge of the large
fishing establishment at Indian Harbour, and with
whom he carried on a considerable correspondence.

Another frequent correspondent was the late
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Robert H. Prowse, for many years the Agent at
St. Johns, Newfoundland. On one occasion he was
a guest under his friend’s roof. “He was a quiet,
low-spoken man, and one thing that very much
amused Mr. Prowse in after years was that he con-
sulted him in relation to the investment of his
savings. Prowse used to refer to this with great
glee.”’?

But Donald Smith had long since begun to in-
vest his savings judiciously. In the very year of
his arrival in Labrador he had accumulated over
£300, the bulk of which he invested in stock of
the Bank of Montreal, thus beginning his connec-
tion with that institution of which he was destined
to become the head.

Frequently Mr. Smith in his early days visited
old residents on the coast, some of them English-
men who had drifted hither by some extraordinary
caprice of fortune. One of these was John Williams,
a Londoner by birth, who had found a charm in
the wilderness for forty-one years. Nearly all the
settlers were Englishmen or Newfoundlanders, who
originally visited the coast as fishermen or as serv-
ants of the fur and trading companies. He had
married a plump Esquimaux damsel, and years
later a visitor to Williams’s cottage describes this
Esquimaux matron greeting him with an Oskshi-ni
(good-morning), and then resuming her vigils over
a decoction of spruce which was being metamor-
phosed into beer. * Candles of reindeer tallow and

1 Letter from Arthur Mews, Deputy Colonial Secretary of New-
foundland.
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lamps of sputtering seal-oil emitted a feeble light,
barely visible through the smoke of their burning,
yet revealing sealskins pendant from the rafters,
komatiks stowed overhead, and snowshoes, guns,
and fishing-gear hanging from pegs driven into
the walls. She, the help-meet, is so in the strict-
est sense of the word. She cures the codfish for
market, and for family consumption, manufactures
sealskin boots and garments, tends the salmon
nets, ‘sculps’ the seals, and prepares the oil for
burning, feeds the dogs, etc., besides performing
her domestic and maternal duties. When driven
by household cares, little vexations often occur to
ruffle her temper, and then her shrill voice screams
constantly as she works: ‘Webuck-tam dog-ouk,
ouk— clear out, I tell you! Susan! Wat be doon?
Where's the dishcloth? No, that beant he, block-
head. Mercy, who ever saw the flies and nippers so
bad as they! You there, shet that door — shet it.
Hist! abide still, child — knock off, I tell ye, or I'll
fix that bawling. Peruik/ Now who’s had finger
in that pot! Oh, my!’ "1 '

Another individual on the Labrador coast, with
whom Mr. Smith was on intimate terms, was
Henry Lodge. He was one of the several intelligent
and educated men living upon that coast, who
were impelled thither either from pure love of ad-
venture or from misadventure in love. Of his family
in England it was said in 1860 that ‘‘ one brother is
now a manufacturer at Bristol; another is a
colonel in Her Majesty's service at the Cape of

! Charles Hallock, supra.
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Good Hope, and a brother-in-law was librarian to
the Prince of Wales.” Reverses came, and he strode
forth from the uncongenial atmosphere of civili-
zation and turned his face to Labrador, and for
forty-two years he devoted himself to cod and
seal fishing, not once visiting his native land. In
May, 1860, he died, at the age of seventy-seven
years.

All settlers in Labrador, as distinguished from
the visiting fishermen, are styled “planters.” With
this folk the short summer is a busy season, the
cod, salmon, and seal fisheries demanding their
constant attention. At its close they make up_
their accounts with the traders, and upon the ap-
proach of winter retire to the interior, where the
timber affords them fuel and a shelter. Generally
their nets and gear are rented for the season. As a
rule the amount of fish caught does not pay for the
advances of provisions and clothing, so they get
deeper in debt year by year. At the close of the
fishery they return to their houses on the inlet,
stopping on the way at the Hudson’s Bay posts,
where they receive other advances of provisions
and clothing to be charged against their coming
winter’s fur hunt. Arriving at home, they dig their
potatoes and catch and freeze trout, which swarm
in the mouths of all the streams at this season. As
soon as sufficient snow falls, they set their traps
for marten, fox, otter, lynx, and other fur-bearing
animals. Each hunter has a “path” or line of
traps fifty miles or more in length. A single winter
visit to all the traps on the line may involve a week's
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journey. Small “shacks” or shelters, where the
hunters may pass the night, are built at convenient
distances along the path. If they engaged in the
salmon fishery alone, half the fish they caught were
turned in to the Company as rent for the nets and
the use of the “posts,” which were and are still
situated at the most favourable points.

The Company had a number of boarded huts
for the fishermen in their employ, of such narrow
dimensions (res angusta domi !) as to afford sleeping
accommodation only for persons of normal length.
On one occasion a very honest and active man pre-
sented himself to Chief Factor Smith for a bunk in
one of these huts. The difficulty was that he was
six feet six inches in length, — nearly a foot longer
than the bunk. On an inspection of his quarters
he rejected Mr. Smith’s offer summarily, declaring
that he was not going to be cramped for any agent
or planter living, and neither was he content to be
sawn in two.

“Will a bed seven feet long suit you?"” asked
the Chief Factor.

The fisherman said it would. Thereupon Mr.
Smith sent for the Company’s carpenter, a hole
was cut in the wall of the building, to which a box
lined with deerskin was applied outside and ren-
dered stable by props. The man afterwards told
Mr. Smith it was the first thoroughly comfortable
and sensible bunk he had occupied in years. The
receptacle was afterwards exhibited at the store
at Rigolet and enjoyed much local fame as * Bill
Sadler’s leg box.”
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Naturally salmon was the staple food along the
inlet during the salmon-fishing season, but even
this most delicate fish was apt to pall ere long, and
grateful enough were the planters for a change —
even though it were to cod or herring, fresh or salt,
not to mention trout and smaller fish. It is inter-
esting to note that the Company’s regular labour-
ers, who were fed on fish for most of the year, were
really in better condition than the meat-fed voya-
geurs of the interior.

Lord Strathcona once said, speaking of the rel-
ative value of a meat and a fish diet: “In re-
spect to health and sustaining powers, a very gen-
eral belief prevails, I think, that meat is the more
nutritious and strengthening of the two. But this
was not borne out in the experience of the Com-
pany. In former years in certain districts the food
of the employees was almost solely the flesh of the
buffalo, deer, etc. In others it consisted mainly of
fish. Opportunity was offered for testing the merits
of the different food each spring, when the brigade
of boats were on the way out with their furs. In
these circumstances there were naturally trials of
strength in rowing, and in the result the fish-eating
crews invariably had the advantage, especially in
long-sustained efforts.” T T

One of the most notable characters at Rigolet
and North-West River was old Joe Goudy, who had
been in the Company’s service since 1818, and had
served in at least a dozen factories between Labra-
dor and Red River Settlement. He was fond of
relating his adventures in the journey he had made
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from Red River to North-West River, on snow-
shoes, twenty-five hundred miles, when he had
camped in the open air with no other covering
but the black vault of heaven. Old Goudy became
very much attached to Mr. Smith, who learned
from him many intimate facts and stories con-
cerning the Far Western country, which long lin-
gered in his memory.

Another old servant at North-West River was
an Orkneyman, Henry Hay, who had accompanied
the redoubtable John McLean in his overland jour-
ney from Ungava ten years before.

Still another of Donald Smith’s friends was the
Nascopie chief, Otelne, who for many years had
come down with his comparmions to trade at North-
West River. One season Otelne failed to come,
and it was learned that he had taken it into his
head to journey southward to the post at Seven
Islands, where Chief Factor James Anderson, one
of Mr. Smith’s correspondents in the Far West
whose acquaintance he had made in 1839 in
Montreal, had recently been appointed. But the
climate of the Gulf did not agree with Otelne and
his people; many fell sick and died, and the next
year all were encamped as usual near North-West
River. ' -

Still another friend of the Chief Trader and his
family is referred to in the following characteristic
letter which I am privileged to give, addressed by
Mrs. Donald Smith to her mother, then at La-
chine. It also affords a little glimpse of her life at
the “fort": — .
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NorTB-WEST RIVER, LABRADOR,
28th June, 1856.
MY DEAREST MaAMMA, —

We are having the most delightful weather imagin-
able — apart from flies and mosquitoes. Mr. Smith,
who has gone down to Indian Harbour, myself, and
the children are all well.

About a fortnight ago little Maggie, who had been
behaving herself up till then, gave us a great fright by
breaking out all over in a rash — but it went away, I
am thankful to say, in a couple of days and she is now
as well as possible. I spend a great deal of my time in
the garden, where we have sown all the English seeds
as well as all Maria's Orkney ones. We hope with
care to have a fine show of flowers this year.

This post has been unusually busy this spring and
also every one in the Bay. I think of you often, dearest
Mamma, and wonder if you like the change. I sin-
cerely trust you do. I hope Papa is still in good health
and not suffering too much from his poor knee. Give
him my fond love.

Maria tells me she has written and sent you all the
patterns you asked for.

Your old friend Samluk came down the other day
and nearly cried when he heard you had gone. ‘‘Miss
Harsty no come back? Miss Harsty no come back?”
I am told he will carry to the coast Yankees next sea-
son — that is, if he does not die of a broken heart.

All here send kindest remembrances and the chil-
dren kisses.

Ever your loving daughter,
BELLA.

From North-West River during the many years
that he spent there Mr. Smith despatched many
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letters, not only to his parents and his family, but
to his fellow officers in the service, such as Messrs.
Swanston, Barnston, Clouston, Hamilton, Mactav-
ish, Cuthbert Cumming, and his brothers-in-law,
the Hardistys. As has been mentioned, there
were no fewer than six of these latter in the service,
namely, William Lawson,! Richard, Thomas, Henry,
George, and Joseph, two of them, at least, men of
exceptional ability. Richard reached the rank of In-
specting Chief Factor and died, in 1902, a Senator
of the Dominion. As to William, I find a passage
in a letter written by Chief Trader James Ander-
son, November, 1853, to Sir George Simpson, in
which the former says: —

I cannot sufficiently commend the zeal and dis-
interestedness displayed by Mr. Hardisty as well as
the way in which he has conducted the affairs of
the Yukon.

And again, two years later, under date of 29th
November, 1855, to Mr. Eden Colville, from Fort
Simpson: —

I took the liberty of recommending Messrs. W.
Hardisty and B. R. Ross to your notice as valuable
well-educated officers, worthy of promotion. They
are so much out of the way they are almost unknown.
The former is of fourteen years’ standing.

Besides his letters tothe above-named, there were
numerous occasional correspondents scattered over

1 His daughter became the wife of the present Senator Lougheed,
of Calgary.
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the country. It is unfortunate that so few of these
letters have been preserved, for, read in the light of
after events, they would possess signal interest, as
may be judged by the following, which was ad-
dressed to William Kernaghan, a gentleman who
had spent some weeks in Labrador and had been
Mr. Smith’s guest at North-West River a few years
previously: —

NorTE-WEST RIVER PosT, LABRADOR,

' 18th January, 1857.

My DEAR MR. KERNAGHAN: — '

I am very much obliged to you for your letter of
the 3d of April last and was very glad indeed to hear
from you again, and to learn that all was prospering
with you. I have thought a great deal about your flat-
tering proposal and you may depend upon it that if my
prospects (or you would say lack of prospects) here
induce me to retire from the service of the Honourable
Company, I will not fail to write and let you know. It
is possible that circumstances connected with the
Company itself may make early consideration of such
a step on my part necessary.

I doubt very much now whether 1 shall ever be
transferred to the West, but much depends upon what
happens in this department in the course of the next
few outfits.

Your account of the city of Chicago and the oppor-
tunities it offers interests me extremely, and I have no
doubt that one might make rapid headway there in
commercial enterprises, such as shipping, which makes
me regret all the more that this magical land of yours
is not within the borders of the Queen’s dominions.

I myself am becoming convinced that before many
decades are passed the world will see a great change
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in the country north of Lake Superior and in the Red
River country when the Company’s license expires or
its charter is modified. Thousands of settlers are press-
ing forward into the Michigan Territory, where land,
I gather, is not vastly better than that on the British
side of the boundary. You will understand that I as
a Labrador man cannot be expected to sympathize
altogether with the prejudices against immigrants and
railways entertained by many of the Western com-
missioned officers. At all events, it is probable that
settlement of the country from Fort William westward
to the Red River, even a considerable distance beyond,
will eventually take place and with damaging effect on
the fur-trade generally. Governor Simpson himself took
a very favourable view of the character of the country
for settlement.

I shall prudently keep my opinion until it is asked
for; I do not believe those in authority in London or
elsewhere are well advised in thus shutting off the
country and aspersing its character and that a Chicago
is just as possible there as in Illinois.

Even in Labrador, “bleak’” and ‘‘desolate” as it
is, or reputed to be, my little farm here continues to
flourish, and I have managed with care to grow some
things which would surprise you, and this year I in-
tend to make some new trials under glass.

Whenever you can spare the time, I shall be glad
to hear from you, and if you can interest any of your
geological friends to explore this district you may de-
pend upon me to give them a cordial welcome. Unless
I resign from the service or am transferred, it will be
some years before a furlough will enable me to enjoy
the privilege of Western travel; but when that time
comes, we shall meet if we both survive, and I will

147



Lord Strathcona

claim your kind counsel as to where I can deposit my
little talent to most advantage.
With kind regards, in which my wife unites, believe
me to be, my dear Mr. Kernaghan,
Most truly yours,
Don. A. SMITH.

Together with the rest of the world, Mr. Smith
derived his idea of Sir George Simpson’s opinions
from the work which the late Governor published
under his own name in 1843. There, referring to the
Rainy River country, occurs the following signifi-

cant passage: —

Nor are the banks less favourable for agriculture
than the waters themselves to navigation, resembling
in some measure those of the Thames near Richmond.

. « . Is it too much for the eye of philanthropy to
discern, through the vista of time, this noble stream,
connecting as it does the fertile shores of two spa-
cious lakes, with crowded steamboats on its bosom
and populous towns on its borders?

Less than fifteen years later Simpson repudiated
this language before a Parliamentary Committee
appointed to consider the affairs of the Hudson's
Bay Company. Naturally, the proceedings of this
body excited the liveliest interest throughout the
Company’s service, and by none of the commis-
sioned officers was the testimony of the various wit-
nesses, including that of Governor Simpson, read
with greater attention and perhaps astonishment
than by the Company’s chief representative in
Labrador.
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Writing on the 4th of November, 1857, Chief
Trader Hamilton observes to Mr. Smith: —

The report of the Committee which has been sitting
on our affairs in London since February is out. A copy
will reach you in due course from Leadenhall Street
(if they think we can be safely trusted with one), but
meantime I hasten to forward you the gist of their
finding and recommendations. Briefly, then, they are
of opinion that ‘“‘whatever may be the validity or
otherwise of the rights claimed by the Hudson's Bay
Company, under the Charter, it is desirable that they
should continue to enjoy the privilege of exclusive
trade, which they now possess, except so far as those
privileges are limited by our recommendations."

These recommendations, briefly, are that the Red
River and Saskatchewan districts come as soon as may
be under the control and jurisdiction of Canada. If
Canadadoes not immediately wish to annex, temporary
administration should be undertaken.

In arriving at this decision, three considerations are
mentioned.

1. The great importance to the more peopled por-
tions of British North America that law and order
should be maintained.

2. The fatal effects which they believe would infal-
libly result to the Indian population from a system of
open competition in the fur-trade and the consequent
introduction of spirits in a far greater degree than at
present.

3. The probability of the indiscriminate destruc-
tion of the more valuable fur-bearing animals in the
oourse of a few years.

The Committee shirk altogether the question of
chartered rights. How far these rights may prove an
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obstacle to the attainment of the objects aimed at,
they refuse to say, and speak of amicable adjustment
by the British and Canadian Governments and the
Company. They “indulge the confident hope that
the Government will be enabled next session to pre-
sent a bill which shall lay the foundation of an equit-
able and satisfactory arrangement in the probable
event of legislation being found necessary."”

How the Governor and Honourable Committee
takes all this, I have not yet learnt; but I dare say

they regard it as temporary victory.

Another correspondent, Chief Trader McMurray
writes: —

It has certainly been a most spirited, not to say
violent attack on the Company, and yet it has been
conducted with so much decorum that the temper of
none of the witnesses was very considerably ruffled.
I do not apprehend, however, that we have seen the
last of it, at least so far as the Red River malcontents
are concerned.

Canada would appear to be in deadly earnest with
regard to the railroad, and my own opinion is that
Sir George Simpson will not set any very formidable
obstacles in the path of the promoters of the scheme.
Personally, I do not believe it to be as fantastic as
many in the service hold.

You will be interested to know that Sir George was
put upon the rack for days at a time, and on the whole
came out with flying colours. It was extremely awk-
ward that Mr. Roebuck and the others should con-
front him with passages from his own book concerning
the fertility of the country and the practicability of
a North-westerly route, which he was obliged with
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changed opinions to disavow. McLaughlin writes
that this caused a good deal of amusement in Com-
mittee, but Sir George stuck to his guns. He was par-
ticularly interested in all that passed with regard to
cultivation. They even brought up a statement of old
Sir Alexander Mackenzie's that he saw in the Elk
River a kitchen garden *as fine as any in the world.”

I thought Sir George was a little hard on his cousin,
Thomas Simpson. He kept telling the Committee
that he did not conceive that his judgment was sound
on many points, that his judgment was ‘‘ placed higher
than it should be,” etc.

You remember Kernaghan. He also appeared be-
fore the Committee, but luckily he did not volunteer
any evidence concerning his residence in this part of the
world. After detailing a great deal of inaccurate in-
formation about Vancouver Island, etc., he was asked
if there was any other part of the North American
territory that he was personally acquainted with. He
said he had been in Labrador. ‘‘How long were you in
Labrador?” If McLaughlin expected to have any fur-
ther addition to his set of scandals he must have been
disappointed, for Kernaghan’s reply was, ‘‘Not very
long.” Ellice leaned forward, as if with the intention
of ascertaining the precise period of Kernaghan’s so-
journ, but evidently thought better of it and Kerna-
ghan was spared.

But after all the fons et origo of this present agita-
tion was Isbister, and his examination was a most
lengthy one. He was asked about his property in the
Red River Settlement, which consists of a farm at
present worked by his uncle, P. Kennedy. He told
the Committee that he had raised corn as far north
as Fort Norman, on Mackenzie River, near the Arctic
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Circle. He had also raised barley and potatoes there.
That was the most northerly situation that the cultiva-
tion of wheat had ever been attempted. Barley was
tried at Fort Good Hope, but failed. Potatoes were
also more or less of a failure there, and he put the
limit of the growth of potatoes at Fort Norman. “I
hope you will not laugh at me as very visionary, but
I hope to see the time, or that my children may live to
see the time, when there is a railroad going across that
country and ending at the Pacific; and so far as indi-
vidual opinion goes, I entertain no doubt that the time
will arrive when that will be accomplished. I state
it is for the sake of Canada that permission should be
reserved to her to that extent only, that if she makes
a railroad through her own portion of this territory,
it shall go through to the terminus. That is merely
my opinion.”’

You have heard of McLaughlin’s ridiculous pro-
clamation to the Indians. It provoked shrieks of
laughter in Committee, especially when McLaughlin
confessed that it was in rather bad French. I send it
to you in order that you may be entertained. Napo-
leon’s production pales into insignificance beside this!

Did you see what Chief Justice Draper told the Com-
mittee? — that they might laugh at him as visionary,
but he hoped to see the time or believed his children
would live to see it, when there would be a railway
going all across the country and ending at the Pacific.
He said he entertained no doubts whatever of it. I am
told that this fantasy occasioned much merriment,
especially on the part of the “Old Bear,” but I am
equally convinced that it will come.

I am greatly obliged to you [writes Mr. Smith from
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North-West River] for sending me McLaughlin’s mag-
niloquent proclamation which was probably written
less for the “Métifs” than for the people of what he
called “Grande Bretange”’ (!) McLaughlin’s uncle did
his best to get him into the service, but Sir George
would have nothing to do with him, after their first
interview. He went out to Red River, had a quarrel
with Governor Christie, and did his best to stir up all
the opposition he could, trading clandestinely with
the Americans, Indians, and half-breeds.

Two or three years later there is a significant
passage in a letter of Chief Trader Smith to Chief
Trader Dugald Mactavish: —

Although destiny has sent me to the East, I have
long corresponded with gentlemen stationed there [in
the West], and I have read every book and report
on the Western country. . . . Whatever the Com-
mittee in London does or does not do, I, for one, see
that matters at Red River are slowly but surely coming
to a head and have been long before Sir George de-
parted. The Company can only maintain its hold and
its monopoly there by altering its whole policy; for
the malcontents are increasing constantly in force and
are not to be repressed by having the Royal Charter
constantly quoted to them. If Governor Johnson had
three or four regiments of soldiers to do the Com-
pany’s bidding, I have little doubt Kennedy and the
rest would be overawed and compelled to betake them-
selves elsewhere. As it is, they will go on until there
is a repetition of the old scenes of bloodshed and tur-
bulence, until either Canada or the Imperial Govern-
ment will be forced to interfere and abrogate the
Charter.
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Before the close of navigation in 1860, Mr. Smith
had heard of the death of Sir George Simpson in the
previous September. ‘‘The little Emperor’s light
has gone out, just after he basked in a final blaze
of glory,” wrote Dugald Mactavish and enclosed
newspaper cuttings describing the Governols re-
ception at Lachine of H.R.H. the Prince of Wales,
during the latter’s visit to Montreal. *The Gover-
nor has entertained many noblemen in his time,”
wrote another; ‘ the advent of a live Heir Apparent
was too great a shock at his time of life.”” Simpson
was given a funeral of some pomp, amongst those
who paid a final tribute to his memory being Chief
Trader Richard Hardisty, Mr. Smith’s father-in-
law, then living at Lachine, but growing too infirm
to take part in the cortége.?

Simpson had for forty years occupied a unique po-
sition in the fur-trade. The measure of his success
may partly be gauged by the failure of his suc-
cessors. The personal loyalty which was felt for
him by an entire generation of officers blinded them
to his defects of character, as it blinded them to the
principle upon which his power and his policy were
founded and operated. He was the accredited in-
strument of an English mercantile body, who were
bent on retarding the development of a great coun-
try in order to keep it<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>